Physical activity and mental health in adolescence

-a longitudinal study in a multiethnic cohort

Åse Sagatun

Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health

EASTERN and SOUTHERN NORWAY





Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology Institute of General Practice and Community Medicine University of Oslo, Norway

2009

© Åse Sagatun, 2010

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo No. 926

ISBN 978-82-8072-391-8

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Inger Sandved Anfinsen. Printed in Norway: AiT e-dit AS.

Produced in co-operation with Unipub. The thesis is produced by Unipub merely in connection with the thesis defence. Kindly direct all inquiries regarding the thesis to the copyright holder or the unit which grants the doctorate.

Summary

Public health discussions of physical activity's positive health effects have tended to focus on physical health benefits rather than mental health benefits. Mental health problems are a worldwide public health burden. Among adults some evidence suggests that physical activity is a protective factor in relation to mental health problems. The same body of literature is not present among adolescents.

With regard to prevention of mental health problems it is important to identify vulnerable groups that need special attention. If physical activity can be a preventive strategy, knowledge of physical activity in subgroups of adolescents is important. With an increasing influx of immigrants to the Western parts of the world, cultural/ethnic background has become an important factor when studying health and health behaviour in a public health perspective. Inequality in health has also been a subject of increased attention during the last years, thus it is of great importance to study the significance of sociodemographic factors.

Objectives:

The main objective of this thesis was to study physical activity and mental health in a multiethnic cohort of adolescents.

The specific aims were:

- To study how physical activity in boys and girls at age 15–16 were associated with mental health three years later (Paper I).
- To compare mental health and physical activity between adolescents with ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority background aged 15-16 years followed for three years, while taking gender and sociodemographic factors into account (Paper II and III).
- To identify subgroups lost at three-years of follow-up and investigate the magnitude and direction of possible selection bias (Paper IV).

Materials and Methods:

The youth part of The Oslo Health Study constitutes the baseline of the self-reported longitudinal sample used in paper I, II and III. The information was collected in schools in 2001 (n = 3811). In 2004, the follow-up study (Youth 2004) was conducted partly in school and partly by mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) (65% of participants at baseline) participated in the follow-up, and 20% of the participants in Oslo had an ethnic minority background. In paper IV, participants from the youth part of The Hedmark Health Study (2001) were also included, of these 1939 adolescents 827 (43%) participated in Youth 2004.

Mental health was measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) and The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10). Physical activity level was measured by a question about weekly hours of physical activity outside of school. Ethnic background and sociodemographic variables were both measured by self-report and by data received from Statistics Norway.

Results:

We found a weak inverse association between weekly hours of physical activity at age 15 and emotional- and peer problems three years later in boys. In girls, the associations did not persist after adjustments (paper I).

Overall, girls reported more symptoms of mental health problems than boys. At both age 15 and 18 years, ethnic minorities reported more metal health problems than ethnic Norwegians of the same sex. No ethnic disparities were found for mean change in mental health during these three years, and the current sociodemographic factors were not differently associated with changes in mental health between the ethnic groups (paper II). Boys were more physically active than girls. Ethnic Norwegian girls were more physically active than their ethnic minority counterparts, thus ethnic minority girls were least physically active. Among boys, no difference in physical activity was found between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities. There was a consistent reduction in physical activity from 15 to 18 years in all groups, and sociodemographic factors were only marginally associated with this reduction (paper III).

Non-western ethnicity, male gender and characteristics related to low social class and general- and mental health problems measured at baseline, were associated with lost to

follow-up. Lost to follow-up had marginal impact on the association measures (prevalence ratios) in the present study (IV).

Conclusions:

Physical activity was associated with some aspect of mental health problems in boys. Ethnic minorities reported more mental health problems than ethnic Norwegians. Ethnic minority girls were least physically active. These findings encourage search for further knowledge about physical activity as a possible protective factor in relation to mental health problems in adolescents. Further research should acknowledge the distinctive characteristics of subgroups of gender and ethnicity and investigate both mental health and physical activity, and the association between these aspects in subgroups.

Acknowledgements

This project was carried out at the Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, Oslo, in the period 2005-2009. I have also been affiliated to the Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, UiO and the Norwegian Institute of Public Health.

The project was financed with aid of EXTRA funds from the Norwegian Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation, through the Norwegian Council for Mental Health. The youth parts of The Oslo Health Study and The Hedmark Health Study, and Youth 2004 gave the foundation for this thesis and were carried out and funded by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (FHI) and the University of Oslo (UiO). The City of Oslo contributed to the funding of the youth parts of The Oslo Health Study. Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, Oslo (RBUP), contributed in the funding of Youth 2004.

I would especially like to thank:

All adolescents and schools for participating in the studies.

Professor Anne Johanne Søgaard, FHI and UiO, my main supervisor, for following me closely - from the planning of Youth 2004 throughout the entire process. Thank you for your willingness to share your wide experience and deep knowledge, and for valuable criticism and feedback of all my work. I have turned to you with many questions and dilemmas during the past years, thank you for always having time. Thank you for looking after me and regularly checking up on my progress.

Senior researcher Sonja Heyerdahl, RBUP, my co-supervisor, for following me closely through this work. Thank you for valuable criticism and feedback, and for sharing your deep knowledge in the mental health area and research methodology. Your passion for science and curiosity has been inspiring. Thank you for your worm concern and patience.

Professor Espen Bjertness, UiO, my co-supervisor, for your constructive criticism of the manuscripts and for valuable discussions. Your optimism and enthusiasm in the planning and carrying out of Youth 2004 has been crucial.

Senior researcher Randi Selmer and Professor Magne Thoresen, for co-authorships and for valuable statistical guidance throughout the work. Thank you for always finding time.

Dr.med PhD Lars Lien, for co-authorship and for valuable feedback and discussions.

PhD Elin Kolle and Professor Sigmund Alfred Anderssen, for co-authorship and for valuable criticism of the manuscript.

Research fellows participating in the collection of Youth 2004 data, for excellent work.

All my colleagues and friends at RBUP, for introducing me to different aspects of mental health research, interesting discussions, and making it enjoyable to come to work. A special thanks to my colleagues and friends at the Unit for Epidemiology and Prevention, under leadership of Mette Ystgaard.

All my colleagues and friends at the Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, UiO, for interesting discussions. Hein Stigum, thank you for your willingness to share your knowledge and always finding time to answer my questions.

All my colleagues at Department of Chronic Diseases, under leadership of Wenche Nystad, Division of Epidemiology, FHI, for sharing your knowledge on data collection, and including me in your work environment.

Librarians Brynhildur Axeldottir and Sølvi Biedilæ at RBUP, for all your help.

Dr.med PhD Ole Rikard Haavet, for introducing me to the youth part of The Oslo Health Study (at Haavet in 2001).

My parents Ruth and Knut, for always being good parents and grandparents. Thank you for all the times looking after Mikal.

Torgrim. I am so grateful for **all** your support, your patience and for being a wonderful dad for our son Mikal. You both remind me of what really matters in life, thank you.

Oslo, December 2009

Åse Sagatun

List of papers

Paper I

Sagatun Aa, Søgaard A-J, Selmer R, Bjertness E, Heyerdahl S, **The association between** weekly hours of physical activity and mental health. -A three-year follow up study of 15/16-years old pupils in the city of Oslo, Norway. *BMC Public Health* 2007;12(7):155.

Paper II

Sagatun Å, Lien L, Søgaard A-J, Bjertness E, Heyerdahl S. Ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority adolescents in Oslo, Norway. A longitudinal study comparing change in mental health. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 2008;43(2):87-95.

Paper III

Sagatun Å, Kolle E, Anderssen SA, Thoresen M, Søgaard AJ. **Three year follow-up of physical activity in two ethnic groups of Norwegian youth: associations with socio- demographic factors.** *BMC Public Health* 2008;22(8):419.

Paper IV

Bjertness E, Sagatun Å, Green K, Lien L, Søgaard AJ, Selmer R. **Response rates and selection problems, with emphasis on mental health variables and DNA-sampling, in large population based cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of adolescents in Norway.** [submitted] *BMC Public Health*

Contents

SUMMARYI						
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IV						
LIST OF PAPERSVI						
1.0	BACKGROUND	1				
2.0	INTRODUCTION	2				
2.0		2				
2.1	PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND MENTAL HEALTH AMONG ADOLESCENTS	3				
2.	1.1 Possible mechanisms of the associations between physical activity and mental health Mental health among adol escents	5				
2.3	PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AMONG ADOLESCENTS	8				
3.0	OBJECTIVE	10				
4.0	MATERIAL AND METHODS	11				
4.1	DATA COLLECTION.	11				
4.	1.1 The youth part of The Oslo Health Study	11				
4.	1.2 The youth part of The Hedmark Health Study	11				
4.	1.3 Youth 2004	12				
4.2	STUDY SAMPLES	13				
4.3	VARIABLES	15				
4 1	3.2 Physical activity	10				
4	3.3 Other lifestyle factors	20				
4	3.4 General health	21				
4	3.5 Ethnicity	21				
4	3.6 Sociodemographic variables	22				
4	3.7 Other variables	22				
4.4	ETHICS	23				
4.5	STATISTICS	23				
5.0	STINO SIS OF TALER I-IV	23				
5.1	PAPER I	25				
5.2 5.2	PAPER II	26				
5.5	Γ APER III Paper IV	27				
6.0	DISCUSSION	29				
(1		20				
0.1	METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES	29				
6	1.1 Design 1.2 Random errors	30				
6.	1.3 Systematic errors	32				
6.2	DISCUSSION OF MAIN RESULTS	39				
6	2.1 The association between mental health and physical activity according to gender	39				
6	2.2 Mental health and physical activity according to ethnicity	42				
6	2.3 Mental health and physical activity according to sociodemographic variables	45				
7.0	CONCLUSIONS	49				
8.0	PUBLIC HEALTH AND RESEARCH IMPLICATIONS	50				
REFERENCES						
ERRATA						
PAPER	S I-IV	•••••				
APPENDIX I-IV						

1.0 Background

After my master degree performed on the youth part of The Oslo Health Study, we started planning the data collection in Youth 2004. This thesis is based on both studies, and is a product of four papers. After paper I, investigating the association between physical activity at age 15 and mental health three years later, we realised the need for more knowledge on both mental health and physical activity in host and immigrants during late teens/adolescence (paper II and III). We do not have a complete follow-up of all participants in the baseline study. Thus in paper IV, we identify predictors of lost to follow-up, and investigate the magnitude and direction of possible selection bias. In the latter paper we use a somewhat larger study population than in the first three papers. In this summary, I only elaborate on findings from paper IV that are of direct relevance for the findings in the papers I-III.

2.0 Introduction

The World Health Report 2002 (1) paid considerable attention to the potential of physical activity to reduce the burden of various diseases (e.g. cardiovascular disease, some cancers and type 2 diabetes). During recent years, both internationally and nationally, focus has been put on developing guidelines for physical activity to provide risk reduction for morbidities, along with strategies to increase participation (2-9). The attention has been focused on the physical health benefits of physical activity (10). In recent years, the knowledge of positive effects of physical activity in the treatment of depression among adults has become well established (11-17). In adults, prospective population based studies have also revealed that those who become or remain physically active are less likely to develop depression (11;13-15;18-20).

Mental health problems are worldwide a large public health burden (21-23). A considerable number of children and adolescents are impaired by mental health problems (22-24). Both professionals and health authorities emphasise the need for preventive strategies (5;25). A Norwegian public health report (The report no 16 (2002-2003) to the Storting) (5) points out insufficient knowledge about factors that strengthen mental health, reasons for mental health problems, and effective interventions, as important barriers to developing a preventive framework.

Physical activity may be such a factor, hence promoting physical activity could be a preventive strategy in adolescents. However, more research is needed to determine this. Epidemiological research can contribute to this evidence-base by studying associations between physical activity and mental health in longitudinal population based studies during adolescence.

With regard to prevention of mental health problems it is important to identify vulnerable groups that need special attention, and if physical activity can be a preventive strategy knowledge of physical activity in subgroups of adolescents is also important. With an increasing influx of immigrants to the Western parts of the world, cultural/ethnic background has become an important factor when studying health and health behaviour in a public health perspective.

In the following section a short review of the associations between physical activity and mental health problems among adolescents is presented, with a special focus on population based studies. Then mental health and physical activity in adolescents are considered.

The following introduction mainly reviews the literature prior to the present papers. In the discussion, some relevant literature is introduced that has been published after the publications in this thesis.

2.1 Physical activity and mental health among adolescents

A Cochrane review evaluating the literature of *randomised trials*, concludes that the effect of physical activity in the *treatment of anxiety and depression* in children and young people is unknown as the evidence base is scarce (26). There appears to be a small effect in favour of physical activity in reducing depression and anxiety scores in *non-clinical populations* of children and adolescents and the intensity of the physical activity appears to be of little importance (26). However, the small number of studies included and the diversity of participants, interventions and methods of measurement, limit the ability to draw conclusions (26).

There are *cross-sectional population based studies* among adolescents focusing on the association between physical activity and mental health. Depressive symptoms/emotional problems/psychological distress have been most studied, and the majority of the papers report an inverse association with physical activity (27-36). The association between physical activity and social and/or behaviour problems is less studied and the evidence is less clear (32-40).

The cross-sectional design of most population based studies limits the possibility to draw conclusions on the temporal nature of the association between physical activity and mental health among adolescents, and there is little *longitudinal evidence* published to determine this. However, two studies report a consistent positive relationship between physical activity in adolescence and psychological well-being (41) and mental health (42) in adulthood. However, others have failed to show any association between physical

activity in adolescence and depression in mid-life (43). To our knowledge, the first longitudinal study investigating the association between physical activity and depression during pre-teen years in a general population, found that change in the frequency of physical activity outside of school was inversely associated with changes in depressive symptoms (44). A population based cohort study during late teens, focusing on delinquent behaviour, found that adolescents with high sporting activity at 15 years of age were more likely to be delinquent three years later than those with low sporting activity (45). However, this was not true for team sport participation (45). We do not know of any longitudinal population based studies looking at physical activity and *various dimensions* of mental health during adolescence.

An increasing amount of research, especially among adults, has found that physical activity is associated with good mental health, however, the underlying mechanisms for this relationship are not clear (11;13;15).

Before mentioning different hypotheses postulated to explain the positive association, it is important to mention that physical activity during adolescence also can cause harm (46). Forced physical activity in childhood and adolescence has been associated with inactivity in adulthood (47). However, most of the detrimental consequences of physical activity have been observed in athletes undergoing intensive training (48-52). Overtraining and exercise addiction/dependency, accompanied by fatigue, stress, depression, sleep disturbances and anger, may be negative effects of hard physical activity for some (50;53). The negative outcomes are largely associated with the exercise dosage, but the individual differences in the capacity to adapt to overtraining and addiction play a role (53). In a public health perspective this may not be of great concern (11). However, with the growing focus on body appearance in our culture, the risk for overtraining and exercise dependency, perhaps in combination with eating problems/disorders (secondary dependency (50)), may be increasing problems in the general population of adolescents.

4

2.1.1 Possible mechanisms of the associations between physical activity and mental health

Part of the difficulty in identifying a single causal mechanism to explain improvements in mental health associated with physical activity, may be due to the varied, complex and individual causes of mental illness. This section presents a brief overview of some of the *biological, psychological and social factors* that have been suggested as explanations for the possible psychological benefits of physical activity. Given the complexity of both physical activity and mental health, no particular mental health effects are likely to be adequately explained by a single process (54). Multiple mechanisms may well interact to affect both short-term and long-term psychological functioning. The current thesis does not elaborate further on the possible mechanisms, other than highlighting some of them when discussing the present findings. The following postulated mechanisms operate on different levels, directly and indirectly. Some of the mechanisms are not unique to physical activity, however this does not make them less important.

2.1.1.1 Biological factors

<u>Neurotransmitters</u>: Experimental studies in animals have demonstrated an influence of physical activity on transmitters in the brain. Some of the most discussed transmitters are: *Monoamines* such as serotonin and noradrenalin, involved in regulation of stress, mood and emotions; *Dopamine* which plays a role in reward and motivation; *Endorphins* which act as natural opiates and are involved in perceptions of pain, and have also been implicated in reward mechanisms and positive emotions; *Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid* (GABA) which probably is important in anxiety (13;17;55-57).

<u>Thermogenics</u>: Another hypothesis proposes that the changes in body temperature that occur during exercise, are associated with increased central and peripheral neuron activity in the brain, as well as decreased muscle tension (58). This mechanism is also linked to improved sleep (59).

Current evidence is inadequate to conclusively determine the biological plausible explanation for physical activity's possible effect on mental health (13).

2.1.1.2 Psychological and social factors

<u>Self-esteem</u>: Self-esteem is the value people place on their conception or view of themselves, and is a cornerstone in mental health. It reflects a person's feelings about, and evaluations of specific personal features, including physical attributes, such as appearance and physical ability, as well as social, academic and emotional attributes (60). Improvement in body image or physical skills as a result of physical activity can contribute to general self-esteem in children and adolescents (61). Expectations of increased fitness can also improve self-esteem even when the fitness has actually not improved. Believing that you are doing something positive for yourself may be enough to improve self-esteem (13).

<u>Mastery and self-efficacy</u>: Feeling of achievement, like improved fitness or successfully following an exercise regime, can give an increased sense of mastery and enhance ones faith in e.g. staying physically active. Some evidence suggests that this confidence can extend beyond physical activity settings to enhance an overall belief in mastering – also called self-efficacy, and improve mental health. Successfully reaching a goal can increase ones self-efficacy (62).

<u>Distraction:</u> Mental health benefits may also be related to the fact that participation typically occurs in settings distant from what can be experienced as stressful environments. Hence, a person is shielded from potential stressors and provided with a pleasant distraction (63).

<u>Social factors</u>: Several of the most popular physical activities among young people take place in a social setting (e.g. football and handball), that provide social interaction and may promote social competence and support (64;65). In depression, social isolation can be a contributing and sustaining factor. Participating in physical activity may provide personal contact that can decrease a sense of isolation. Being physically active with others may also demonstrate that he or she is important to others, as well as being a part of a community (64;65).

It is often concluded that biological mechanisms are independent of sex and age. However, concerning the psychological and social mechanisms it is relevant to assume that they may vary dependent on sex, age, ethnicity and socioeconomic status.

2.2 Mental health among adolescents

Mental health has been defined in various ways by scholars from different cultures (21). It is difficult to define mental health comprehensively, however, it is agreed that good mental health is more than simply a lack of mental disorder (21). The World Health Organisation defines mental health as "a state of well-being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with normal stressors in life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or her community" (p. 1) (66). In the research literature use of the term mental health is often related to the chosen measures of mental health. In the following review, the terms from the actual referred literature are used. The use of the term mental health in this thesis, is presented in the methods (Chapter 4.3.1)

Mental health problems, including emotional, behavioural and peer problems are prevalent among adolescents and may severely interfere with everyday functioning (23;67;68). A comprehensive international review concluded that the median prevalence estimate of functionally impairing psychiatric disorders in children and adolescents was 12%, although the range of the estimate was wide (23). In a Norwegian epidemiological study of children (7-9 years of age), using a diagnostic tool to identify cases, 7 % of the children were reported to have some kind of psychiatric disorder (69).

A common feature in most studies is the great gender variation in mental health problems in adolescence, with girls reporting more emotional symptoms and distress and boys more behavioural problems (24;68;70-73). Prospective studies show that mental distress and emotional problems are increasing from puberty up to early adulthood in girls, with a more stable trend in boys (73;74), whereas behavioural problems in both boys and girls are peaking in mid- and late adolescence somewhat depending on type of behaviour (71;75). In the literature on immigrants, mental health findings among adolescents are less clear. In some cross-sectional studies, using self-report measures, a higher prevalence of mental health problems has been reported among immigrants compared to the host population (76-78), whereas others have found no difference (79-82) or a lower frequency of problems among immigrant compared to host adolescents (82-84). Even when including studies examining both parental and teachers' report, no general conclusion of the psychological development and health of migration can be drawn (79;85;86). Population based longitudinal studies, focusing on mental health in different ethnic groups of adolescents, are scarce (87;88).

Migrant populations often have a weak social position in their host countries (86). This may create an economic disadvantage, consequently the socioeconomic position in the host country may be of importance when comparing migrants' and hosts' mental health (86). We do not know of any population based longitudinal studies comparing changes in mental health during late teens between immigrants and the host population also adjusting for sociodemographic factors.

2.3 Physical activity among adolescents

Physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that result in an expenditure of energy (89). It is a complex behaviour that occurs in a variety of forms and contexts including free play, exercise, physical education and organized sport. Physical activity has several dimensions including *duration* (units of time); *frequency* (number of sessions per time unit); *intensity* and *type* of activity (90). In the research literature use of the term physical activity varies and is often a result of how it is measured. For use of the term physical activity in this thesis, see methods (Chapter 4.3.2).

Regular physical activity is an important factor for healthy growth and development in children and adolescents (91). Despite the importance of physical activity in youth, studies consistently show that physical activity declines during adolescence. Such declines are reported in both cross-sectional (92-94) and longitudinal studies (95-104),

and in studies using self-reported measures (92;95-100) as well as objective measures of physical activity (93;94;104).

The gender difference in physical activity, with boys being more physically active than girls, is well documented (4;93;94;105;106).

There is a lack of studies investigating physical activity in adolescents of different ethnicities. The majority of the existing research is from the United States (US), and generally reveals that black adolescents (especially girls), and to some degree also Hispanics, are less physically active than their white counterparts (100;107-110). In Europe one study from the United Kingdom (UK) reports that Asian students are more sedentary than white students, and that was also true for black girls but not black boys (111).

Different socioeconomic variables show various associations with physical activity in adolescence, but most studies agree that there is a positive association between physical activity and socioeconomic status (112-114). Whether the relation between socioeconomic status and physical activity varies by ethnicity is less studied in adolescents (112). More knowledge on physical activity level and changes over time in immigrant and host adolescents, and the association with sociodemographic variables, is needed

3.0 Objective

The main objective of this thesis was to study physical activity and mental health in a multiethnic cohort of adolescents.

The specific aims were:

- To study how physical activity in boys and girls at age 15–16 were associated with mental health three years later (Paper I).
- To compare mental health and physical activity between adolescents with ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority background aged 15-16 years followed for three years, while taking gender and sociodemographic factors into account (Paper II and III).
- To identify subgroups lost at three years of follow-up at age 18-19 years and investigate the magnitude and direction of possible selection bias (Paper IV).

4.0 Material and Methods

The papers in this thesis were based on data collected at two time points three years apart. Baseline data consisted of the youth parts of The Oslo Health Study and The Hedmark Health Study conducted in 2001, and the follow-up data consisted of Youth 2004 which was carried out both in Oslo and Hedmark in 2004.

4.1 Data collection

4.1.1 The youth part of The Oslo Health Study

All 10th grade students (aged 15–16 years, later referred to as 15 years) in Oslo during the school years 1999-2000 and 2000-2001 were invited to enter the youth part of The Oslo Health Study. A total of 7343 students (88%) from the total population of 10th graders participated (both 1999-2000 and 2000-2001). In 2000-2001, 3811 students participated (89%), and this group comprised the baseline of the longitudinal study in Oslo (blue box on top in the flow chart, page 14). This was a questionnaire study conducted in all the 60 schools in the city. All parents received written information (Appendix I) and the students signed a consent form before participation (Appendix II). The students completed two four-page questionnaires during two school classes (Appendix III). A project assistant was present in the classroom to inform the students about the survey and to administer the questionnaires. For those not present on the day of the survey, questionnaires, informed consent forms and a pre-stamped envelope were left for them at school. A separate instruction was prepared for teachers responsible for this follow-up task. Students who did not return the completed questionnaire during the course of the school year were invited by a letter sent to their home. A more detailed description of the procedure has been published elsewhere (115).

4.1.2 The youth part of The Hedmark Health Study

In 2000-2001, all 10th graders attending the 41 schools in Hedmark county were invited to participate in the youth part of The Hedmark Health Study. The study was conducted following the same protocol as the youth part of The Oslo Health Study (described

above). A total of 1939 students participated (88%) and comprised the baseline of the longitudinal study in Hedmark (green box on top in the flow chart, p 14).

4.1.3 Youth 2004

Youth 2004 was carried out in Oslo and Hedmark. We wanted to invite all individuals participating in the baseline cohorts in Oslo and Hedmark, thus, the follow-up study had a different design than the baseline studies. In Oslo, the study was carried out partly at school and partly by mail. In Hedmark, the data collection was carried out by mail. A more detailed description of the procedure has been published elsewhere (116).

4.1.3.1 In school

The procedure for the school part of Youth 2004 in Oslo, was similar to the baseline health studies in Oslo and Hedmark. To get hold of as many as possible of the 10th graders participating in the baseline study in Oslo, all senior year students (13th grade) in all 32 secondary high-schools in Oslo 2003-2004 were invited. This study also constituted a new cross-sectional study of 13th graders in Oslo (yellow/orange box in the flow chart, p 14). In this school-based study 3308 students participated (90%). The senior year students (aged 18–19 years, later referred to as 18 years) completed a four-page questionnaire during one school class (Appendix IV). They also provided a cell sample from the cheek mucosa. The students received instructions and then everyone performed a joint rubbing of the mucosa using cyto-brushes (Medscand Medical AB, Malmö, Sweden). Because not all students were present when the study was conducted, materials were left at school with the school-contact, or schools were visited several times. The decision on which procedure to follow was made by the project coordinator, based on the number of missing students and the collaboration with the school-contact. Those that could not be reached by this procedure were invited to participate by mail.

4.1.3.2 By mail

The participants in the baseline study in Oslo who were not enrolled in the senior year of secondary high-schools in Oslo, and all the baseline-participants in Hedmark, who had consented to participate in a follow-up, were invited to participate in Youth 2004 by mail. The invitation included an invitation letter, an information brochure (Appendix I), a consent form (Appendix II), the questionnaire (Appendix IV), two cyto-brushes including

a container for buccal cell sampling and a pre-stamped return envelope. Two reminders were sent to those who did not respond. Of those invited by mail in Oslo, 384 participated and signed a written consent (35 %). The corresponding number in Hedmark was 827 (49%).

4.2 Study samples

Paper I, II and III:

Of the 3811 participants in the baseline study in Oslo, 2489 individuals (65%) (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated in Youth 2004 (follow-up) and gave consent to link their information from the two surveys (blue boxes in the flow chart, p14). These adolescents were included in the main analyses in papers I-III. In paper I, 56 of the 2489 individuals were excluded because they reported motor disabilities at baseline.

Paper IV:

Paper IV uses two longitudinal and three cross-sectional samples extracted from the three studies previously described. In addition to the longitudinal sample from Oslo (used in paper I, II and III), the longitudinal sample from Hedmark was also included (green boxes in the flow chart, p 14). The longitudinal sample from Hedmark consisted of adolescents who participated in both the baseline study and Youth 2004. A total of 5750 participated in the baseline studies in Oslo and Hedmark, and 3316 of these individuals (58%) participated in the follow-up study (Youth 2004). The school-based part of the follow-up (4.1.3.1), as well as the two baseline studies in Oslo and Hedmark, constitutes the three cross-sectional samples in paper IV.



*Later referred to as 2001

**Full consent: acceptance of linking the questionnaire with other surveys and different registers (Appendix II). #In the flow chart in paper III an error occurred, the correct number is 173

##27+2466 (school) and 61+1084 (mail) constitute the invited in the flow charts in paper I, II and III

Study sample in paper II and III, in paper I 56 was excluded because of motor disabilities at age 15

Figure 1: Study-population flow chart

4.3 Variables

Variables included are mainly collected by self-reported questionnaires. After paper I and II were published/accepted for publication, information from Statistics Norway (SSB), a public institution collecting many types of national statistics, was added to the data file. Thus, country of birth as registered by SSB is used in paper III, and several sociodemographic variables from SSB were included in paper III and IV.

Table 1: Summery of the variables	Table 1: Summery of the variables used in the different papers					
-	T	Paper	III	117		
Gander	I F	II F	 			
Gender Montal Health:	E	Ľ	Ľ	E/C		
SDO baseline	D/C	D		D*/C		
SDQ, baseline	D/C	D		DAC		
SDQ, follow-up	D	D				
HSCI -10 baseline	D	D		D/C		
HSCL-10, follow-up		D		Dic		
Physical activity (PA)		D				
Weekly hours of PA, baseline	Е		D	E/C		
Weekly hours of PA, follow-up			D			
Other lifestyle factors						
Alcohol consumption baseline	C					
Smoking habits baseline	C			F/C		
General health:	C			E/C		
Self perceived health baseline				D/C		
Ethnicity				2,0		
Parents country of birth, self	С	Ε		E/C		
report, baseline						
Parents country of birth, SSB,			E			
2002						
Sociodemographic						
variables:						
Perceived family economy,	С	С	С	С		
baseline						
Mother's education, SSB 2002			C	~		
Father's education, SSB 2002			C	С		
Mother's income, SSB 2002			C	C		
Father's income, SSB 2002		C	C	C		
Parents marital status, baseline		C	C	C		
socioeconomic region or		C	C			
Education plans, baseline				C		
Other variables				C		
Participation with				D/C		
cyto-brush, follow-up				Die		
Invitation group.	С	С	С	С		
follow-up	-	-	-			
Lost to follow-up				D		
-						

Table 1: Summery of the variables used in the different papers

D: Dependent variables

E: Exposure/predictor/group differences studied

C: Covariates

*The SDQ sub-scores hyperactivity and inattention problems, and behaviour problems are used

4.3.1 Mental Health

In this thesis the term mental health includes both internalizing and externalizing problems as well as a positive aspect of mental health - prosocial behaviour. Mental

health is measured by Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) and Hopkins Symptoms Checklist (HSCL). When referring to HSCL, the term mental distress is used and when referring to the SDQ the names of the different subscales are used.

The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ): The SDQ is a multi-informant wideangle screening questionnaire, developed by Robert Goodman in the UK and first published in 1997 (117;118). The SDQ has been used in a large number of population based studies in several countries during the last decade (118). In the current study the self-report version of the questionnaire was used. The SDO is a 25-item questionnaire with five subscales, each consisting of five items, generating scores for emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, peer problems, and prosocial behaviour. Each item can be answered with "not true" (0), "somewhat true" (1) or "certainly true" (2), with reference to the past 6 months. For each subscale these values were summed to generate scale scores ranging from 0 to 10. The first four problem scales are summed to generate a total difficulties score ranging from 0 to 40. According to the scoring instructions for the SDQ, missing values for each individual were replaced with the individual mean for the other items in the subscale. However, records with three or more missing items in the current subscales were excluded. The prosocial scale measures the adolescent's ability to act prosocially. This subscale assesses positive behaviours, like caring and helpful behaviour (with a range of scores from 0 to 10). SDQ self-report is designed and validated for youngsters (11-16 years), but SDQ has also been used for older youths (119;120). In the follow-up questionnaire some linguistic changes were made in accordance with the approved Norwegian translation at that time. In Tromsø, the "old" and "new" versions of the SDQ were used among 15-16 year-olds three years apart (2002 and 2005). Based on comparisons of answers in the two versions, we concluded that the linguistic changes most likely had little impact on the subscale scores (121). Among adolescents from Oslo that had been followed longitudinally, the internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the various SDO scales were at baseline and followup: 0.73 and 0.77 for the total difficulties score; 0.70 and 0.73 for emotional symptoms; 0.47 and 0.38 for conduct problems; 0.54 and 0.65 for hyperactivity-inattention; 0.53 and 0.57 for peer problems; and 0.64 and 0.61 for prosocial behaviour. The internal consistency was about the same for ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities at both time

points. The low alpha coefficients may be associated with a low number of response categories and skewed distributions of scores. Because of this, Oppedal et al (122) argued that it may be more appropriate to calculate alpha based on polychoric correlation to provide an estimate of a potential underlying continuous factor in stead of the consistency of the actual sum score. They performed both analyses and reported more satisfactory results with polychoric correlation - even if the values were still low (i.e. peer problems improved from 0.44 to 0.61 and conduct problems from 0.46 to 0.59) (122). Other studies have also reported low Cronbach's alpha values for some of the subscales (123), particularly for conduct problems (124). The conduct problem items cover selected essential criteria for oppositional defiant disorder and conduct disorder (123;125), which implies some heterogeneity. Nevertheless, the low reliability in some of the SDQ subscales poses a problem regarding the unity of the underlying structure of the construct. Two other large Norwegian studies (120;124), have explored the construct validity of the self-reported SDQ (by confirmatory factor analysis) and concluded that the fit statistics were satisfactory. However, some of the factor loadings and, correspondingly, some of the subscale reliabilities (internal consistency) were low, which suggests poor specificity of items (120). In spite of this, Rønning et al (124) argued that the SDQ self-report is an efficient screening instrument for preventive research on large community samples. A large SDO validation study found that a high score on the self-reported conduct problem scale was associated with an odds ratio of 7.1 for having conduct or oppositional-defiant disorder (based on interviews), supporting the validity of the subscale (123). The selfreported version of SDO has also shown satisfactory discrimination between community and clinical samples (126).

In paper I and II, the SDQ subscales and "total score" are used as continuous measures of (self-perceived) mental health problems and strengths. In paper IV, two of the SDQ subscales; conduct problems and hyperactivity–inattention problems were summed to give an index of externalizing problems (127). The index is divided into two groups by the 90 percentile (score \geq 10) when comparing associations at baseline between all participants and lost to follow-up, and when exploring predictors for lost to follow-up.

The Strengths and Difficulties Impact Supplement: In epidemiological studies, many young people with high psychiatric symptom load are not significantly socially impaired by

their symptoms (128). To get a better indication of the significance of the symptoms an impact supplement has been made (129). This supplement was included in Youth 2004 and starts with a question on whether the respondent thinks he or she has a problem. If so, further enquiries are made about chronicity, overall distress, social impairment and burden to the environment. The impact questions have four response categories: "no" (0), "little" (0), "quite a lot" (1), "a great deal" (2). The items concerning overall distress and social impairment related to family, friends, learning situation and leisure activities generate a total impact score, ranging between 0 and 10. Goodman defines a score of two or more as "abnormal" or "caseness" and a score of one as borderline (129). In paper I, the variable was dichotomized into high (\geq 1) and low (< 1) scores when conducting logistic regression.

The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10): The HSCL-10 comprises questions regarding psychological symptoms of depression and anxiety (mental distress) experienced the previous week (130). For each question there are four possible answers; ranging from "not troubled" (1) to "heavily troubled" (4). According to the scoring instructions for the HSCL, missing values on individual items were replaced with the sample mean value for each item. However, records with three or more missing items were excluded. The average item score is used as a measure of mental distress (130). The HSCL-25 version is shown to have satisfactory validity and reliability as a measure of mental distress in adults (131:132). The version with ten questions performs almost as well as the longer versions, also among subjects aged 16-24 years (130). In the longitudinal data from Oslo, the consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the HSCL-10 scale was 0.86 at baseline and 0.88 at follow-up. The internal consistency was approximately the same for ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities at both time points. Among subjects aged 16-24 years of age, an average score for all 10 items equal to or above 1.85 has been shown to be a valid predictor for mental distress, corresponding to the 1.75 cut-off of HSCL-25 (130). In paper II, the HSCL-10 was used as a continuous variable. In paper IV, the HSCL-10 was dichotomized at 1.85 (High score \geq 1.85), when comparing associations at baseline between all participants and lost to follow-up, and when exploring predictors for lost to follow-up.

4.3.2 Physical activity

Our use of the term physical activity may include various types of activities in leisure time, and both organized and unorganized activities. The measure takes into account the amount of both moderate and vigorous physical activity.

Weekly hours of physical activity in leisure time: Participants were asked how many hours per week they spent on physical activity "to an extent that makes you sweat and/or out of breath" outside of school. The possible answers were: 0 (0), 1–2 (1.5), 3–4 (3.5), 5–7 (6), 8–10 (9), or 11(11) hours or more per week. The numbers in the parentheses represent the coding in paper III, when using the ranked ordinal variable as a continuous variable. Hours of physical activity was also recoded into different groups [0, 1-4, 5-7 and 8 hours or more (paper I) and 0-2 versus 3 hours or more (paper III and IV)]. The latter grouping was done because of the skewed distribution of physical activity among the ethnic minority girls.

In an unpublished validation study, physical activity was measured both subjectively using the questions on physical activity included in the present questionnaire - and objectively using Actigraph accelerometers (Manufacturing Technology Inc., Fort Walton Beach, FL) that measures body acceleration (105). The selected physical activity question "hours per week" was the one that best predicted physical activity measured by accelerometry (Hein Stigum, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, personal communication). Several studies have used simple self-reported questionnaires on overall physical activity, and such measures have been shown to correlate fairly well with other activity measures (133;134), and with maximum oxygen uptake (135) and aerobic fitness (136). Nevertheless, how accurate the adolescents reported their weekly hours of physical activity is uncertain.

4.3.3 Other lifestyle factors

Alcohol consumption was estimated by asking how often in the course of the past year the person had been drinking alcohol. Answers were coded into six categories: "Not at all", "a few times", "once per month", "2-3 times per month", "once per week", and "2-3 times per week or more".

Smoking habits were studied by asking "Do you smoke, or have you smoked earlier?" Possible answers were: "No, never", "Yes, but I have stopped", "Yes, once in a while", and "Yes, daily". The answers were categorized into "never/quit", "once in a while", and 'daily'.

4.3.4 General health

Self-evaluated *general health status* was measured by the question: "How would you describe your present state of health? Possible answers were: "Poor", "not very good", "good", and "very good". The categories were grouped into "poor/not very good" versus "good/very good".

4.3.5 Ethnicity

In paper I, II and III, SSB's definition of ethnic minorities, as those having both parents born in a country other than Norway was applied (137). In paper IV, ethnic groups were defined as minorities with a non-Western background versus ethnic Norwegians/Western minorities. Information about parents' country of birth was collected both by adolescents' report and by register-data from SSB. In paper I, II and IV, the ethnic background was defined by self-report, whereas in paper III, information from SSB was used. When classifying participants as ethnic minorities or ethnic Norwegians, a very good agreement was found between self-reported data and information registered by SSB (Cohen's' Kappa = 0.96). A total of 20% of the participants in the follow-up study in Oslo had an ethnic minority background (paper III). The majority of the ethnic minority youth (96%) came from non-Western countries. The largest ethnic minority groups came from the Indian subcontinent (42%), the Middle East (16%) and Eastern Europe (11%). Fifty-four percent of the individuals in the minority group were born in another country than Norway (1st generation immigrants). In the papers the terms ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities are mainly used, whereas in the current summary immigrants and ethnic minorities are used synonymously. When referring to the research of others, the concepts/terms from the papers are used.

21

4.3.6 Sociodemographic variables

Perceived family economy was studied by asking how students perceived their family economy compared with other families in Norway. The question had the options: "very bad", "bad ", "good ", and "very good".

Mother's and father's education from SSB's register on education (2002) was used. In the analysis, education was categorized by the highest level of accomplished education and categorized in "tertiary education", "intermediate education", and "compulsory education" (138).

Mother's and father's income from SSB's register on income (2002) was used. The mother's and father's income (139) was categorized as "high" (above the 75th percentile), "medium" (25th to 75th percentile), or "low" (below the 25th percentile).

Parents' marital status was registered by a question asking if their parents were "married/cohabitant", "unmarried", "divorced/separated", "one or both dead", and "other options". The variable was categorized into those having parents who were "married/cohabitant" versus the "others".

Socioeconomic region of residence in Oslo indicates the socioeconomic level of the neighbourhood. This is a social index that takes into account the distribution of unemployment, education, non-Western immigration, and single parenting (140). The major dividing line concerning health status and health related behaviour is found between "East" and "West" (140), consequently these two regions were used.

Education plans of the adolescents were assessed by asking about their plan for highest future education, which was operationalised into: "University/ higher" (i.e. university or regional college higher degree), "other" (university or regional college intermediate level; upper secondary school; vocational education at upper secondary school; one year at upper secondary school; other plans), and "not decided".

4.3.7 Other variables

Participation with cyto-brushes: In Youth 2004, two DNA samples from the cheek mucosa were collected using cyto-brushes (Medscand Medical AB, Malmö, Sweden). In paper IV, we studied whether the additional collection of DNA could have influenced the participation rate. The cyto-brushes are not further discussed in the current summary.

Invitation group: Youth 2004 was conducted partly in school and partly by mail. In paper I, II and III, a variable called "*Invitation group*" was created to dichotomize school and mail participation. In paper IV, this variable contained three groups; postal-based Hedmark, postal-based Oslo and school-based Oslo.

Lost to follow-up: A variable was made indicating whether adolescents participated or were lost to follow-up in Youth 2004.

4.4 Ethics

In the baseline studies in Oslo and Hedmark, all parents received written information concerning why and how the study would be conducted, describing the topics addressed in the questionnaire, the voluntary nature of the study, how the results would be used and that they could reserve their child from participating. All students/adolescents were also thoroughly informed and were free to withdraw at any stage without giving any reason. All information from the health surveys were treated confidentially, and the data used for research was made anonymous.

The protocols of all three studies were evaluated by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics and were approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate. The linkage of the survey-data to information from Statistics Norway was also approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate. The studies that were carried out in school received approval from the school authorities.

4.5 Statistics

The Norwegian Institute of Public Health coded the questionnaires and prepared data files containing information from all the studies. In all papers, SPSS (version 13 and 14) was used for statistical data analyses, whereas STATA (version 10) was also used in Paper IV.

Analyses were mainly done separately by gender. This stratification was mainly done due to large gender differences in both physical activity and mental health, and pooled estimates would not be representative for either boys or girls. The description of the sample in the papers was done by Chi-square tests (for categorical data), dependent and independent samples T-tests, GLM-repeated measures and analyses of variance when comparing a continuous variable between two or more groups.

When exploring the main objectives, analyses of covariance were used to compare means between different groups (paper I and II). To compare relationships between variables, multiple regression was used when the dependent variables were continuous/ranked ordinal (paper I and III), whereas logistic regression (paper I) and Poisson regression (paper IV) was performed when the dependent variables were dichotomous. To study stability in the physical activity groups we used Cohen's kappa (paper III).

The exact p values are presented if higher than 0.001. A 95% confidence interval and a significance level of 0.05 and 0.01 were used (see discussion; 6.1.2). See the papers for more detailed descriptions

5.0 Synopsis of paper I-IV

5.1 Paper I

The association between weekly hours of physical activity and mental health. -A three-year follow up study of 15/16-years old pupils in the city of Oslo, Norway. Background: Mental health problems are a worldwide public health burden. The literature concerning the mental health benefits from physical activity among adults has grown. Adolescents are less studied, and especially longitudinal studies are lacking. This paper investigates the associations between weekly hours of physical activity at age 15–16 and mental health three years later.

Methods: Longitudinal self-reported health survey. The baseline study consisted of participants from the youth section of the Oslo Health Study, carried out in schools in 2000–2001 (n = 3811). The follow-up in 2003–2004 was conducted partly at school and partly through mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated in the follow-up. Mental health was measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire with an impact supplement. Physical activity was measured by a question on weekly hours of physical activity outside of school, defined as exertion 'to an extent that made you sweat and/or out of breath'. Adjustments were made for well-documented confounders and mental health at baseline.

Results: In boys, the number of hours spent on physical activity per week at age 15–16 was negatively associated with emotional symptoms [B (95%CI)=-0.09 (-0.15, -0.03)] and peer problems [B (95%CI)=-0.08 (-0.14, -0.03)] at age 18-19 after adjustments. In girls, there were no significant differences in SDQ subscales at age 18-19 according to weekly hours of physical activity at age 15-16 after adjustments. Boys and girls with five to seven hours of physical activity per week at age 15-16 had the lowest mean scores for total difficulties and the lowest percentage with high impact score at age 18-19, but the differences were not statistically significant after adjustments.

Conclusions: Weekly hours of physical activity at age 15-16 years was weakly associated with mental health at three-year follow-up in boys. Results encourage a search for further knowledge about physical activity as a possible protective factor in relation to mental health problems in adolescence.

5.2 Paper II

Ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority adolescents in Oslo, Norway. A longitudinal study comparing change in mental health.

Background: Little is known about ethnic disparities in mental health during late teens. The aim of this study was to compare changes in self-reporteded mental health between adolescents with ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority background aged 15-16 years followed for three years.

Methods: The youth part of The Oslo Health Study constituted the baseline of this self-reported longitudinal study, carried out in schools in 2001 (n = 3811). The follow-up in 2004 was conducted partly in school and partly through mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated in the follow-up. Twenty percent of the participants had an ethnic minority background. Mental health was measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) and The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL-10).

Results: Ethnic minority boys and girls reported poorer mental health than ethnic Norwegians of the same sex, both at baseline and follow-up. Exceptions were hyperactivity-inattention problems and prosocial behaviours where no differences were found. Consistent changes from baseline to follow-up were; an increase in mental distress and prosocial behaviour. No ethnic disparities were found for *changes* in mental health from ages 15 to 18 between the two groups. There was no different effect of perceived family economy, parents' marital status and socioeconomic region of residence in Oslo on *change* in mental health between ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys and girls from age 15 to 18 years.

Conclusions: Ethnic disparities in mental health remained the same from age 15-16 and throughout teenage years. Demographic factors adjusted for had no different impact on changes in mental health between host and immigrant adolescents.
5.3 Paper III

Three year follow-up of physical activity in two ethnic groups of Norwegian youth: associations with socio-demographic factors.

Background: More research on factors associated with physical activity and the decline in participation during adolescence is needed. In this paper, we investigate the levels, change, and stability of physical activity during the late teens among ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities, and we examine the associations between physical activity and socio-demographic factors.

Methods: The baseline (T1) of this longitudinal study included 10th graders who participated in the youth part of The Oslo Health Study, which was carried out in schools in 2000–2001. The follow-up (T2) in 2003–2004 was conducted partly at school and partly by mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated both at baseline and at follow-up. Physical activity level was measured by a question on weekly hours of physical activity outside of school. Socio-demographic variables were collected by questionnaire and from data obtained from Statistics Norway. Analysis of variance was used to study the level of and changes (T1 to T2) in physical activity, and the associations between physical activity and socio-demographic factors. Stability in physical activity was defined as the percentage of students reporting the same physical activity both times.

Results: Boys were more active than girls at age 15 and 18 years, independent of ethnic background. Among girls, ethnic Norwegians were more active than ethnic minorities. Hours per week spent on physical activity declined in all groups during the follow-up period. Few associations were found between physical activity and socio-demographic factors in both cross-sectional and longitudinal data. Among the ethnic minority girls, 65% reported being physically active 0–2 hours per week at baseline, and 82% of these girls reported the same level at follow-up.

Conclusions: The association between physical activity and ethnicity at age 15 years remained the same during the follow-up. Few associations were found between physical activity and socio-demographic variables. A large proportion of ethnic minority girls reported a persistently low physical activity level, and this low participation rate may need special attention.

5.4 Paper IV

Response rates and selection problems, with emphasis on mental health variables and DNA-sampling, in large population based cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of adolescents in Norway.

Background: Selection bias is a threat to the internal validity of epidemiological studies. In light of a growing number of studies aiming at providing DNA and a considerable number of invitees declining to participate, we discuss response rates, predictors of lost to follow-up and failure to provide DNA, and presence of possible selection bias, based on five samples of adolescents.

Methods: We included nearly 7000 adolescents from two longitudinal studies of 18/19 year-olds with two corresponding cross-sectional baseline studies at age 15/16 (10th graders), and one cross-sectional study of 13th graders (18/19 years). DNA was sampled from the cheek mucosa in the 18/19 year-olds. Predictors of loss to follow-up and failure to provide DNA were studied by Poisson regression. Selection bias in the follow-up at age 18/19 years was estimated through investigation of prevalence ratios (PRs) between selected exposures (physical activity; smoking) and outcome variables (general health; mental distress; externalizing problems) measured at baseline.

Results: Out of 5750 who participated at age 15/16, we lost 42% at follow-up at age 18/19. The percentage of participants who gave consent to DNA provision was as high as the percentage that consented to linkage of data with other health registers and surveys, around 90%. Significant predictors of loss to follow-up and failure to provide DNA samples were: male gender; non-western ethnicity; postal survey compared with schoolbased; low educational plans; low education and income of father; low perceived family economy; unmarried parents; poor self-reported health; externalizing symptoms; and smoking, with some differences in subgroups of ethnicity and gender. The association measures (PRs), however, were quite similar among participants and all invitees, with minor discrepancies in subgroups of non-western boys and girls.

Conclusions: Loss to follow-up has marginal impact on the estimated prevalence ratios in the present study. It is not likely that the invitation to provide DNA have influenced the response rates of 18/19 year-olds. Non-western ethnicity, male gender and characteristics related to low social class and general- and mental health problems measured at baseline, are associated with lost to follow-up and failure to provide DNA.

6.0 Discussion

6.1 Methodological issues

Many epidemiological studies make use of questionnaires to obtain information from the participants. There are however, several potential biases associated with this method of data collection. Awareness of the sources of measurement errors and how they can impact study results is important for drawing appropriate conclusions. In epidemiological studies we have both random and systematic errors (141). Random errors are, in many situations, attributable to precision and related to the size and the design of the study. Systematic errors include selection bias, information bias and confounding. Both random and systematic sources of error can affect the validity of the study (141). A valid study is equivalent to an "unbiased" study – a study that, based on the design, methods, and procedures will produce overall results that are close to the "truth" (142). Before random and systematic errors are discussed, some comments about the design are given.

6.1.1 Design

In epidemiology, a cohort is defined most broadly (143) as "any designed group of individuals who are followed or traced over a period of time" (p57). A study is considered to have a longitudinal design if the information obtained pertains to more than one point in time (143). All cohort studies rely on data in which exposure information refers to an earlier time than that of disease occurrence/outcome, making the study longitudinal (143).

One problem in longitudinal studies is that some participants are lost to follow-up. Who are they and what is the impact on the results? We have devoted one paper to this issue (paper IV). Possible problems with incomplete follow-ups are discussed in section 6.1.3.4 (selection bias).

In paper I, II, III and parts of paper IV, information is collected twice from the same cohort and the study is considered to have a longitudinal observational design. In paper I, we study mental health at age 18 years according to the physical activity level at age 15 years adjusted for mental health at baseline (15 years). Despite the longitudinal design,

with physical activity as exposure coming before the symptoms of mental health problems, we can not infer the direction of causality from our analyses. In the analyses we adjust for baseline mental health, however, we can not rule out the possibility that the development of mental health problems has started before the exposure (physical activity) and thus influenced the physical activity at baseline. There could also be a common underlying unknown factor influencing both physical activity and mental health at both time points (see also confounding, 5.1.3.3).

In contrast to cross-sectional studies, considered to be snapshots in time, studies measuring the same individuals more than once make it possible to study change between the measurement points. Hence, the present design is suitable for studying change in mental health and physical activity from age 15 to 18 years (papers II and III). In descriptive epidemiology, distributions of determinants and disease occurrences in subgroups are essential (144). In paper IV, the longitudinal design also allows us to identify predictors of lost to follow-up and investigate the magnitude and direction of possible selection bias by comparing cross-sectional associations at baseline between all participants and those lost to follow-up.

Even though our design has limitations for making causal inferences, such a design can be one of the first steps in an investigation into causality. The design allows a large number of participants, which makes it possible to compare subgroups and to adjust for several variables. Additionally, such a study is relatively easy and fairly inexpensive to conduct.

6.1.2 Random errors

Random errors represent the variability in the data that we can not really explain (143). Sampling variation and random measurement variation are two main types of random errors, that both can compromise precision (141).

Sampling variation arises as no sample will be exactly identical to the target population and because individual variation always occurs. Consequently, the estimates will vary from sample to sample, although the confidence limits will inform how close the estimate is likely to be to the underlying population value. A method to reduce sampling variation is to enlarge the sample size (141). In paper I, II and III, the study population consisted of 3811 participants, whereas 2489 participated in the follow-up. While this sample size gave a fairly high precision in the overall results, small sample sizes in subgroups of gender and ethnic minorities reduced the precision and increased the probability of type II errors. For economical and practical reasons, there was no opportunity to enlarge the sample size.

Random measurement variation may lead to a reduction in the reliability of the measurements. The way to minimize random measurement variation is by securing precision in measurement (141). Both physical activity and mental health is measured by self-report, and random measurement variation might have reduced the precision of the measure. When comparing mean and mean differences (paper II and III), random measurement variation will hardly influence the estimation of the sample mean (145). With regards to associations, random error of measurement may dilute the estimated effect (145). For instance, the associations between physical activity and mental health, and physical activity and sociodemographic factors may be impaired due to random measurement variation.

With regards to measurement error, systematic inaccuracy is of greater concern than random variation (see information bias, 6.1.3.2).

A different, but related problem is multi-significance and the probability of making a type I error. When studying several outcome variables (SDQ subscales), associations may turn out statistically significant by chance. With a significance level of 5% (p<0,05), 1 in 20 significant tests will theoretically be positive by chance alone (141). In this study, a 95% confidence interval and a significance level of 0.05 and 0.01 was used to emphasise findings. In paper I, we studied the associations between physical activity and all SDQ subscales. The results revealed only a few statistically significant associations with a stable trend after adjustments. These could be due to chance. Thus, only associations that showed a relatively consistent trend were emphasised (linear or u-shaped). Further, that other researchers report similar associations supports the validity of the findings (se discussion of findings, 6.2.1). In paper II, comparing various dimensions of mental health between ethnic minorities and ethnic Norwegians, and the association

with sociodemographic factors, we only highlighted findings with a p value less than 0.01. When studying the associations between physical activity and sociodemographic factors (paper III), we emphasised the pattern of findings and interpreted single significant associations with caution

It should be noted that when focusing primarily on the pattern of findings, we might have ignored some interesting single findings.

6.1.3 Systematic errors

Bias is another term for systematic error. This can refer to an investigator's attitude, but it is mainly used to describe any systematic error in a study. The study can be biased because of the way subjects have been selected (selection bias), the way the variables have been measured (information bias), or some confounding factor not completely controlled for (confounding) (143).

6.1.3.1 Selection bias

Selection bias occurs when the subjects studied are not representative of the target population on which conclusions are to be drawn (143).

In the baseline studies, 88% of all 10th graders participated. We can not rule out the possibility that the adolescents who did not attend are systematically different from the participants. However, we consider the sample to be fairly representative for the 10th graders in Oslo and Hedmark during the school year 2000-2001.

In Oslo, 65% (2489) of the responders in the baseline study participated in the follow-up study (Youth 2004) (paper I, II and III). When pooling the longitudinal studies in Oslo and Hedmark, 63% of the participants in the baseline studies participated in the follow-up (paper IV). In paper I-III, we checked for baseline differences between responders and non-responders at follow-up for relevant variables and attrition analyses were performed. In paper IV, the main objectives were to study response rates and selection problems in epidemiological studies among adolescents. In the latter paper, the overall findings of significant predictors of lost to follow-up which are of relevance to paper I-III were; post invitation, male gender, non-western ethnicity, externalizing symptoms and mental

distress. Some of these predictors showed differences for subgroups of ethnicity and gender.

In the following section, possible selection bias in the papers is discussed.

In paper IV, we have investigated if there were differences in association measures (PRs) between baseline physical activity (exposure) and baseline mental health outcomes (mental distress and externalizing symptoms) among participants at follow-up and all invited, as a proxy evaluation of selection bias in associations between baseline exposures and outcomes at *follow-up*. In paper I, we studied, by linear regression, the association between physical activity and mental health at baseline between those lost to follow-up and participants.

In these papers there were some differences in the populations studied and the way mental health and physical activity were measured/operationalised. Associations were studied by gender in paper I, and in paper IV we additionally stratified the sample on ethnicity. In paper I, there was no different association between physical activity and mental health at baseline in responders and those lost to follow-up. In paper IV, the PRs in the groups compared were also similar. Thus, we may conclude that there is probably no major selection bias in the associations studied in paper I. In another longitudinal study by Wiles et al (146), investigating the association between physical activity and mental health, attrition was studied by imputing missing data using multiple imputations by chained equation (MICE). Sensitivity analyses including imputed data were consistent with the result in the complete-case analyses, suggesting that missing data had not biased the results (146).

Other studies support this conclusion by reporting association measures to be less sensitive to selection bias than prevalence measures (147-149).

In paper II and paper IV, there were some differences in the populations studied and the measures of mental health (SDQ total/SDQ externalizing). In spite of this, both papers reported no difference in mental health between (all) responders and those lost to follow-up among ethnic minorities/non-western ethnic minorities. However, among ethnic Norwegians/participants with western ethnicity there was a difference in both studies; poor mental health status was a predictor of lost to follow-up.

Others have shown that subjects who participate after reminders are fairly similar to the non-responders (148;150). In the attrition analysis in paper II, we found that ethnic Norwegians participating after reminders had a slightly poorer mental health than those participating after the primary invitation, indicating that the selection might hide a poorer development among ethnic Norwegians. Thus, a "differential" selection bias can not be ruled out in paper II. The fact that the response rate was lower in ethnic minorities (54%) than in ethnic Norwegians (70%), and that those with increasing mental health problems independent of baseline characteristics seem to drop out of longitudinal studies (151), complicate a prediction of the direction of the possible selection bias.

In paper III, we found a difference in physical activity between responders and those lost to follow-up among the ethnic minorities, but not among the ethnic Norwegians. In paper IV, there was no difference in physical activity between responders and those lost to follow-up, in neither subgroups of ethnicity nor gender. This could be due to a somewhat different study population and different operationalisation of physical activity in the two papers.

In paper III, attrition analysis revealed no difference when comparing changes in those participating after the primary invitation and those participating after reminders. Thus, the overall findings indicate that the attrition did not influence the comparison of mean change in physical activity in paper III substantially.

A high proportion of missing values in a data set could also introduce selection bias. However, the amount of missing values in the data set used in paper I, II and III was generally low, and the effect of this attrition is hardly substantial. When studying health and health behaviour as predictors for lost to follow-up in paper IV, we adjusted for different sociodemographic factors (table 4). A significant number had missing records in at least one of the variables adjusted for, hence the adjusted analyses included fewer individuals than the crude analyses. To get an impression if the crude estimates were representative for the individuals included in the adjusted analyses, we also did the crude analyses with only the participants included in the adjusted analyses. Some of the associations were slightly stronger, but the overall results did not change. In conclusion:

It is not possible to conclude that the association between baseline physical activity and mental health at follow-up, or that change in mental health problems and weekly hours of physical activity, is free from selection bias. However, considering the analyses of the present data and previous studies, we may say that attrition has not influenced the conclusions substantially, even though some findings indicated a possible selection bias in the comparison of mental health between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities.

6.1.3.2 Information bias

Information bias can arise because information collected about or from study subjects is erroneous. Because the present study is mainly based on self-reported data, information bias may come from imperfect measures of exposure, outcome and covariate variables.

Imperfect measures obtained from questionnaires may e.g. be biased due to a permanent tendency to exaggerate or underestimate problems/behaviour (permanent response style) and/or because of a subject's state of mind at the time when the responses are given (situational response style) (152;153). Social desirability and recall bias are other factors that contribute to information bias and impair the validity of the measures in self-report studies (142;143).

Information bias may lead to misclassification; which can be non-differential or differential (142;143;145;154). Differential measurement error occurs when the degree of error in the exposure variable depends on the response variable or vice versa. For instance, if the degree of misclassification of physical activity varies with mental health problems, i.e. due to social desirability bias and/or permanent response style, we would have a differential misclassification in paper I. We can not exclude such a misclassification, but due to the time difference between exposure and outcome the possible misclassification is more likely to be non-differential. A non-differential error occurs when the error in the exposure variable is independent of the response variable - or the other way around (145;154). Non-differential errors have been considered less serious, as the general understanding has been that the effect (in simple models) is most often biased in the direction of the null (142;154).

A related problem is that of dependent, or correlated, errors, occurring when there are measurement errors in both the exposure and the response variable, and these errors are correlated (153;154). In the current thesis, this may e.g. be of relevance in the cross-sectional analyses in paper IV. Correlation of the tendencies to over-/under report smoking and mental health problems, and/or physical activity and mental health problems, may give biased estimates. However, the purpose of the analyses in paper IV was not to estimate the strength of the associations but to compare the association between all participants and those lost to follow-up in subgroups of adolescents. The feasible dependency in exposure and outcome is probably the same in the groups compared.

A greater problem in both the cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses in paper II and III is if the permanent response style, situational response style, social desirability and/or recall bias differ between the ethnic groups compared. We will then have differential misclassification, and the comparison of the groups will be biased.

In paper II, changes in mental health are compared between ethnic minorities and ethnic Norwegians. When studying changes over time the permanent response bias problem is avoided to some degree because the same person reports at both time points. Social desirability bias may also influence the report of mental health, and the magnitude of this bias may differ between the ethnic groups. In a study from the Netherlands, Moroccan immigrant youths reported fewer externalising problems than the Dutch natives, whereas their parents reported as many problems as Dutch native parents (85). The teachers, on the other hand, reported far *more* externalising problems for Moroccan immigrants than Dutch native youths. The authors pointed out social desirability bias as a possible explanation for these findings (85). Another factor affecting the validity of the findings is that the cultural equivalence of the scales is unknown. The internal consistency (reliability coefficients; Cronbach alpha values) was similar for ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities, however, we can not rule out that questions are differently understood due to differences in linguistic abilities in the ethnic groups and/or according to the norm of their specific cultural reference groups. Thus, we may compare a somewhat different underlying construct in the two ethnic groups. This should be kept in mind, especially in the cross-sectional comparisons between the ethnic groups.

Recalling physical activity is a complex cognitive task and there are concerns about children's ability to accurately recall physical activity (155). However, this particularly relates to younger children who are frequently active in short bursts and are less active in structured activities. Our participants are 15 years at baseline and it is reasonable to assume that they are capable of filling in the general question of physical activity. A general problem of remembering affects all people and to some extent tends to be non-differential (143).

Social desirability bias may have led to an over-report of physical activity (155). One study evaluating question wording in surveys of culturally diverse adult populations in the US, reports variation by race/ethnicity in the way the respondents defined physical activity (156). The findings from this study also suggested an over-report of the frequency of physical activity due to social desirability in some ethnic minority groups (156). Several methodological differences complicate the comparison with our study (adults/adolescents, interview/survey and different ethnic groups). However, ethnic minorities and ethnic Norwegians might have a different understanding of the physical activity question. This might especially affect the cross-sectional comparisons in paper III. Another limitation, already mentioned in the methods (4.3.1.2), is the accuracy of the self–reported physical activity measure (weekly hours spent on physical activity). Thus, we have interpreted the exact answers with caution and focused on associations and differences between groups, and believe that the measure is reasonably reliable and valid for these purposes.

In conclusion:

We have no information indicating that a major information bias makes our conclusions erroneous. However, the cultural equivalence of the measures used is not well enough explored, and a differential misclassification between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities can not be ruled out. To ensure validity in multicultural research, more knowledge on the cultural equivalence of measures is needed.

6.1.3.3 Confounding

Confounding can be thought of as a mixing of effects (143). To be a confounder the factor must be associated with the outcome, either as a cause or a proxy for a cause, but not an effect of the outcome, and associated with exposure, but not an effect of exposure (143).

Several potential confounding factors were included in the multivariate analyses in the papers. However, we can not rule out residual confounding due to wide classification, imprecise measures and/or factors not adjusted for (e.g., like parents' physical activity and mental health).

In paper I, we have adjusted for well known confounders when studying the association between physical activity and mental health. A factor not taken into consideration is that the participants are attending different schools, and also different classes. However, a study by Wiles et al (146) found no evidence for an effect of school on the association between physical activity and mental health problems (measured by SDQ). In our study, this is complicated by the fact that the participants change classes and schools during the follow-up period.

In addition to the confounding variables we adjusted for baseline mental health symptoms, and it attenuated the association between physical activity (baseline) and mental health (follow-up). It is possible that SDQ scores at baseline lie on the causal pathway between physical activity at an earlier age and later mental health problems, and as such, adjustments for baseline symptoms may represent an over-adjustment.

In paper II, we compared mean changes in mental health scores between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities, adjusted for different sociodemographic variables. The minimal difference between the crude and adjusted estimates indicates that the sociodemographic factors measured did not explain the difference between the ethnic groups.

In paper III, we compared physical activity between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities. In the final version of the paper, the comparisons of change in physical activity with adjustment for socidemographic variables were not included. However, the

analyses were done in a previous draft and crude and adjusted analysis gave the same results (no ethnic difference in change in physical activity in neither boys nor girls).

In Paper IV, we adjusted for various sociodemographic confounders when studying health and health behaviour as possible predictors for lost to follow-up (Table 4), and the estimates did not change substantially.

In conclusion:

We have performed multivariate analyses and controlled for most confounders used in other similar studies. Nevertheless, confounding by variables not measured can never be ruled out.

6.2 Discussion of main results

In this section I will discuss the association found between physical activity and mental health according to gender (paper I). I will then discuss physical activity and mental health in ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minority adolescents (paper II, III and IV), before sociodemographic differences in mental health and physical activity are highlighted (paper II and III).

6.2.1 The association between mental health and physical activity according to gender

Boys were more physically active than girls in our study (Paper I and III), a finding that is well established (4;93;94;105;106). The gender difference in symptoms of mental health problems – with more symptoms in girls and a somewhat different pattern of change during late teens (Paper I and II), is also widely described in the literature (24;68;70;73).

In boys, we found a weak inverse association between weekly hours of physical activity at age 15 and emotional- and peer problems three years later. In girls, the associations did not persist after adjustments (Paper I). Negative associations between physical activity and depression/sadness/emotional problems are reported in several cross-sectional studies (28-31;157;158). Positive associations have also been observed between physical activity and psychological wellbeing and good social function (32-34;37;159). Gender differences in the associations are rarely reported in these studies, but have been seen in some recently published crosssectional studies (160;161). In a study of 15-16 year-olds in Finland (160), physical activity was inversely associated with symptoms of anxiety/depression in boys, and social problems in both boys and girls. No association between accumulated amount of physical activity and depressive symptoms was found among 13-18 year-old Americans, but boys joining a sports club reported less depressive symptoms than those who did not (161). Boys were involved in a larger number of structured sporting activities than girls (161). It was suggested that the association found may reflect the Western gendered cultural expectations that males develop physical prowess and competitive skills through sporting activities (160;161). These norms may expose uninvolved males to pressure or criticism. In contrast, non-participation may be more socially acceptable for females than males, and females may have avenues for social contact through non-sporting alternatives. These hypotheses may also be valid for our longitudinal findings. However, whether physical activity represents something else in boys than girls, or if the gender difference in the associations found is due to gender differences in types of activity, needs more research.

As emphasised in paper I, being active in organised physical activity gives opportunities for adult supervision, exposure to role models, and social networking and all these may provide social skills and improve self-esteem (34;65). However, not all organised physical activity does automatically give the foundation for such positive growth. Donaldson et al (34) emphasise that focus on competition must be lessened and the educators should encourage a cooperative learning environment while promoting autonomy to achieve positive growth. Additionally, the authors of this paper points out that success defined in terms of mastering personal goals rather than winning, may have long term mental health benefits (34).

After we submitted paper I, a few longitudinal studies have been published looking at the association between mental health and physical activity in youth (146;162;163). Two of

these studies followed somewhat younger participants (146;163), but they both measured mental health with the same instrument (SDQ) as we did. Clark et al (163) studied psychological symptoms and physical health and health behaviour in 11-12 year-olds followed for two years in London. They found no association between inactivity (<2 h per week) and later psychological health. The second longitudinal study by Wiles et al (146) followed English 11-14 year-olds for 1 year and reported that children who undertook physical activity at recommended levels (1 h per day) had fewer emotional problems 1 year later, although this effect attenuated markedly after adjustment for gender and baseline symptoms (146). The third study is to our knowledge the first large scale study to explore prospectively the relationship between physical activity and mental disorder assessed by interview, using Composite International Diagnostic Interview (CIDI). The researchers followed 2548 14-24 year-olds in Germany for 4 years (162), and found that regular physical activity at baseline was associated with a lower incidence of anxiety, somatoform and dysthymic (depression) disorders. By contrast, the incidence of bipolar disorder was increased among those with regular physical activity at baseline. Some interactions were found for gender and age i.e. regular physical activity appeared to be particularly protective for mood disorders in older males (162). In terms of the population attributable fraction, the potential for preventive effects of physical activity on mental disorders was considerably higher for men than women. Wiles et al (146) also considered the possible protective importance of physical activity on mental health problems in a public health perspective, after acknowledging the small effect size in their study. They calculated the reduction in emotional problems according to meeting physical activity recommendations or not. This was done by dividing the adjusted mean difference between the two groups at follow-up with the baseline symptoms for the whole group, and it equated to a 9% reduction in emotional problems. The authors argue that this may be important in a population perspective.

Some of the postulated mechanisms behind the effects of physical activity on mental health, especially the biological hypothesis, are assumed to have a short-term effect and continuation of physical activity is needed for a lasting effect. Some of the social and psychological hypotheses, involving social competence, forming of friendship, self-esteem and self-efficacy, may have more long-term effects. The longitudinal studies

referred to above (146;162;163), and our paper I, all studied "the long-term effect" of physical activity, by revealing the association between physical activity at baseline and mental health problems at follow-up. In paper III, we found that physical activity declined in the follow-up period from 15 to 18 years of age. A reduction in physical activity during follow-up among adolescents that were physically active at baseline could be accompanied by an increase in mental health problems. If so, this might have weakened the association between physical activity at baseline and mental health at follow-up. The only study we have found looking at *changes* in physical activity and mental health, found that a reduction in physical activity was associated with an increase in depressive symptoms (44).

At present, the evidence to support a longitudinal association between physical activity (at baseline) and mental health problems (follow-up) among adolescents is weak. This may reflect the lack of longitudinal studies of good quality in the area. The study using CIDI to assess mental health disorder (162) found stronger associations than our study (paper I) and the other studies using self-report measures (146;163). Nevertheless, the existing evidence points towards a longitudinal link between physical activity and depression and anxiety. However, more research is needed and further longitudinal research should study how the longitudinal pattern of physical activity is associated with mental health.

6.2.2 Mental health and physical activity according to ethnicity

6.2.2.1 Mental health in ethnic minorities and ethnic Norwegians

At both 15 and 18 years, we found that ethnic minorities reported more mental health problems than ethnic Norwegians of the same gender. However, no differences were found for mean change in symptoms of mental health problems from 15 to 18 years between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities (Paper II).

As pointed out in the introduction, others have also reported a higher prevalence of symptoms of mental health problems among ethnic minorities/immigrants (76-78) than the native/host adolescents. However, results are inconclusive as no difference (79-82) or fewer symptoms have also been reported (82-84).

In paper II, the processes of migration are discussed as possible explanations for the current findings. However, cultural diversity in the ethnic minority group studied and the length of stay in Norway are also pointed out as factors that may give a more heterogeneous picture of the ethnic minority group. A later published cross-sectional paper by Oppedal et al (164), has analysed the whole youth part of the Oslo Health Study, and found that symptoms of mental distress varied depending on the country of origin and gender. The authors conclude that young Muslim immigrants in Norway are not in general at risk of increased mental distress (164). The size of our longitudinal sample limits analyses on specific ethnic groups. Even if our study does not have the strength or relevant information to give a detailed picture of changes in symptoms of mental health problems in various ethnic minorities, it points out ethnic minorities as a vulnerable group and gives the foundation for further research.

6.2.2.2 Physical activity in ethnic minority and ethnic Norwegians

We found no differences in physical activity between ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys. Among girls, ethnic Norwegians were more physically active than ethnic minorities, making ethnic minority girls the least active group. In all groups, there was a consistent reduction in mean hours of physical activity from 15 to 18 years.

When paper III was submitted, other epidemiological studies had also reported that ethnic minority girls were less physically active than their host counterparts (100;107;111;165;166), but only one of these papers was from Europe. During the last couple of years, a few papers have been published on a somewhat older population of Turkish and Moroccans in the Netherlands (167-169). Hosper et al (168) reported that Turkish and Moroccan young women were less physically active than Dutch young women (mean age 19.3-25 years). Non-western immigrant women in parts of the western world are also reported to be less physically active compared with the host population, in Norway (170) and in other European countries (166;171-173).

To our knowledge, the only European longitudinal study reporting physical activity in different ethnic groups of adolescents, compared mean hours of physical activity per week and concluded that the ethnic differences did not evolve over the teenage years (111). In addition to comparing mean changes in physical activity, we studied stability by

categorizing physical activity in two groups (0-2 h vs. 3 h or more) and measured the tendency of the subjects to report the same activity at the two time points. Ethnic minority girls was the largest group being physically active 0-2 hours at baseline (65%), and also the group with the largest relative amount of participants remaining in this fairly inactive group (82% of the 65%). Additionally, 54% of the ethnic minority girls who were physically active 3 hours or more at baseline reduced their activity level at follow-up (Paper III - figure 2).

The existing epidemiological literature seems to agree that young ethnic minority/immigrant females are less physically active than their counterpersons.

The possible role of religion and culture on the ethnic disparities in physical activity found in our data is discussed in paper III. Later publications have showed that cultural heritage impacts physical activity norms, attitudes, and patterns (174-176). Shuval et al (175) conclude that the disparity between Arab and Jewish students in Israel, with Arab Israeli being least physically active, might primarily stem from the Arab Israeli living in an extended family setting that deemphasises the importance of physical activity. Among Muslims, boys and girls have different opportunities for being physically active. Girls have more responsibility at home and less "freedom" than boys (174), and the importance of family-oriented interventions to increase physical activity in people from cultures high on "familism" is acknowledged (174;175). The importance of social support from family for being physically active was also highlighted in a paper studying Iranian female adolescents in Iran (176). The restrictions regarding exercising in public was pointed out, and the need for ethnic and gender specific interventions to increase physical activity among Iranian girls, and similar cultural groups, was emphasised.

The majority of ethnic minority adolescents in our study population had a non-Western background. However, the above discussed importance of cultural heritage emphasises that a more cultural/ethnic specific subclassification may be of importance in further studies.

6.2.2.3 The association between mental health and physical activity according to ethnicity

In paper I, we did not have a specific focus on ethnicity, and only adjusted for ethnic background. In paper II and III, ethnicity was given a broader focus, and when studying possible selection bias in paper IV separate analyses were done for ethnic Norwegian/Western and non-Western minorities. The cross-sectional association between physical activity and mental health at baseline among "all invited" and those participating in the follow-up study ("participants at follow-up") was similar in girls irrespective of ethnic background. This was overall true also for boys, even though the association estimate was less concurrent (table 5, paper IV).

We are aware of only one paper comparing ethnic groups when studying the association between physical activity and mental health among adolescents (30). This cross-sectional study compared Hispanic and non-Hispanic white girls in the US, and found no difference in the association between physical activity and feeling of sadness, or physical activity and considering and planning suicide (30).

We are not aware of any longitudinal studies focusing on the association between physical activity and mental health among host and immigrant adolescents. Given the findings in paper II and III, and the possible cultural explanations for the ethnic differences in both mental health and physical activity, the possible cultural impact on the association between changes in physical activity and mental health is yet to be explored.

6.2.3 Mental health and physical activity according to sociodemographic variables

Overall, few associations were found between physical activity and sociodemographic variables in both the cross-sectional and the longitudinal dataset (paper III). However, the few associations were more pronounced in girls than boys. There was no different effect of sociodemographic variables on changes in weekly hours of physical activity between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities.

Mental health was also weakly associated with sociodemographic factors in the crosssectional analyses at baseline (paper II). Perceived family economy was the only factor associated with mental health in both ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities. The association between the sociodemographic factors and changes in mental health did not differ between the ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities, and the sociodemographic measures hardly affected the change-estimates.

Associations between sociodemographic factors and health may not be equally apparent across the lifespan (177:178). West (177) reviewed the literature on social class patterning from childhood, through youth and into adulthood, concerning various dimensions of health (mortality, chronic illness, specific conditions, self rated health, acute illness, accidents/injuries and mental health). He hypothesised that the social class gradient seen in child- and adulthood equalises in youth, and concludes that the overall picture was consistent with his hypothesis, except for severe chronic illness. West (177) summarises that the majority of the literature on emotional problems showed no or only a weak association with social class parameters in adolescents. Some studies which used perceived "economic hardship" found a weak association, but the possibility of reversed causality was suggested. This may also be the case for the associations found in our study. A possible reason for the equalisation pattern discussed in the literature is that during secondary high-school years the peer group and youth culture cut across those of family, home background, and neighbourhood in such a way as to reduce or remove class differences in health (177;178). This may also be relevant for our findings, but we (only studied a few factors and) can not exclude that other measures of sociodemographic status would have revealed associations. The equalisation theory has also been challenged (179) and more differentiated according to various health outcomes and gender (180;181).

The above referred literature focused on health outcomes, and not health behaviour like physical activity. It may be that the increasing peer influence during adolescence also contributes to deflate the association between sociodemographic variables and physical activity. The lack of associations between the current sociodemographic variables and physical activity in paper III were more striking than the few associations found when considering all the factors studied. In paper III, we referred to reviews evaluating the association between various indexes of socioeconomic status and physical activity, which found that associations were dependent of the subgroup studied and the measures used (112-114). However, the reviews seemed to agree that there was an association were physical activity and socioeconomic factors in adolescence, but the associations were

perhaps not as robust as those in adulthood. One of the reviews also pointed out that associations may be stronger in girls than boys (112). A possible explanation for the gender difference discussed by Hanson et al (112) is that girls may be more likely to exercise if they are enrolled in a formal activity, such as dance classes and soccer practice (182). As a result, girls of low socioeconomic status may be hindered in their access to such activities, and thus engage in lower levels of physical activity than girls of high socioeconomic status. In contrast, males may engage in daily activity as a more natural part of their interaction with peers, hence differences in physical activity by socioeconomic status is less likely to appear (112). This might also explain why the few associations found in paper III were mainly among girls.

The results from our paper (III) give *some* support that West's equalisation theory (177) may also apply to health behaviour like weekly hours of physical activity. However, use of different measures like types of activities and/or membership in sports clubs could possibly have uncovered stronger associations (183;184).

When paper III was submitted, we were not aware of other studies reporting associations between sosiodemographic variables and change in physical activity during late teens. We are now aware of a few studies reporting such associations; two in the U.S. (100;185) and one from Slovakia (186). The first study from the U.S. followed girls and found that parents' education, but not income, was inversely associated with decline in activity through late adolescence (100). The second study found no different change between socioeconomic groups in hours of physical activity for either gender (185). However, when taking organised sport into consideration, a steeper decline in hours of physical activity was found among boys with low socioeconomic status joining organised sport, than among boys from the same socioeconomic group not doing any organised sport. Socioeconomic status was measured by an index based on parents' education, employment status and family's reception of public assistance (185). The Slovak study explored the amount not getting sufficient physical activity during late teens according to several socioeconomic factors, and found no associations in boys (186). Among girls, an increase in insufficient physical activity was seen among those with low education themselves, and low parental education and -occupational level (186).

These findings illustrate that results depend on the measures of both physical activity and socioeconomic status. Another important factor when comparing studies is that physical activity may be differently associated with socioeconomic status in different countries. However, the current literature indicates that socioeconomic factors are perhaps more strongly associated with some aspects of physical activity than the analyses and the discussions in paper III revealed.

7.0 Conclusions

The findings in paper I, II, III and IV support the following conclusions to the aims addressed in the present thesis:

- We found a weak inverse association between weekly hours of physical activity at age 15 and emotional- and peer problems three years later in boys. In girls, the associations did not persist after adjustments.
- Ethnic minorities reported overall more mental health problems than ethnic Norwegians of the same sex at both 15 and 18 years. No ethnic disparities were found for mean change in mental health from 15 to 18 years, and the current sociodemographic factors were not differently associated with changes in mental health between the ethnic groups.
- Among girls, ethnic Norwegians were more physically active than ethnic minorities. Ethnic minority girls were the least physically active group. No difference was found in physical activity between ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys. There was a consistent reduction in physical activity from 15 to 18 years in all groups, and sociodemographic factors were only marginally associated with this reduction.
- Non-western ethnicity, male gender and characteristics related to low social class and general- and mental health problems measured at baseline, were associated with lost to follow-up. Lost to follow-up had marginal impact on the estimated prevalence ratios in the present study.

8.0 Public health and research implications

Our findings concerning the longitudinal associations between physical activity and mental health indicate that physical activity may have a potential in prevention of mental health problems in subgroups of adolescents. Whether increased physical activity translates into reduction or lower increase of mental health problems in the general population of adolescents is still unknown. To demonstrate causal effects of physical activity on mental health outcomes, experimental intervention studies are needed. Large scale community trials are one way to study if physical activity may have an effect on mental health at a population-level. The fact that the health authorities in Norway have an action plan for promotion of physical activity, where a specific aim is to increase physical activity in schools, provides an opportunity for research on this topic. Inclusion of mental health measures in the evaluation of these programs may be one step towards providing a stronger evidence-base for the potential mental health effects of physical activity in a public health perspective.

The interventions aimed at increasing and sustaining physical activity among children and adolescents are crucial. Given the ethnic and gender difference in physical activity, interventions should be tailored to meet these subgroups' distinctive needs. Girls, especially those of ethnic minorities, need special attention.

Although observational longitudinal studies can not determine causal effects, such studies can provide some needed understanding of possible causal mechanisms and indentify possible targets for intervention in different subgroups of the population. More specifically, population based cohort studies can contribute to increase knowledge on associations between mental health and different aspects of physical activity in subgroups of e.g. ethnicity. Special attention to the cultural equivalence of methods of measurement is also needed.

References

- (1) World Health Organization. *The world health report 2002: Reducing risks, promoting healthy life*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- (2) US Dept.of Health and Human Services. *Physical activity and health: a report of the Surgeon General.* International Medical Publishing; 1996.
- (3) Strømme,SB (ed.). *Fysisk aktivitet og helse : anbefalinger*. Oslo: Statens råd for ernæring og fysisk aktivitet; 2000.
- (4) Dobbins M, DeCorby K, Robeson P, Husson H, Tirilis D. School-based physical activity programs for promoting physical activity and fitness in children and adolescents aged 6-18. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009.
- (5) Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet. *Resept for et sunnere Norge : folkehelsepolitikken*. St.meld.nr. 16 (2002-2003). Oslo: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet; 2003.
- (6) Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet. Sammen for fysisk aktivitet. [Oslo]: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet; 2004.
- (7) Ommundsen Y, Samdal O. Tiltak for økt fysisk aktivitet blant barn og ungdom: en systematisk litteraturgjennomgang med utgangspunkt i oversiktsstudier og et utvalg nyere enkeltstudier. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2008.
- (8) Utdanningsdirektoratet. Fysisk aktivitet og målltider i skolen. Oslo: Utdanningsdirektoratet; 2007.
- (9) World Health Organization. *Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health.* Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004.
- (10) Saxena S, Van Ommeren M, Tang KC, Armstrong TP. Mental health benefits of physical activity. J Ment Health 2005;14(5):445-51.
- (11) Fox KR. The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. *Public Health Nutr* 1999;2(3A):411-8.
- (12) Martinsen EW. *Physical fitness training in the treatment of patients with nonpsychotic mental disorders.* PhD thesis. University of Oslo; 1989.
- (13) Dishman RK, Heath GW, Washburn RA. Physical Activity and Mental Health. In: *Physical activity epidemiology*. Champaign, Ill.: Human Kinetics; 2004. p. 307-53.
- (14) Mutrie N. The relationship between physical activity and clinically defined depression. In: Biddle S, Fox KR, Boutcher SH (eds.). *Physical activity and psychological well-being*. New York: Routledge; 2000. p. 46-62.

- (15) Paluska SA, Schwenk TL. Physical activity and mental health. Current concepts. Sports Med 2000;29(3):167-80.
- (16) National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE). Depression: The treatment and management of depression in adults (update). Draft guidelines for consultation. London, UK: National Health Service; 2009.
- (17) O'Neal HA, Dunn AL, Martinsen EW. Depression and exercise. Int J Sport Psychol 2000;31(2):110-35.
- (18) Camacho TC, Roberts RE, Lazarus NB, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD. Physical activity and depression: evidence from the Alameda County Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1991;134(2):220-31.
- (19) Paffenbarger RS, Jr., Lee IM, Leung R. Physical activity and personal characteristics associated with depression and suicide in American college men. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl* 1994;377:16-22.
- (20) Farmer ME, Locke BZ, Moscicki EK, Dannenberg AL, Larson DB, Radloff LS. Physical activity and depressive symptoms: the NHANES I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1988;128(6):1340-51.
- (21) World Health Organization. *The world health report 2001 : mental health : new understanding, new hope.* Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.
- (22) Patel V, Flisher AJ, Hetrick S, McGorry P. Mental health of young people: a global public-health challenge. *Lancet* 2007;369(9569):1302-13.
- (23) Costello EJ, Egger H, Angold A. 10-year research update review: the epidemiology of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders: I. Methods and public health burden. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2005;44(10):972-86.
- (24) Mykletun A, Knudsen AK, Mathiesen KS. *Psykiske lidelser i Norge: et folkehelseperspektiv : del 1: voksne, del 2: barn og unge*. Oslo: Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt; Report No: 8, 2009.
- (25) Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet. Sammen om psykisk helse- : regjeringens strategiplan for barn og unges psykiske helse. Oslo: Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet; 2003.
- (26) Larun L, Nordheim L, V, Ekeland E, Hagen KB, Heian F. Exercise in prevention and treatment of anxiety and depression among children and young people. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006.
- (27) Steptoe A, Butler N. Sports participation and emotional wellbeing in adolescents. *Lancet* 1996;347(9018):1789-92.

- (28) Sanders CE, Field TM, Diego M, Kaplan M. Moderate involvement in sports is related to lower depression levels among adolescents. *Adolescence* 2000;35(140):793-7.
- (29) Unger JB. Physical activity, participation in team sports, and risk of suicidal behavior in adolescents. *Am J Health Promot* 1997;12(2):90-3.
- (30) Brosnahan J, Steffen LM, Lytle L, Patterson J, Boostrom A. The relation between physical activity and mental health among Hispanic and non-Hispanic white adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2004;158(8):818-23.
- (31) Piko BF, Keresztes N. Physical activity, psychosocial health, and life goals among youth. *J Community Health* 2006;31(2):136-45.
- (32) Kirkcaldy BD, Shephard RJ, Siefen RG. The relationship between physical activity and self-image and problem behaviour among adolescents. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2002;37(11):544-50.
- (33) Allison KR, Adlaf EM, Irving HM, Hatch JL, Smith TF, Dwyer JJ, et al. Relationship of vigorous physical activity to psychologic distress among adolescents. *J Adolesc Health* 2005;37(2):164-6.
- (34) Donaldson SJ, Ronan KR. The effects of sports participation on young adolescents' emotional well-being. *Adolescence* 2006;41(162):369-89.
- (35) Calfas KJ, Taylor WC. Effects of Physical-Activity on Psychological Variables in Adolescents. *Pediatric Exercise Science* 1994;6(4):406-23.
- (36) Ommundsen Y. [Can sports and physical activity promote young peoples' psychosocial health?]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2000;120(29):3573-7.
- (37) Page RM, Tucker LA. Psychosocial discomfort and exercise frequency: an epidemiological study of adolescents. *Adolescence* 1994;29(113):183-91.
- (38) Skogen K, Wichstrom L. Delinquency in the wilderness:patterns of outdoor recreation activities and conduct problems in the general adolescent population. *Leisure Studies* 1996;15:151-67.
- (39) Burton JM, Marshall LA. Protective factors for youth considered at risk of criminal behaviour: Does participation in extracurricular activities help? *Crim Behav Ment Health* 2005;15(1):46-64.
- (40) Mutrie N, Parfitt G. Physical activity and its link with mental, social and moral health in young people. In: Sallis JF, Cavill N, Biddle S (eds.). *Young and active?* : young people and health-enhancing physical activity evidence and implications. London: Health Education Authority; 1998. p. 49-68.

- (41) Sacker A, Cable N. Do adolescent leisure-time physical activities foster health and well-being in adulthood? Evidence from two British birth cohorts. *Eur J Public Health* 2006;16(3):332-6.
- (42) Wyshak G. Women's college physical activity and self-reports of physiciandiagnosed depression and of current symptoms of psychiatric distress. *J Womens Health Gend Based Med* 2001;10(4):363-70.
- (43) Cooper-Patrick L, Ford DE, Mead LA, Chang PP, Klag MJ. Exercise and depression in midlife: a prospective study. *Am J Public Health* 1997;87(4):670-3.
- (44) Motl RW, Birnbaum AS, Kubik MY, Dishman RK. Naturally occurring changes in physical activity are inversely related to depressive symptoms during early adolescence. *Psychosom Med* 2004;66(3):336-42.
- (45) Begg DJ, Langley JD, Moffitt T, Marshall SW. Sport and delinquency: an examination of the deterrence hypothesis in a longitudinal study. *Br J Sports Med* 1996;30(4):335-41.
- (46) Hallal PC, Victora CG, Azevedo MR, Wells JC. Adolescent physical activity and health: a systematic review. *Sports Med* 2006;36(12):1019-30.
- (47) Taylor WC, Blair SN, Cummings SS, Wun CC, Malina RM. Childhood and adolescent physical activity patterns and adult physical activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1999;31(1):118-23.
- (48) Sundgot-Borgen J, Torstveit MK. Prevalence of eating disorders in elite athletes is higher than in the general population. *Clin J Sport Med* 2004;14(1):25-32.
- (49) Eliakim A, Beyth Y. Exercise training, menstrual irregularities and bone development in children and adolescents. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2003;16(4):201-6.
- (50) Szabo A. Physical activity as a source of psychological dysfunction. In: Biddle S, Fox KR, Boutcher SH (eds.). *Physical activity and psychological well-being*. London: Routledge; 2000. p. 130-53.
- (51) Demorest RA, Landry GL. Training issues in elite young athletes. Current Sports Medicine Reports 2004;3(3):167-72.
- (52) Micheli LJ, Glassman R, Klein M. The prevention of sports injuries in children. *Clin Sports Med* 2000;19(4):821-34.
- (53) Raglin JS, Wilso GS, Galper D. Exercise and Its Effects on Mental Helth. In: Bouchard C, Blair SN, Haskell WL (eds.). *Physical activity and health*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2006. p. 248-59.
- (54) Faulkner G, Taylor A. Promoting physical activity for mental health: A complex intervention? *Ment Health Phys Act* 2009;(1):1-3.

- (55) Chaouloff F. The Serotonin Hypothesis. In: Morgan WP (ed.). *Physical Activity and Mental Health*. Washington, D.C.: Taylor & Francis; 1997. p. 179-98.
- (56) Dishman RK. The norepineephrine hypothesis. In: Morgan WP (ed.). *Physical activity and mental health*. Washington, D.C.: Taylor & Francis; 1997. p. 199-212.
- (57) Hoffman P. The endorphin hypothin hypothesis. In: Morgan WP (ed.). *Physical activity and mental health*. Washington, D.C.: Taylor & Francis; 1997. p. 163-78.
- (58) Koltyn KF. The thermogenic hypothesis. In: Morgan WP (ed.). *Physical activity and mental health*. Washington, D.C.: Taylor & Francis; 1997. p. 213-26.
- (59) Yongstedt SD, Freelove-Charton JD. Exercise and sleep. In: Faulkner GEJ, Taylor AH (eds.). *Exercise, health and mental health: emerging relationships*. New York: Routledge; 2005. p. 159-90.
- (60) Fox KR. The effect of exercise on self-perceptions and self-esteem. In: Biddle S, Fox KR, Boutcher SH (eds.). *Physical activity and psychological well-being*. New York: Routledge; 2000. p. 88-117.
- (61) Ekeland E, Heian F, Hagen KB, Abbott J, Nordheim L. Exercise to improve selfesteem in children and young people. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2004;(1).
- (62) Bandura A. Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioural change. *Psychol Rev* 1977;84(2):191-215.
- (63) Bahrke MS, Morgan WP. Anxiety reduction following exercise and meditation. Cognitive Therapy and Research 1978;2(4):323-33.
- (64) Coatler F. Sport, social inclution, and crime reduction. In: Faulkner GEJ, Taylor AH (eds.). *Exercise, health and mental health: emerging relationships*. New York: Routledge; 2005. p. 190-210.
- (65) Stryer BK, Tofler IR, Lapchick R. A developmental overview of child and youth sports in society. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am* 1998;7(4):697-724, vii.
- (66) Herrman H, Saxena S, Moodie Re. Promoting Mental Health: concepts, emerging evidence, practice : a report of the World Health Organization. Geneva: World Health Organization. Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse in collaboration with the Victorian Health Promotion Foundation and the University of Melbourne; 2005.
- (67) Costello EJ, Mustillo S, Erkanli A, Keeler G, Angold A. Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2003;60(8):837-44.
- (68) Roza SJ, Hofstra MB, van der Ende J, Verhulst FC. Stable prediction of mood and anxiety disorders based on behavioral and emotional problems in childhood: A

14-year follow-up during childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood. *Am J Psychiatry* 2003;160(12):2116-21.

- (69) Heiervang E, Stormark KM, Lundervold AJ, Heimann M, Goodman R, Posserud MB, et al. Psychiatric disorders in Norwegian 8- to 10-year-olds: an epidemiological survey of prevalence, risk factors, and service use. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2007;46(4):438-47.
- (70) Angold A, Erkanli A, Silberg J, Eaves L, Costello EJ. Depression scale scores in 8-17-year-olds: effects of age and gender. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2002;43(8):1052-63.
- (71) Storvoll EE, Wichstrom L. Gender differences in changes in and stability of conduct problems from early adolescence to early adulthood. *J Adolesc* 2003;26(4):413-29.
- (72) Wichstrom L. The emergence of gender difference in depressed mood during adolescence: the role of intensified gender socialization. *Dev Psychol* 1999;35(1):232-45.
- (73) Rutter M, Caspi A, Moffitt TE. Using sex differences in psychopathology to study causal mechanisms: unifying issues and research strategies. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2003;44(8):1092-115.
- (74) Costello EJ, Foley DL, Angold A. 10-year research update review: the epidemiology of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders: II. Developmental epidemiology. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2006;45(1):8-25.
- (75) Rutter M. Antisocial behavior by young people. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1998.
- (76) Oppedal B, Roysamb E. Mental health, life stress and social support among young Norwegian adolescents with immigrant and host national background. *Scand J Psychol* 2004;45(2):131-44.
- (77) Murad SD, Joung IM, van Lenthe FJ, gi-Arslan L, Crijnen AA. Predictors of self-reported problem behaviours in Turkish immigrant and Dutch adolescents in the Netherlands. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2003;44(3):412-23.
- (78) Janssen MM, Verhulst FC, gi-Arslan L, Erol N, Salter CJ, Crijnen AA. Comparison of self-reported emotional and behavioral problems in Turkish immigrant, Dutch and Turkish adolescents. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2004;39(2):133-40.
- (79) Vollebergh WA, ten HM, Dekovic M, Oosterwegel A, Pels T, Veenstra R, et al. Mental health in immigrant children in the Netherlands. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2005;40(6):489-96.

- (80) Klimidis S, Stuart G, Minas IH, Ata AW. Immigrant status and gender effects on psychopathology and self-concept in adolescents: a test of the migrationmorbidity hypothesis. *Compr Psychiatry* 1994;35(5):393-404.
- (81) Munroe-Blum H, Boyle MH, Offord DR, Kates N. Immigrant children: psychiatric disorder, school performance, and service utilization. *Am J Orthopsychiatry* 1989;59(4):510-9.
- (82) Stansfeld SA, Haines MM, Head JA, Bhui K, Viner R, Taylor SJ, et al. Ethnicity, social deprivation and psychological distress in adolescents: school-based epidemiological study in east London. *Br J Psychiatry* 2004;185:233-8.
- (83) Davies LC, McKelvey RS. Emotional and behavioural problems and competencies among immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 1998;32(5):658-65.
- (84) Maynard MJ, Harding S, Minnis H. Psychological well-being in Black Caribbean, Black African, and White adolescents in the UK Medical Research Council DASH study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2007;42(9):759-69.
- (85) Stevens GW, Pels T, gi-Arslan L, Verhulst FC, Vollebergh WA, Crijnen AA. Parent, teacher and self-reported problem behavior in The Netherlands: comparing Moroccan immigrant with Dutch and with Turkish immigrant children and adolescents. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2003;38(10):576-85.
- (86) Stevens GW, Vollebergh WAM. Mental health in migrant children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2008;49(3):276-94.
- (87) Harris KM, Gordon-Larsen P, Chantala K, Udry JR. Longitudinal trends in race/ethnic disparities in leading health indicators from adolescence to young adulthood. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2006;160(1):74-81.
- (88) van Oort FV, Joung IM, Mackenbach JP, Verhulst FC, gi-Arslan L, Crijnen AA, et al. Development of ethnic disparities in internalizing and externalizing problems from adolescence into young adulthood. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2007;48(2):176-84.
- (89) Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep* 1985;100(2):126-31.
- (90) Shephard RJ. Limits to the measurement of habitual physical activity by questionnaires. *Br J Sports Med* 2003;37(3):197-206.
- (91) Boreham C, Riddoch C. The physical activity, fitness and health of children. J Sports Sci 2001;19(12):915-29.

- (92) Allison KR, Adlaf EM, Dwyer JJ, Lysy DC, Irving HM. The decline in physical activity among adolescent students: a cross-national comparison. *Can J Public Health* 2007;98(2):97-100.
- (93) Riddoch CJ, Bo AL, Wedderkopp N, Harro M, Klasson-Heggebo L, Sardinha LB, et al. Physical activity levels and patterns of 9- and 15-yr-old European children. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2004;36(1):86-92.
- (94) Trost SG, Pate RR, Sallis JF, Freedson PS, Taylor WC, Dowda M, et al. Age and gender differences in objectively measured physical activity in youth. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2002;34(2):350-5.
- (95) Telama R, Yang X, Laakso L, Viikari J. Physical activity in childhood and adolescence as predictor of physical activity in young adulthood. *Am J Prev Med* 1997;13(4):317-23.
- (96) Aarnio M, Winter T, Peltonen J, Kujala UM, Kaprio J. Stability of leisure-time physical activity during adolescence--a longitudinal study among 16-, 17- and 18year-old Finnish youth. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2002;12(3):179-85.
- (97) Nelson MC, Neumark-Stzainer D, Hannan PJ, Sirard JR, Story M. Longitudinal and secular trends in physical activity and sedentary behavior during adolescence. *Pediatrics* 2006;118(6):1627-34.
- (98) Telama R, Yang X. Decline of physical activity from youth to young adulthood in Finland. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000;32(9):1617-22.
- (99) Anderssen N, Wold B, Torsheim T. Tracking of physical activity in adolescence. *Res Q Exerc Sport* 2005;76(2):119-29.
- (100) Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, Barton BA, Kronsberg SS, Daniels SR, et al. Decline in physical activity in black girls and white girls during adolescence. N Engl J Med 2002;347(10):709-15.
- (101) van Mechelen W, Twisk JW, Post GB, Snel J, Kemper HC. Physical activity of young people: the Amsterdam Longitudinal Growth and Health Study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000;32(9):1610-6.
- (102) Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, Fitzgerald SL, Aaron DJ, Similo SL, et al. Longitudinal changes in physical activity in a biracial cohort during adolescence. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2000;32(8):1445-54.
- (103) McMurray RG, Harrell JS, Bangdiwala SI, Hu J. Tracking of physical activity and aerobic power from childhood through adolescence. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2003;35(11):1914-22.
- (104) Kristensen PL, Moller NC, Korsholm L, Wedderkopp N, Andersen LB, Froberg K. Tracking of objectively measured physical activity from childhood to

adolescence: The European youth heart study. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 2007;18(2):171-8.

- (105) Kolle E. Physical activity pattern, aerobic fitness and body composition in Norwegian children and adolescents: the Physical Activity among Norwegian Children Study. PhD. Norwegian School of Sport Sciences; 2009.
- (106) Currie,C (ed.). Inequalities in young people's health: HBSC international report from the 2005/2006 survey. Geneve: World Health Organization; 2008.
- (107) Johnston LD, Delva J, O'Malley PM. Sports participation and physical education in American secondary schools: current levels and racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities. *Am J Prev Med* 2007;33(4 Suppl):S195-S208.
- (108) Felton GM, Dowda M, Ward DS, Dishman RK, Trost SG, Saunders R, et al. Differences in physical activity between black and white girls living in rural and urban areas. *J Sch Health* 2002;72(6):250-5.
- (109) Fahlman MM, Hall HL, Lock R. Ethnic and socioeconomic comparisons of fitness, activity levels, and barriers to exercise in high school females. J Sch Health 2006;76(1):12-7.
- (110) Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM. Determinants of adolescent physical activity and inactivity patterns. *Pediatrics* 2000;105(6):E83.
- (111) Brodersen NH, Steptoe A, Boniface DR, Wardle J. Trends in physical activity and sedentary behaviour in adolescence: ethnic and socioeconomic differences. *Br J Sports Med* 2007;41(3):140-4.
- (112) Hanson MD, Chen E. Socioeconomic status and health behaviors in adolescence: a review of the literature. *J Behav Med* 2007;30(3):263-85.
- (113) Ferreira I, Van Der HK, Wendel-Vos W, Kremers S, van Lenthe FJ, Brug J. Environmental correlates of physical activity in youth - a review and update. *Obes Rev* 2007;8(2):129-54.
- (114) van Der Horst K., Paw MJ, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W. A brief review on correlates of physical activity and sedentariness in youth. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2007;39(8):1241-50.
- (115) Sogaard AJ, Eie T. The Oslo Health Study (HUBRO) The Youth part (UNGHUBRO): Methods. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.fhi.no/dav/831c96A203.doc</u> [Accessed 8 May 2006].
- (116) Sagatun Å, Søgaard AJ, Bjertness E. Youth 2004: Methods. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.fhi.no/dav/A34847D246.pdf</u> [Accessed 28 Aug. 2006].
- (117) Goodman R. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997;38(5):581-6.

- (118) youthinmin. Information for researchers and professionals about the Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaires. [Online]. Available from: <u>Available at:</u> <u>http://www.sdqinfo.com/</u> [Accessed 2 Apr. 2006].
- (119) van Roy B., Groholt B, Heyerdahl S, Clench-Aas J. Self-reported strengths and difficulties in a large Norwegian population 10-19 years : age and gender specific results of the extended SDQ-questionnaire. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2006;15(4):189-98.
- (120) van Roy B., Veenstra M, Clench-Aas J. Construct validity of the five-factor Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in pre-, early, and late adolescence. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2008;49(12):1304-12.
- (121) Heyerdahl S. Måling av psykisk helse (SDQ)- ulike spørreskjemaversjoner. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.fhi.no/dokumenter/79c80a226c.pdf</u> [Accessed 8 Dec. 2009].
- (122) Oppedal B, Roysamb E, Heyerdahl S. Ethnic group, acculturation, and psychiatric problems in young immigrants. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2005;46(6):646-60.
- (123) Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001;40(11):1337-45.
- (124) Ronning JA, Handegaard BH, Sourander A, Morch WT. The Strengths and Difficulties Self-Report Questionnaire as a screening instrument in Norwegian community samples. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2004;13(2):73-82.
- (125) American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed)*. Washington, DC: 1994.
- (126) Goodman R, Meltzer H, Bailey V. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a pilot study on the validity of the self-report version. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 1998;7(3):125-30.
- (127) Lien L, Haavet OR, Thoresen M, Heyerdahl S, Bjertness E. Mental health problems, negative life events, perceived pressure and the frequency of acute infections among adolescents. Results from a cross-sectional, multicultural, population-based study. *Acta Paediatr* 2007;96(2):301-6.
- (128) Bird HR, Yager TJ, Staghezza B, Gould MS, Canino G, Rubio-Stipec M. Impairment in the epidemiological measurement of childhood psychopathology in the community. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1990;29(5):796-803.
- (129) Goodman R. The extended version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire as a guide to child psychiatric caseness and consequent burden. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 1999;40(5):791-9.

- (130) Strand BH, Dalgard OS, Tambs K, Rognerud M. Measuring the mental health status of the Norwegian population: a comparison of the instruments SCL-25, SCL-10, SCL-5 and MHI-5 (SF-36). *Nord J Psychiatry* 2003;57(2):113-8.
- (131) Glass RM, Allan AT, Uhlenhuth EH, Kimball CP, Borinstein DI. Psychiatric screening in a medical clinic. An evaluation of a self-report inventory. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1978;35(10):1189-95.
- (132) Derogatis LR, Lipman RS, Rickels K, Uhlenhuth EH, Covi L. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): a self-report symptom inventory. *Behav Sci* 1974;19(1):1-15.
- (133) Sallis JF, Strikmiller PK, Harsha DW, Feldman HA, Ehlinger S, Stone EJ, et al. Validation of interviewer- and self-administered physical activity checklists for fifth grade students. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1996;28(7):840-51.
- (134) Janz KF, Witt J, Mahoney LT. The stability of children's physical activity as measured by accelerometry and self-report. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 1995;27(9):1326-32.
- (135) Siconolfi SF, Lasater TM, Snow RC, Carleton RA. Self-reported physical activity compared with maximal oxygen uptake. *Am J Epidemiol* 1985;122(1):101-5.
- (136) Booth ML, Okely AD, Chey T, Bauman A. The reliability and validity of the physical activity questions in the WHO health behaviour in schoolchildren (HBSC) survey: a population study. *Br J Sports Med* 2001;35(4):263-7.
- (137) Lie B. Immigration and immigrants 2002. Oslo: Statistisk sentralbyrå; 2002.
- (138) Statistics Norway. Norwegian Standard Classification of Education (NOS C 751).
 [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.ssb.no/english/subjects/04/90/nos_c751_en/nos_c751_en.pdf</u> [Accessed 1 Jan. 2008].
- (139) Statistics Norway. Income and Property Statistics for Households 2002 (NOS D 310). [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.ssb.no/emner/05/01/nos_inntektformue/nos_d310/nos_d310.pdf</u> [Accessed 1 Feb. 2008].
- (140) Rognerud M, Stensvold I. Oslohelsa. Utredning om helse, miljø og sosial ulikhet i bydelene (The Oslo Health Repport. Report about health, environment and social inequality in the local districts). Oslo: Centre of Preventive Medicine, Ullevål University Hospital; 1998.
- (141) Rothman KJ. Modern epidemiology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- (142) Szklo M. Epidemiology: beyond the basics. Sudbury: Jones and Bartlett; 2007.

- (143) Rothman KJ. *Epidemiology: an introduction*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2002.
- (144) Magnus P, Bakketeig LS. Epidemiologi. Oslo: Gyldendal akademisk; 2003.
- (145) Thoresen M. Målefeil i regresjonsanalyse. Norsk Epidemiologi 2003;13(2):257-63.
- (146) Wiles NJ, Jones GT, Haase AM, Lawlor DA, Macfarlane GJ, Lewis G. Physical activity and emotional problems amongst adolescents : a longitudinal study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2008;43(10):765-72.
- (147) Sogaard AJ, Selmer R, Bjertness E, Thelle D. The Oslo Health Study: The impact of self-selection in a large, population-based survey. *Int J Equity Health* 2004;3(1):3.
- (148) de Winter AF, Oldehinkel AJ, Veenstra R, Brunnekreef JA, Verhulst FC, Ormel J. Evaluation of non-response bias in mental health determinants and outcomes in a large sample of pre-adolescents. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2005;20(2):173-81.
- (149) Brøgger J, Bakke P, Eide GE, Gulsvik A. Contribution of follow-up of nonresponders to prevalence and risk estimates: a Norwegian respiratory health survey. *Am J Epidemiol* 2003;157(6):558-66.
- (150) Selmer R, Søgaard AJ, Bjertness E, Telle D. The Oslo Health Study: Reminding the non-responders - effects on prevalence estimates. *Norsk Epidemiologi* 2003;13(1):89-94.
- (151) Allott K, Chanen A, Yuen HP. Attrition bias in longitudinal research involving adolescent psychiatric outpatients. *J Nerv Ment Dis* 2006;194(12):958-61.
- (152) Ystgaard M, Tambs K, Dalgard OS. Life stress, social support and psychological distress in late adolescence: a longitudinal study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 1999;34(1):12-9.
- (153) Kristensen P. [Bias from dependent errors in observational studies]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2005;125(2):173-5.
- (154) Thoresen M. A note on correlated errors in exposure and outcome in logistic regression. Am J Epidemiol 2007;166(4):465-71.
- (155) Sallis JF, Saelens BE. Assessment of Physical Activity by Self-Report: Status, Limitations and Future Directions. *Res Q Exerc Sport* 2000;71(2):1-14.
- (156) Warnecke RB, Johnson TP, Chavez N, Sudman S, O'Rourke DP, Lacey L, et al. Improving question wording in surveys of culturally diverse populations. *Ann Epidemiol* 1997;7(5):334-42.
- (157) Hong X, Li J, Xu F, Tse LA, Liang Y, Wang Z, et al. Physical activity inversely associated with the presence of depression among urban adolescents in regional China. *BMC Public Health* 2009;9:148.
- (158) Valois RF, Umstattd MR, Zullig KJ, Paxton RJ. Physical activity behaviors and emotional self-efficacy: is there a relationship for adolescents? *J Sch Health* 2008;78(6):321-7.
- (159) Ussher MH, Owen CG, Cook DG, Whincup PH. The relationship between physical activity, sedentary behaviour and psychological wellbeing among adolescents. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2007;42(10):851-6.
- (160) Kantomaa MT, Tammelin TH, Ebeling HE, Taanila AM. Emotional and behavioral problems in relation to physical activity in youth. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2008;40(10):1749-56.
- (161) Desha LN, Ziviani JM, Nicholson JM, Martin G, Darnell RE. Physical activity and depressive symptoms in American adolescents. *J Sport Exerc Psychol* 2007;29(4):534-43.
- (162) Strohle A, Hofler M, Pfister H, Muller AG, Hoyer J, Wittchen HU, et al. Physical activity and prevalence and incidence of mental disorders in adolescents and young adults. *Psychol Med* 2007;37(11):1657-66.
- (163) Clark C, Haines MM, Head J, Klineberg E, Arephin M, Viner R, et al. Psychological symptoms and physical health and health behaviours in adolescents: A prospective 2-year study in East London. *Addiction* 2007;102(1):126-35.
- (164) Oppedal B, Roysamb E. Young Muslim immigrants in Norway: An epidemiological study of their psychosocial adaptation and internalizing problems. *Appl Dev Sci* 2007;11(3):112-25.
- (165) Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM. Adolescent physical activity and inactivity vary by ethnicity: The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. J Pediatr 1999;135(3):301-6.
- (166) McArthur LH, Raedeke TD. Race and sex differences in college student physical activity correlates. *Am J Health Behav* 2009;33(1):80-90.
- (167) Hosper K, Klazinga NS, Stronks K. Acculturation does not necessarily lead to increased physical activity during leisure time: a cross-sectional study among Turkish young people in the Netherlands. *BMC Public Health* 2007;7:230.
- (168) Hosper K, Nierkens V, Nicolaou M, Stronks K. Behavioural risk factors in two generations of non-Western migrants: do trends converge towards the host population? *Eur J Epidemiol* 2007;22(3):163-72.

- (169) Hosper K, Nierkens V, van V, I, Stronks K. Motivational factors mediating the association between acculturation and participation in sport among young Turkish and Moroccan women in the Netherlands. *Prev Med* 2008;47(1):95-100.
- (170) Jenum AK, Holme I, Graff-Iversen S, Birkeland KI. Ethnicity and sex are strong determinants of diabetes in an urban Western society: implications for prevention. *Diabetologia* 2005;48(3):435-9.
- (171) Dawson AJ, Sundquist J, Johansson SE. The influence of ethnicity and length of time since immigration on physical activity. *Ethn Health* 2005;10(4):293-309.
- (172) Lindstrom M, Sundquist J. Immigration and leisure-time physical inactivity: a population-based study. *Ethn Health* 2001;6(2):77-85.
- (173) Sproston K, Mindell J. Health Survey for England 2004: The health of minority ethnic groups. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-datacollections/health-and-lifestyles-related-surveys/health-survey-for-england/healthsurvey-for-england-2004:-health-of-ethnic-minorities--full-report [Accessed 18 Aug. 2009].</u>
- (174) Ramanathan S, Crocker PR. The influence of family and culture on physical activity among female adolescents from the Indian diaspora. *Qual Health Res* 2009;19(4):492-503.
- (175) Shuval K, Weissblueth E, Brezis M, Araida A, Dipietro L. Individual and socioecological correlates of physical activity among Arab and Jewish college students in Israel. *J Phys Act Health* 2009;6(3):306-14.
- (176) Taymoori P, Rhodes RE, Berry TR. Application of a social cognitive model in explaining physical activity in Iranian female adolescents. *Health Educ Res* 2008.
- (177) West P. Health inequalities in the early years: Is there equalisation in youth? *Soc Sci Med* 1997;44(6):833-58.
- (178) Chen E, Matthews KA, Boyce WT. Socioeconomic differences in children's health: how and why do these relationships change with age? *Psychol Bull* 2002;128(2):295-329.
- (179) Power C, Matthews S. Origins of health inequalities in a national population sample. *Lancet* 1997;350(9091):1584-9.
- (180) West P, Sweeting H. Evidence on equalisation in health in youth from the West of Scotland. Soc Sci Med 2004;59(1):13-27.
- (181) Chen E, Martin AD, Matthews KA. Socioeconomic status and health: do gradients differ within childhood and adolescence? *Soc Sci Med* 2006;62(9):2161-70.

- (182) Vilhjalmsson R, Kristjansdottir G. Gender differences in physical activity in older children and adolescents: the central role of organized sport. *Soc Sci Med* 2003;56(2):363-74.
- (183) Kantomaa MT, Tammelin TH, Nayha S, Taanila AM. Adolescents' physical activity in relation to family income and parents' education. *Prev Med* 2007;44(5):410-5.
- (184) Strandbu Å, Bakken A. Aktiv Oslo-ungdom: en studie av idrett, minoritetsbakgrunn og kjønn. Oslo: Norsk institutt for forskning om oppvekst, velferd og aldring; Report No: 2/07, 2007.
- (185) Walters S, Barr-Anderson DJ, Wall M, Neumark-Sztainer D. Does participation in organized sports predict future physical activity for adolescents from diverse economic backgrounds? *J Adolesc Health* 2009;44(3):268-74.
- (186) Salonna F, van Dijk JP, Geckova AM, Sleskova M, Groothoff JW, Reijneveld SA. Social inequalities in changes in health-related behaviour among Slovak adolescents aged between 15 and 19: a longitudinal study. *BMC Public Health* 2008;8:57.

Errata

Paper I:

Table 1: Alcohol last year. The most frequent category; "2-3 times per week" is missing "or more" in the label.

Statistical methods: It is written that analyses were done separately by gender. In the description of SDQ, gender differences are tested. Gender differences in the associations between physical activity and covariates are also tested.

Paper II:

Statistical methods: It is written that analyses were done separately by gender. In table 2 gender differences are tested.

Paper III:

In the flow chart, the correct number from the baseline study in Oslo who had reservations against being contacted again should be 173 (not 166).

Paper IV:

Mother's and father's education from SSB's register on education (2002) was used, in the submitted script (paper IV) 2000 is written – (it will be changed in the final version).

BMC Public Health

Research article

BioMed Central

Open Access

The association between weekly hours of physical activity and mental health: A three-year follow-up study of 15–16-year-old students in the city of Oslo, Norway

Aase Sagatun^{*1}, Anne Johanne Søgaard^{2,3}, Espen Bjertness³, Randi Selmer² and Sonja Heyerdahl¹

Address: ¹Research Department, Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, PB 4623 Nydalen, 0405 Oslo, Norway, ²Division of Epidemiology, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, PB 4404 Nydalen, 0403 Oslo, Norway and ³Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, Institute of General Practice and Community Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, PB 1130 Blindern, 0318 Oslo, Norway

Email: Aase Sagatun* - aase.sagatun@r-bup.no; Anne Johanne Søgaard - anne.johanne.sogaard@fhi.no; Espen Bjertness - espen.bjertness@medisin.uio.no; Randi Selmer - randi.selmer@fhi.no; Sonja Heyerdahl - sonja.heyerdahl@r-bup.no * Corresponding author

Published: 12 July 2007

BMC Public Health 2007, 7:155 doi:10.1186/1471-2458-7-155

This article is available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/7/155

© 2007 Sagatun et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: 4 October 2006 Accepted: 12 July 2007

Abstract

Background: Mental health problems are a worldwide public health burden. The literature concerning the mental health benefits from physical activity among adults has grown. Adolescents are less studied, and especially longitudinal studies are lacking. This paper investigates the associations between weekly hours of physical activity at age 15–16 and mental health three years later.

Methods: Longitudinal self-reported health survey. The baseline study consisted of participants from the youth section of the Oslo Health Study, carried out in schools in 2000–2001 (n = 3811). The follow-up in 2003–2004 was conducted partly at school and partly through mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated in the follow-up. Mental health was measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire with an impact supplement. Physical activity was measured by a question on weekly hours of physical activity outside of school, defined as exertion 'to an extent that made you sweat and/or out of breath'. Adjustments were made for well-documented confounders and mental health at baseline.

Results: In boys, the number of hours spent on physical activity per week at age 15-16 was negatively associated with emotional symptoms [B (95%CI) = -0.09 (-0.15, -0.03)] and peer problems [B (95%CI) = -0.08 (-0.14, -0.03)] at age 18-19 after adjustments. In girls, there were no significant differences in SDQ subscales at age 18-19 according to weekly hours of physical activity at age 15-16 after adjustments. Boys and girls with five to seven hours of physical activity per week at age 15-16 had the lowest mean scores for total difficulties and the lowest percentage with high impact score at age 18-19, but the differences were not statistically significant after adjustments.

Conclusion: Weekly hours of physical activity at age 15–16 years was weakly associated with mental health at three-year follow-up in boys. Results encourage a search for further knowledge about physical activity as a possible protective factor in relation to mental health problems in adolescence.

Background

Mental health problems are a worldwide public health burden. They decrease the quality of life and substantially increase health care costs. At any given time, one in eight children have an impairing psychiatric disorder [1], and considerably more adolescents report psychiatric symptoms [2]. The fact that symptoms of mental distress are frequent and cause significant impairment underlines the importance of knowledge about risk and protective factors in relation to mental health problems.

The documented benefits from regular physical activity for psychological well being in adults include improved mood states, enhanced self-perception and self-esteem [3]. Further, exercise has been recommended as a tool in therapy for mild to moderate depression and anxiety [3,4]. Several mechanisms have been hypothesized. Biochemical mechanisms which include release of endorphins, and increased serotonin and norepinephrine synthesis have been suggested, but methodological problems have prevented the link to mental health effects in humans [3,5,6]. Another hypothesis is that exercise reduces emotional strain and serves as a buffer against stressful events. In addition, participation in regular physical exercise programs may convey a sense of mastery and increased self-esteem [7-9]. Participation in sport and exercise groups may also provide social interaction and promote social support. Most studies reporting mental health effects of physical activity deal with relationships between physical activity and mental health within short time frames [3,4]. Little is known about the long-term effects of physical activity on the risk of developing mental health problems [4]. The small known number of prospective studies of adults concludes that inactivity is an independent predictor of depressive disorder and that physical activity protects against depression [10-15]. One study of women reports a negative association between athletic activity in college and depression 15 years later [15]. Others could not find evidence that exercise reduces the risk of depression [16] or anxiety [10,13]. Some population-based studies focus on the relation between physical activity and mental health in adolescents, but most of them are cross sectional [17-21]. The only, to our knowledge, population-based longitudinal study in young teens (7th to 8th grade) reported an association between reduced physical activity and increased depressive symptoms [22]. Thus, knowledge of the association between physical activity and various dimensions of mental health in a longitudinal perspective are lacking. In a review of the dose-response effects of physical activity on depression and anxiety, the authors noted the lack of studies focusing on frequency or duration of physical activity and symptoms of mental health problems [23]. Although both physical activity and mental health problems in adolescence differ by gender, results are rarely reported separately for boys and girls. Thus, little is known of the relationships between different amounts of physical activity in mid-teens and various mental health outcomes over time, and whether the associations differ by gender.

The aim of the present study was to investigate how numbers of weekly hours of physical activity in boys and girls at age 15–16 are associated with mental health three years later.

Methods

Baseline study

All 10th graders in Oslo during the school years 1999-2000 and 2000-2001 were invited to enter the youth component of the Oslo Health Study, a questionnaire study conducted in schools. All parents received written information and the students completed a consent form before participation. The students completed the two questionnaires during two school classes. A project assistant was present in the classroom to inform the students about the survey and to administer the questionnaires. Questionnaires were left at school to be completed by students not present on the day of the survey. Those who did not respond were sent a copy by mail to their home address, together with a prestamped, return envelope. A more detailed description has been published elsewhere [24]. From the total population of 15-16-year-olds, 7343 (88%) participated. Those participating in 2000–2001 (n = 3811) constituted the baseline of our longitudinal study and were invited again in 2004.

Follow-up study

The follow-up study was carried out partly as a schoolbased survey and partly through mail. The study is described more thoroughly elsewhere [25]. The procedure of the school-based part of the study was similar to the baseline. All the 32 secondary high schools in Oslo took part and the final year students filled out one questionnaire during one school class.

The participants in the baseline study (2000–2001) who were not enrolled in the final year of secondary high school in Oslo and who had consented to participate in a follow-up were invited by mail to participate. The invitation included an invitation letter, an information brochure, a consent form, the questionnaire and a prestamped return envelope. Two reminders were sent to those who did not respond.

Study population

From the participants in the baseline study (3811), 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated in the follow-up with consent to link data from the two surveys. Students reporting motor disabilities at baseline were excluded (n = 56). Only adolescents who had participated in both sur-

veys were included in the analysis (n = 2433) [see Additional file 1]. Those who did not respond in the follow-up were characterized at baseline by higher mean (SD) SDQ total (10.8 (4.9) vs. 9.6 (4.8), p < 0.001) and lower physical activity levels (p < 0.001). The association between SDQ total score and physical activity at baseline among the responders and non-responders was similar ($p^{(interaction)} = 0.725$).

Measures

Mental health

We used the self-report version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) [26]. The SDQ has been used in large number of studies during the last ten years, including the British Child and Adolescent Mental Health Survey [27], The US National Health Interview Survey [28], and several large Norwegian epidemiological studies [29]. The SDQ is a 25-item screening questionnaire with five scales, each consisting of five items, generating scores for emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, peer problems, and prosocial behaviour. Each item can be answered with 'not true' (0), 'somewhat true' (1) or 'certainly true' (2). The first four problem scales are summed to generate a total difficulties score. SDQ is designed and validated for youngsters (11-16 years), but SDQ has also been used for older youths [29]. In the follow-up questionnaire minor linguistic changes were made in accordance with the approved Norwegian translation. The internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the various SDQ scales at baseline and follow-up were: 0.73, 0.77 for the total difficulties score; 0.70, 0.73 for emotional symptoms; 0.47, 0.38 for conduct problems; 0.54, 0.65 for hyperactivity-inattention; 0.53, 0.57 for peer problems; and 0.64, 0.61 for prosocial behaviour. In accordance with other studies, the Cronbach's alpha values were low for some of the subscales [30], particularly for conduct problems [31]. The problem scales are based on current nosological concepts [30]. Conduct problem items cover selected essential criteria for oppositional defiant disorder and conduct disorder [32]. A large validation study found that a high score on the self-report conduct problems was associated with an odds ratio of 7.1 for having conduct or oppositional-defiant disorder [30]. The self-report version of SDQ has also shown satisfactory discrimination between community and clinical samples [33].

Many young people with high psychiatric symptoms score in epidemiological studies, are not significantly socially impaired by their symptoms [34]. To get a better indication of influence of the symptoms an impact supplement has been made [35]. This supplement was included in our follow-up survey and starts with a question on whether the respondent thinks he or she has a problem. If so, further enquiries are made about chronicity, overall distress, social impairment and burden to the environment. The impact questions have four response categories: no (0), little (0), quite a lot (1), a great deal (2). The items concerning overall distress and social impairment related to family, friends, learning situation and leisure activities generate a total impact score, ranging between 0 and 10. A validation study finds that the impact scores discriminate between a clinical and a community sample, and that impact scores were better than symptoms scores at discriminating between the two samples [35]. Goodman defines a score of two or more as 'abnormal' or 'caseness' and a score of one as borderline [35]. The variable is dichotomized into high (\geq 1) and low (<1) scores when conducting logistic regression.

Weekly hours of physical activity in leisure time

Participants were asked how many hours per week they spend on physical activity 'to an extent that make you sweat and/or out of breath'; 0, 1–2, 3–4, 5–7, 8–10, or 11 hours or more per week. When studying the relationship between physical activity and mental health by variance analysis and logistic regression, physical activity was recoded into four groups (0, 1–4, 5–7 and ≥8 hours per week). The six original categories were included as an ordinal variable coded 1,2,..6 in multiple linear regression.

Confounding factors

Adjustments were done for well-documented confounding factors: ethnic background, family economy, smoking, and use of alcohol [36-39]. Of the study population, 20% reported an ethnic minority background, defined as those having both parents born in a country other than Norway [40]. The family economic status was characterized as 'very bad/bad', 'good' or 'very good' based on a question comparing the family economy with other families in Norway. Alcohol consumption was measured by asking how often in course of the past year the person had drunk alcohol, and coded into six categories (Table 1). Smoking habits were categorized into 'never/quit', 'once in a while' and 'daily'.

Because the study was conducted partly in school and partly by mail, we created a variable, 'Invitation group', categorizing mail or school participation.

Ethics

Both protocols were evaluated by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics and were approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate. The baseline study, and the part of the follow-up study carried out in the schools, received approval from the school authorities in Oslo.

Characteristics at age 15-16	Boys		Girls		
	n = 1085*	%	n = 1348*	%	þ, gender
Invitation group					0.489
In school	913	84.I	1148	85.2	
By mail	172	15.9	200	14.8	
Ethnic background					0.099
Ethnic Norwegian	879	81.5	1057	78.8	
Ethnic minority	200	18.5	285	21.2	
Family economic status					0.047
Very bad/Bad	285	26.6	399	30.2	
Good	634	59.2	771	58.3	
Very good	152	14.2	152	11.5	
Alcohol use last year					0.094
2-3 times per week	42	3.9	51	3.8	
Once per week	137	12.9	204	15.4	
2–3 times per month	233	21.9	245	18.5	
Once per month	94	8.8	128	9.6	
A few times	247	23.2	342	25.8	
Not at all	3/3	29.4	357	26.9	
Smoking					<0.001
No	844	78.2	939	70.0	
Once in a while	152	14.1	232	17.3	
Yes, daily	83	7.7	171	12.7	
Physical activity					<0.001
0 hours per week	82	7.6	143	10.6	
I-2 hours per week	202	18.8	418	31.0	
3–4 hours per week	223	20.7	361	26.8	
5–7 hours per week	263	24.4	234	17.4	
8–10 hours per week	187	17.4	96	7.1	
II hours or more per week	120	11.1	60	4.5	

Table 1: Baseline characteristics of participants in the youth part of the Oslo Health Study (2000-2001) who participated in the followup in 2004.

*The numbers who answered the different questions differ somewhat.

Statistical methods

In addition to descriptive statistics, paired and un-paired t-testes, we used the GLM Repeated Measure to test if change in SDQ in the follow-up period differed between boys and girls. One-way ANCOVA between-groups analysis of covariance was used to test if the SDQ subscales in the follow-up varied by weekly hours of physical activity $(0, 1-4, 5-7 \text{ or } \ge 8)$ at baseline. Invitation group, ethnic background, family economy, smoking and alcohol use, and the respective SDQ subscale at baseline were collectively entered as covariates. Results are given as adjusted means with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). To test the linearity of the associations described in the ANOVA/ ANCOVA we performed multiple linear regression. To test a nonlinear association between physical activity and mental health, physical activity squared [(physical activity)²] was included in the model. Logistic regression was conducted to study how those with high total impact score at follow-up varied between the four groups of physical activity at baseline. All analyses were done separately for boys and girls. Calculations were performed in SPSS 13.

Results

Baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. There was no gender difference in ethnic background, invitation group and alcohol consumption. Girls perceived their family economic status to be slightly worse than did boys. Girls were more often daily or 'once in a while' smokers than boys, and boys spent more hours per week on physical activity compared with girls (Table 1).

At baseline, girls reported more overall mental health difficulties (SDQ total difficulties), emotional symptoms and hyperactivity-inattention problems than boys. Girls also reported more prosocial behaviour than boys, whereas boys reported more conduct problems and peer problems than girls (Table 2). During the follow-up period, the difference in overall mental health difficulties between the genders increased, with a reduction in SDQ total difficulties for boys and an increase for girls. Peer problems were reduced in boys and increased in girls. Emotional symptoms also increased in girls, while there was no change in boys. Both genders had an increase in hyperactivity-inattention problems and prosocial behaviour, while conduct problems decreased (Table 2).

Mental health at age 18–19 years according to physical activity at age 15–16 years

Emotional symptoms and peer problems at age 18-19 were inversely associated with physical activity at age 15-16 in both genders, whereas prosocial behaviour was positively associated only in boys (p < 0.05 for all these associations in linear regression analyses) (Table 3, crude analysis). Boys and girls who were physically active 5-7 hours per week at age 15-16 had the lowest total problem score at follow up [see Additional file 2]. The U-shaped association was statistically significant in regression models, with (physical activity)² included, for both boys (p =0.003) and girls (p = 0.014). When adjusting for invitation group, ethnic background, family economic status, smoking, use of alcohol and the respective SDQ score at baseline, the U-shaped trend between SDQ total and physical activity was no longer statistically significant for neither boys (p = 0.14) nor girls (p = 0.31). Also the differences in the SDQ subscales according to physical activity decreased after adjustments (Table 3, adjusted model). In girls, there were no significant differences between categories of physical activity at baseline for any SDQ subscale at follow up after adjustments (Table 3, adjusted model), whereas emotional problems [B (95%CI) = -0.09 (-0.15, -0.03)] and peer problems [B (95%CI) = -0.08 (-0.14, -0.03)] decreased with increasing amount of physical activity in boys. In boys, prosocial behaviour varied significantly between the groups of physical activity (Table 3, adjusted model) but there was no significant linear trend [B (95%CI) = 0.05 (-0.02, 0.12)].

Boys and girls who were physically active 5–7 hours per week at age 15–16 years had the lowest risk of reporting distress and social impairment (total impact score \geq 1) three years later (Table 4, crude model). However after adjusting for possible confounders and mental health at baseline the associations were no longer statistically significant (Table 4, adjusted model).

Discussion

In boys, weekly hours of physical activity at age 15–16 years were inversely associated with emotional symptoms and peer problems at age 18–19 years after adjustment for confounders and mental health at baseline. In boys also prosocial behaviour varied with physical activity after adjustments, but there was no linear trend. In girls there was no independent effect of physical activity at age 15–16 on mental health at age 18–19 after adjustments. Participants reporting five to seven hours of physical activity

Table 2: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) mean score at age 15–16 years (baseline) and at age 18–19 years (follow-up) in boys and girls in Oslo (2001–2004).

Measure and Time Point		E	Boys			G	Girls		
	n	mean	SD	þ time**	n	mean	SD	þ time**	þ, gender***
SDQ -Emotional Symptoms				0.183				0.021	
baseline	1074	1.64	1.69		1340	3.38	2.27		<0.001
follow up	1082	1.73	1.69		1343	3.52	2.41		<0.001
SDQ – Conduct Problems*				<0.001				<0.001	
baseline	1076	2.07	1.67		1344	1.88	1.37		0.002
follow up	1083	1.67	1.39		1343	1.69	1.22		0.684
SDQ – Hyperactivity-Inattention				0.038				<0.001	
baseline	1074	3.22	1.93		1339	3.62	1.90		<0.001
follow up	1083	3.35	2.07		1344	3.88	2.11		<0.001
SDQ – Peer Problems*				0.009				0.008	
baseline	1074	1.61	1.56		1340	1.39	1.39		<0.001
follow up	1083	1.50	1.54		1344	1.51	1.53		0.874
SDQ -Prosocial Behavior*				<0.001				<0.001	
baseline	1077	6.95	1.87		1344	7.98	1.55		<0.001
follow up	1083	7.69	1.71		1342	8.38	1.40		<0.001
SDQ -Total Difficulties*				0.019				0.011	
baseline	1072	8.53	4.63		1339	10.27	4.64		<0.001
follow up	1082	8.25	4.51		1342	10.60	5.12		<0.001

*General Linear Model Repeated Measure showed a statistical interaction between time and gender (p < 0.001)

**Paired t-test

***Un-paired t-test

hysi	
of p	
sun	
ĥ	
8 20	
din	
cor	
sac	
ear	
5	đ
≝	aline
ge	base
at a	atl
(sə	lth
cor	hea
ans	ltal
ñ	mei
ŏ	P
8	rs a
ĨŢ.	nde
Ę	fou
ala	CO
ysic	for
fph	ted
rs o	ijus
Jou	qac
÷	an
veel	(apr
5	บั
ing.	ted
ord	jnst
acc	nad
õ	1
8	girls
e.	p
nna	ys a
stio	ĝ
Sue	s, in
es	ear
ulti	اؤ ر
Ĕ	Ŗ
ą	ge ge
s an	at a
gth	sek
ren	×.
ŝ	per
le 3	vity
ą	÷

								Strengths	and Difi	iculties	Questi	onnair	e (age 18–19)							
(age 13-10)					ă	sko									ō	s				
			Crude					Adjusted*					Crude					Adjusted*		
	<u>د</u>	mean	95%CI	u.	٩	2	mean	95%CI	ш	٩	-	nean	95%CI	u.	٩	5	mean	95%CI	ш	đ
SDQ – Emotional Symptom	s			5.91	0.001				3.28	0.020				6.14	<0.001				0.08	0.971
0 hours	80	2.00	(1.60–2.40)			73	I.80	(1.46–2.14)			141	4.05	(3.64-4.46)			131	3.54	(3.19–3.89)		
1-4 hours	424	96.I	(1.78–2.13)			410	I.86	(1.72–2.01)			777	3.59	(3.42–3.76)			750	3.48	(3.34–3.62)		
5–7 hours	263	1.5.1	(1.32–1.69)			254	I.56	(1.38–1.75)			233	3.09	(2.80–3.37)			227	3.46	(3.20–3.73)		
8 hours or more	307	1.55	(1.38–1.73)			299	I.56	(1.40–1.73)			156	3.18	(2.80–3.56)			151	3.54	(3.22–3.87)		
SDQ – Conduct Problems				2.90	0.087				1.28	0.280				1.69	0.168				1.09	0.353
0 hours	81	1.62	(1.35–1.89)			74	1.57	(1.30–1.85)			141	I.89	(1.69–2.08)			131	1.69	(1.50–1.88)		
I-4 hours	424	1.71	(1.57–1.84)			412	1.71	(1.60–1.83)			777	l.64	(1.56–1.73)			753	I.63	(1.55–1.71)		
5–7 hours	263	1.51	(1.34–1.67)			253	I.58	(1.43–1.73)			233	1.65	(1.51–1.79)			227	1.70	(1.56–1.84)		
8 hours or more	307	1.79	(1.64–1.95)			300	1.75	(1.62–1.89			156	1.72	(1.53–1.92)			151	I.80	(1.63–1.97)		
SDQ – Hyperactivity- Inatte	ntion			I. 4	0.331				0.92	0.431				I.I4	0.331				0.47	0.700
0 hours	81	3.48	(3.00–3.96)			74	3.31	(2.89–3.73)			141	4.08	(3.75–4.41)			131	3.95	(3.63-4.27)		
I-4 hours	424	3.23	(3.04–3.42)			410	3.27	(3.09–3.45)			778	3.78	(3.63–3.92)			751	3.80	(3.67–3.93)		
5–7 hours	263	3.32	(3.08–3.56)			254	3.34	(3.11–3.57)			233	3.89	3.61-4.17)			227	3.90	(3.66-4.14)		
8 hours or more	307	3.50	(3.25–3.74)			299	3.50	(3.29–3.71)			156	3.99	(3.65–4.33)			151	3.93	(3.63-4.22)		
SDQ – Peer Problems				13.3	<0.001				2.57	0.053				4.4	0.004				2.10	0.098
0 hours	81	2.20	(1.83–2.56)			74	1.79	(1.48–2.10)			141	06.I	(1.62–2.18)			131	1.74	(1.50–1.98)		
I-4 hours	424	1.69	(I.54–I.84)			409	1.52	(1.39–1.65)			777	I.49	(09.1–38–1)			750	I.43	(1.34–1.53)		
5–7 hours	263	1.21	(1.04–1.38)			254	I.40	(1.23–1.56)			234	1.32	(1.13–1.50)			227	1.47	(1.29–1.65)		
8 hours or more	307	1.28	(1.11–1.45)			300	1.35	(1.20–1.50)			156	1.49	(1.24–1.73)			151	1.57	(1.35–1.79)		
SDQ – Prosocial Behavior**				5.00	0.002				4.44	0.004				0.96	0.411				0.79	0.490
0 hours	81	7.14	(6.72–7.55)			74	7.40	(7.04-7.75)			141	8.43	(8.22–8.65)			131	8.50	(8.28-8.72)		
1-4 hours	424	7.77	(7.61–7.94)			412	7.75	(7.60–7.90)			778	8.33	(8.23–8.44)			754	8.34	(8.25-8.43)		
5–7 hours	263	7.53	(7.32–7.73)			254	7.44	(7.25–7.63)			233	8.39	(8.21-8.57)			227	8.42	(8.25-8.58)		
8 hours or more	307	7.86	(7.67–8.04)			300	7.86	(7.68-8.04)			156	8.53	(8.32–8.74)			151	8.42	(8.22–8.63)		
SDQ – Total Difficulties				4.3	0.005				0.67	0.579				4.63	0.003				I.03	0.377
0 hours	80	9.24	(8.22-10.25)			73	8.32	(7.43–9.21)			141	16.1	(11.07–12.76)			131	10.88	(10.16–11.60)		
1-4 hours	424	8.58	(8.14–9.02)			409	8.35	(7.98-8.73)			776 1	0.51	(10.15-10.87)			749	10.35	(10.06–10.65)		
5–7 hours	263	7.54	(7.01-8.07)			253	7.93	(7.45-8.40)			233	9.94	(9.3 1–10.56)			227	10.56	(10.02-11.10)		
8 hours or more	307	8.13	(7.62–8.63)			299	8.15	(7.72–8.59)			156	0.38	(9.57–11.20)			151	10.83	(10.17–11.49)		

Physical activity per week (age 15–16)				Boys						Girls		
				Crude	A	djusted**				Crude	А	djusted**
	n	Р%***	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI	n	Р%***	OR	95%CI	OR	95%CI
0 hours	79	22.8	ref.		ref.		139	36.7	ref.		ref.	
I-4 hours	423	17.3	0.71	0.39 – 1.27	0.79	0.42 – 1.49	775	28.8	0.67	0.46 – 0.98	0.82	0.53 – 1.24
5–7 hours	262	10.3	0.39	0.20 - 0.75	0.51	0.25 - 1.04	232	24.6	0.56	0.36 – 0.89	0.76	0.45 – 1.27
8 or more hours	304	17.1	0.70	0.38 - 1.28	0.84	0.44 – 1.64	155	29.7	0.73	0.45 – 1.19	1.05	0.61 - 1.81

Table 4: Total Impact score according to weekly hours of physical activity. Percentage (p%) with high score* and odds ratio (OR) for high score* at age 18–19 years according to hours of physical activity per week at age 15–16 years, in boys and girls–unadjusted (crude) and adjusted for confounders and mental health at baseline.

*High total impact score $\geq I$

**Invitation group, Ethnicity, Family economy, smoking and alcohol habit, SDQ total at baseline

***Percent of n with high total impact score

per week at age 15–16 had the lowest mean score for SDQ total difficulties and the lowest percentage with high impact score at follow up, but the differences were not statistically significant after adjustments.

Methodological strengths and limitations

Our longitudinal study extends beyond previous reports of population-based cross-sectional associations between physical activity and depression [19], emotional wellbeing [20] and social problems [17,18] when studying physical activity at age 15–16 years and different aspects of mental health three years later. We are still not able to infer the direction of causality from our analysis. There could be common underlying factors influencing both physical activity and mental health at both time points, or these two factors could be in a continuous circular relationship.

In the baseline study, all 10th graders in Oslo were invited to participate in the school year 2000–2001. The high participation rate implies that the baseline cohort is representative for 10th graders in Oslo. In the follow-up, those not participating were less physically active and reported more symptoms of mental health problems at baseline than those who participated. However, the association at baseline between SDQ total problem score and physical activity was similar for the non-responders and those participating in the follow-up. Thus, we believe it is unlikely that those lost to follow-up would appreciably influence the associations at follow-up.

When measuring mental health among children and adolescents it is preferable to use several informants (also parents and teachers). Self-reports are generally less strongly associated with psychiatric disorder than parent reports [30]. In our follow-up study the participants were 18 years, and parent reports could not be included. The fact that this is a self-report study, with low internal consistency for some of the subscales, should be kept in mind when interpreting the results. However, low internal consistency may have led to an underestimation of associations.

Measuring physical activity by questionnaire is also associated with difficulties [41]. We have used a single item measure for this variable, something that has to be taken into consideration. A measure of weekly hours of physical activity however, has shown the ability to discriminate between levels of aerobic fitness in youth [42]. It seems reasonable to assume that the question captures different levels of physical activity, but how accurate the adolescents report hours peer week is unknown.

Within the limitation of the study design the results reveal an interesting association between physical activity and mental health. Although the associations were weak, physical activity was a positive factor for some dimensions of mental health problems in boys. In the population strategy of prevention: 'even a small shift in the distributions may have a large effect on the number of individuals falling into the high vulnerable tail of the distribution' [43].

Mental health at age 18–19 years according to physical activity at age 15–16 years

We found a more consistent association between weekly physical activity and mental health in boys than in girls, and the associations were connected to emotional symptoms, peer problems and prosocial behaviour. Similar overall findings have been reported from cross-sectional studies of adolescents [17-19], but not by gender. One such study of adolescents in grades 7–13 found a positive association between vigorous physical activity and social functioning, but no association for depression/anxiety when adjusted for age, gender, and SES [17]. Kirkcaldy et al reported that adolescents who engaged regularly in physical activity display much less inhibition in social behaviour than their less active counterparts [18]. A third cross-sectional study reported that adolescents who did not exercise, or exercised infrequently, scored higher on psychological discomfort measured by loneliness, shyness and hopelessness than did adolescents who were more frequent exercisers [19]. One explanation for all these findings may be that physical activity and the sports arena represent an increased opportunity for social interaction and development of social skills. Adolescents who join a sports club show lower anxiety and depression scores than those pursuing individual sports [44]. Boys are more often than girls doing sport in a club [45]. If physical activity promotes social development, it is likely that this is a more permanent influence - and may be possible to detect as a long-term effect. Cardon et al found in a study among 1124 children aged 10 and 11 that boys felt more social support from family and friends to be active than girls [46]. Boys also perceived more benefits from physical activity than girls in regard to being together with friends/ meet people, have fun and being admired by others. The difference in peer problems and prosocial behavior according to physical activity may also be due to individuals with low social competence ceasing physical activity or participating in sports at a young age. Adolescents who possess good sport or physical activity skills may also be more socially attractive than less talented peers. Different patterns in type of physical activity, and changes in weekly hours over the period under study may also contribute to the gender difference.

Participants reporting 5-7 hours of physical activity per week at age 15-16 had both the lowest SDQ total problem score and the lowest percentage with SDQ total impact score at follow-up, but the differences became insignificant after adjustments. Cross sectional studies have however reported similar U-shaped associations [19,21,47]. One suggested reason for the non-linear association involves the detrimental effect of overtraining in athletes [47]. Unger (1997), who studied participation in sport team and suicidal behaviour, revealed that girls who exercised 6-7 days per week and did not participate in team sports, were at the greatest risk of suicidal behaviour [21]. The author of this study suggests that these results may be due to a widespread perception of overweight and negative body image among adolescent girls who then exercise to lose weight. More research in general populations is needed on effects of high volume physical activity/exercise and mental health among adolescents.

Conclusion

Our findings indicate that physical activity at age 15–16 years may influence some aspects of mental health three years later in boys, but not in girls. Our study underlines the need to perform longitudinal studies with different

aspect of mental health as outcome, conducting separate analyses by gender, and also consider the amount of physical activity when studying the relation between physical activity and mental health in adolescence. The results encourage subsequent cohort studies to focus on different types of physical activity (competitive vs. recreational, team vs. individual) and mental health follow up.

Competing interests

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

AaS was active in the planning of the follow-up and coordinated the practical part of the study, did the conception and design, analysed and interpreted the data and drafted the manuscript. AJS was project manager of the baseline study, participated in planning of the follow-up study, was involved in the conception and design of the project, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the article critically. EB was project manager of the follow-up study, involved in the conception and design of the project, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the article critically. RS took part in collecting of the baseline data, contributed particularly in the statistical analyses and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the article critically. SH was involved in the conception and design of the project, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data and reviewed the article critically.

Additional material

Additional file 1

Flowchart of the study and the participants at follow-up. Click here for file [http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/supplementary/1471-2458-7-155-S1.pdf]

Additional file 2

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire Total difficulties score (follow up) according to weekly hours of physical activity (baseline) in boys and girls.

Click here for file

[http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/supplementary/1471-2458-7-155-S2.pdf]

Acknowledgements

This project has been financed with aid of EXTRA funds from the Norwegian Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation. A research grant was also received from 'Osloforskning', University of Oslo and the City of Oslo. The data collection was carried out and funded by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health, the University of Oslo, the City of Oslo (baseline). The Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, Oslo contributed to the funding of the follow-up study.

References

- Costello EJ, Egger H, Angold A: 10-year research update review: the epidemiology of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders: I. Methods and public health burden. J Am Acad Child Ado-lesc Psychiatry 2005, 44:972-986. Roberts RE, Attkisson CC, Rosenblatt A: Prevalence of psychopa-
- 2 thology among children and adolescents. Am J Psychiatry 1998, 155:715-725.
- Fox KR: The influence of physical activity on mental well-being. Public Health Nutr 1999, 2:411-418. Paluska SA, Schwenk TL: Physical activity and mental health. 3
- 4.
- Current concepts. Sports Med 2000, 29:167-180. Morgan WPe: Physical activity and mental health Washington, D.C.: Tay-lor & Francis; 1997. 5
- Haskell WL, Bouchard C, Blair SN, Eds: Physical activity and health 6 Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2007.
- Ekeland E, Heian F, Hagen KB, Abbott J, Nordheim L: Exercise to improve self-esteem in children and young people. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews : Reviews 2004 Issue / 2004. 7
- 8 Spence JC, McGannon KR, Poon P: The Effect of Exercise on Glo-
- bal Self-Esteem: A Quantitative Review. JSEP 2005, 27:-334. Fox KR: Self-esteem, self-perceptions and exercise. Int J Sport Psychol 2000, 31:228-240. 9
- Backmand H, Kaprio J, Kujala U, Sarna S: Influence of physical activ-10 ity on depression and anxiety of former elite athletes. Int J Sports Med 2003, 24:609-619.
- Camacho TC, Roberts RE, Lazarus NB, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD: Phys-11 ical activity and depression: evidence from the Alameda
- ical activity and depression: evidence from the Alameua County Study. Am J Epidemiol 1991, 134:220-231. Farmer ME, Locke BZ, Moscicki EK, Dannenberg AL, Larson DB, Rad-loff LS: Physical activity and depressive symptoms: the NHANES I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. Am J Epidemiol 1988, 128:1340-1351. Morgan WP, Costill DL: Selected psychological characteristics 12
- 13
- Morgan WP, Costill DL: Selected psychological characteristics and health behaviors of aging marathon runners: a longitudi-nal study. Int J Sports Med 1996, 17:305-312. Paffenbarger RS Jr, Lee IIM, Leung R: Physical activity and personal characteristics associated with depression and suicide in American college men. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 1994, 377:16-22. 14
- 15 Wyshak G: Women's college physical activity and self-reports of physician-diagnosed depression and of current symptoms of psychiatric distress. J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2001, 10:363-370.
- Cooper-Patrick L, Ford DE, Mead LA, Chang PP, Klag MJ: Exercise and depression in midlife: a prospective study. Am J Public Health 1997, 87:670-673. 16.
- Allison KR, Adlaf EM, Irving HM, Hatch JL, Smith TF, Dwyer JJ, Good-17.
- Amison NN, Adiar Leri, Irving HM, Hatch JL, Smith TF, Dwyer JJ, Good-man J: Relationship of vigorous physical activity to psychologic distress among adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2005, 37:164-166. Kirkcaldy BD, Shephard RJ, Siefen RG: The relationship between physical activity and self-image and problem behaviour among adolescents. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2002, 37:544-550. 18
- Page RM, Tucker LA: Psychosocial discomfort and exercise fre-19. guency: an epidemiological study of adolescents. Adolescence 1994, **29**:183-191.
- 20.
- Steptoe A, Butler N: **Sports participation and emotional wellbe-**ing in adolescents. *Lancet* 1996, 347:1789-1792. Unger JB: Physical activity, participation in team sports, and risk of suicidal behavior in adolescents. *Am J Health Promot* 1997, 21 12:90-93
- Motl RW, Birnbaum AS, Kubik MY, Dishman RK: Naturally occur-22 ring changes in physical activity are inversely related to depressive symptoms during early adolescence. Psychosom Med 2004, 66:336-342.
- Dunn AL, Trivedi MH, O'Neal HA: Physical activity dose-response effects on outcomes of depression and anxiety. Med Sci Sports 23 Exerc 2001, 33:S587-S597.
- Søgaard A-J, Eide T: Health Study (HUBRO) The Youth part (UNGHUBRO): Methods. [http://www.fhi.no/dav/ 24. [http://www.fhi.no/dav/ 831c96<u>A203.doc</u>].
- Sagatun A, Sogaard A-J, Bjertness E: Youth. Methods 2004 [http:// www.fhi.no/dav/A34847D246.pdf]. Information for researchers and professionals about the 25.
- 26 Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaires [homepage on the Internet]. youthimmind [<u>http://www.sdqinfo.com/</u>] Meltzer H, Gatward R, Goodman R, Ford T: **Mental health of chil**-
- 27 dren and adolescents in Great Britain. International Review of Psy-chiatry 2003, 15:-187.
- 28. Bourdon KH, Goodman R, Rae DS, Simpson G, Koretz DS: The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: U.S. normative

data and psychometric properties. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychi-atry 2005, 44:557-564.

- Van Roy B, Groholt B, Heyerdahl S, Clench-Aas J: Self-reported 29 strengths and difficulties in a large Norwegian population 10-19 years : age and gender specific results of the extended SDQ-questionnaire. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2006, 15:189-198.
- Goodman R: Psychometric properties of the strengths and dif-30 ficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001, 40:1337-1345.
- 31. Ronning JA, Handegaard BH, Sourander A, Morch WT: The Strengths and Difficulties Self-Report Questionnaire as a Screening instrument in Norwegian community samples. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2004, 13:73-82. American Psychiatric Association: Diagnostic and statistical manual of
- American rsychiatric Association: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Washington, DC 44th edition. 1994. Goodman R, Meltzer H, Bailey V: The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a pilot study on the validity of the self-report version. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998, 7:125-130. Bird HR, Yager TJ, Staghezza B, Gould MS, Canino G, Rubio-Stipec M: Impairment in the oridomiological measurement of child 33
- 34. Impairment in the epidemiological measurement of child-hood psychopathology in the community. J Am Acad Child Ado-lesc Psychiatry 1999, **29(5)**:796-803.
- Goodman R: The extended version of the Strengths and Diffi-
- Goodman R: The extended version of the Strengths and Diffi-culties Questionnaire as a guide to child psychiatric caseness and consequent burden. J Child Psychiatry 1999, 40:791-799. Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR: Major depressive disorder in older adolescents: prevalence, risk factors, and clinical impli-cations. Clin Psychol Rev 1998, 18:765-794. Moore MJ, Werch CE: Sport and physical activity participation and substance use among adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2005, 24:064-09 36.
- 37. 36:486-493.
- Sallis JF, Prochaska JJ, Taylor WC: A review of correlates of phys-ical activity of children and adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000, 32:963-975. 38.
- Schmitz KH, Lytle LA, Phillips GA, Murray DM, Birnbaum AS, Kubik MY: Psychosocial correlates of physical activity and sedentary leisure habits in young adolescents: The teens eating for energy and nutrition at school study. *Prev Med* 2002, 34:266-278. Lie B: Immigration and immigrants 2002 Oslo: Statistisk sentralbyrå; 2002.
- 40. 2002
- 41.
- 2002. Shephard RJ: Limits to the measurement of habitual physical activity by questionnaires. Br J Sports Med 2003, 37:197-206. Booth ML, Okely AD, Chey T, Bauman A: The reliability and valid-ity of the physical activity questions in the WHO health behaviour in schoolchildren (HBSC) survey: a population study. Br J Sports Med 2001, 35:263-267. Rose G: The strategy of preventive medicine Oxford: Oxford University Prese: 1992
- 43. Press; 1993.
- Vilhjalmsson R, Thorlindsson T: The Integrative and Physiologi-cal-Effects of Sport Participation A Study of Adolescents 14. Sociological Quarterly 1992, 33:637-647. 44
- Ferron C, Narring F, Cauderay M, Michaud PA: Sport activity in adolescence: associations with health perceptions and experimental behaviours. *Health Educ Res* 1999, 14:225-233. 45.
- Cardon G, Philippaerts R, Lefevre J, Matton L, Wijndaele K, Balduck AL, De Bourdeaudhuij I: Physical activity levels in 10- to 11-yearolds: clustering of psychosocial correlates. Public Health Nutr 2005, 8:896-903
- Sanders CE, Field TM, Diego M, Kaplan M: Moderate involvement in sports is related to lower depression levels among adolescents. Adolescence 2000, 35:793-797.

Pre-publication history

The pre-publication history for this paper can be accessed here:

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/7/155/pre pub





Weekly hours of physical activity at age 15 -16

This article is removed.

BMC Public Health

Research article

Open Access

Three-year follow-up of physical activity in Norwegian youth from two ethnic groups: associations with socio-demographic factors Åse Sagatun^{*1}, Elin Kolle², Sigmund A Anderssen², Magne Thoresen^{3,4} and Anne Johanne Søgaard^{5,4}

Address: ¹Center for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, P.O. Box 4623 Nydalen, 0405 Oslo, Norway, ²Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, Department of Sports Medicine, P.O. Box 4014, Ullevål Stadion, 0806 Oslo, Norway, ³Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Department of Biostatistics, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1122 Blindern, N-0317 Oslo, Norway, ⁴Institute of General Practice and Community Medicine, Section for Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, University of Oslo, P.O. Box 1120 Blindern, N-0318 Oslo, Norway and ⁵Division of Epidemiology, Department of Chronic Diseases, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, P.O. Box 4404, Nydalen, 0403 Oslo, Norway

Email: Åse Sagatun* - aase.sagatun@r-bup.no; Elin Kolle - Elin.Kolle@nih.no; Sigmund A Anderssen - sigmund.anderssen@nih.no; Magne Thoresen - magne.thoresen@medisin.uio.no; Anne Johanne Søgaard - Anne.Johanne.Sogaard@fhi.no * Corresponding author

Published: 22 December 2008

BMC Public Health 2008, 8:419 doi:10.1186/1471-2458-8-419

This article is available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/8/419

© 2008 Sagatun et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: 15 April 2008 Accepted: 22 December 2008

Abstract

Background: More research on factors associated with physical activity and the decline in participation during adolescence is needed. In this paper, we investigate the levels, change, and stability of physical activity during the late teens among ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities, and we examine the associations between physical activity and socio-demographic factors.

Methods: The baseline (T1) of this longitudinal study included 10th graders who participated in the youth part of the Oslo Health Study, which was carried out in schools in 2000–2001. The follow-up (T2) in 2003–2004 was conducted partly at school and partly by mail. A total of 2489 (1112 boys and 1377 girls) participated both at baseline and at follow-up. Physical activity level was measured by a question on weekly hours of physical activity outside of school. Socio-demographic variables were collected by questionnaire and from data obtained from Statistics Norway. Analysis of variance was used to study the level of and changes (T1 to T2) in physical activity in physical activity was defined as the percentage of students reporting the same physical activity both times.

Results: Boys were more active than girls at age 15 and 18 years, independent of ethnic background. Among girls, ethnic Norwegians were more active than ethnic minorities. Hours per week spent on physical activity declined in all groups during the follow-up period. Few associations were found between physical activity and socio-demographic factors in both cross-sectional and longitudinal data. Among the ethnic minority girls, 65% reported being physically active 0–2 hours per week at baseline, and 82% of these girls reported the same level at follow up.

Conclusion: The association between physical activity and ethnicity at age 15 years remained the same during the follow-up. Few associations were found between physical activity and socio-demographic variables. A large proportion of ethnic minority girls reported a persistently low physical activity level, and this low participation rate may need special attention.

Background

Regular physical activity is important for healthy growth and development of children and adolescents. It helps build and maintain healthy bones, muscles, and joints, and enhances psychological well-being [1]. Regular physical activity contributes to the control of body weight, which is important because the prevalence of obesity is increasing [2]. Mid-adolescence is an important period in young people's life as adult patterns of health behaviours start to emerge. Habits of, and attitudes towards, physical activity developed during childhood are assumed to continue through adolescence and into adulthood [3,4]. Despite the importance of physical activity in youth, studies show consistently that participation in physical activity declines during adolescence. This decline has been reported in both cross-sectional [5-7] and longitudinal studies [8-17], and in studies using both self-reported measures [5,8-13] and objective measures of physical activity [6,7,17]. Knowledge about the factors related to this decline in physical activity is scarce.

With an increasing influx of immigrants to the Western parts of the world, cultural and ethnic background has become an important variable when studying health and health behaviour from the public health perspective. Few studies have investigated the relationship between physical activity and ethnicity in adolescence. Most studies have reported that ethnic minorities are less active than their majority counterparts [13,18-20], whereas others have not found any association [21] or have found that ethnic minorities are more physically active [16].

In addition to ethnicity, socio-economic status (SES) is an important factor regarding physical activity [22]. In children and adolescents, the association between SES and physical activity is inconsistent [23-26]. The controversy relates to whether SES and physical activity level are positively associated [20,21,24-27] or not related at all [24-26,28]. The differences between studies may reflect differences in the methods used to measure SES and physical activity and the subgroup studied [24-26].

Few longitudinal population-based studies in adolescents have focused on the relationship between physical activity and ethnicity while also considering socio-demographic factors [20]. In a longitudinal population-based study of about 2500 adolescents for 3 years, of which 20% had an ethnic minority background, we collected data about physical activity, ethnicity, and socio-demographic factors. The aims of this study were: (1) to estimate and compare levels of physical activity in ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority youth at ages 15 and 18 years; (2) to examine the association between socio-demographic factors and physical activity in the two groups at 15 and 18 years; (3) to describe changes in, and stability of, physical activity in ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority youth after three years of follow-up; and (4) to examine the relationships between socio-demographic factors and change in physical activity over the three years in the two ethnic groups.

Methods

Baseline study (T1)

All students in grade 10 (aged 15-16 years, later referred to as 15 years) in Oslo during the school years 1999-2000 and 2000-2001 were invited to enter the youth part of the Oslo Health Study. This was a questionnaire study conducted in schools. All parents received written information, and the students completed a consent form before participation. The students completed questionnaires during two school classes. For those not present on the day of the survey, questionnaires were left for them at school. A copy was mailed to the home address of those who did not respond, together with a stamped return envelope. A more detailed description has been published elsewhere [29,30]. From the total population of 10th graders (both 1999-2000 and 2000-2001), 7343 (88%) participated. The 3811 subjects participating in the year 2000-2001 comprised the baseline of our longitudinal study. During the school year 2003-2004, a second study was conducted with the same adolescents.

Follow-up study (T2)

The follow-up study was carried out partly as a schoolbased survey and partly through mail, as described elsewhere [30,31]. The procedure for the school-based part of the study was similar to the baseline procedure. All 32 secondary high schools in Oslo took part, and the senior year students (aged 18–19 years, later referred to as 18 years) completed the questionnaire during one school class. The participants in the baseline study (year 2000–2001) who were not enrolled in the senior year of secondary high school in Oslo and who had consented to participate in the follow-up were invited to participate by mail.

Study population

Of the 3811 participants in the baseline study, 2489 (65.3%) participated in the follow-up and gave their consent to link their data between the two surveys. Only the adolescents who participated in both surveys were included in our analyses (1,112 boys and 1,377 girls) (Figure 1). Of the participants in the follow-up, 20% had an ethnic minority background. Ethnic minorities were defined as those having both parents born in a country other than Norway [32]. The parents' countries of birth were provided by Statistics Norway and were linked to the data file. Most of the ethnic minority youth (96%) came from non-Western countries. The largest ethnic minority groups were from the Indian subcontinent (42%), the Middle East (16%), and Eastern Europe (11%). Fifty-four



Figure I Flow sheet of the study population.

percent of the minority group were born in a country other than Norway (first-generation immigrants).

Measures

Weekly hours of physical activity in leisure time

Participants were asked how many hours per week they spent in physical activity "to an extent that makes you sweat and/or out of breath": 0 (0), 1-2 (1.5), 3-4 (3.5), 5-7 (6), 8-10 (9), or 11(11) hours or more per week. The numbers in the parentheses represent the coding when using the ranked ordinal variable as a continuous variable. In an unpublished validation study, physical activity was measured both objectively, using Actigraph accelerometers, and subjectively using the questionnaire. The question about "hours per week" was the one that best predicted physical activity measured by an accelerometer and was therefore chosen as our physical activity measure (Hein Stigum, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, personal communication). Change in physical activity was defined as the difference in hours of physical activity per week between baseline and follow-up. To study stability in physical activity from baseline to follow-up, we dichotomized hours per week spent doing physical activity as 0-2 hours versus 3 hours or more, and we measured the tendency of subjects to report the same activity level at the two times.

Socio-demographic factors

To obtain information on the education and income levels of fathers and mothers, the questionnaire was linked to information collected by Statistics Norway. Statistics Norway's register on income and education (2002) was used. In the analysis, education was categorized by the highest level of education: tertiary education, intermediate education, and compulsory education [33]. The father's and mother's income [34] was categorized as high (above the 75th percentile), medium (25th to 75th percentile), or low (below the 25th percentile).

The "perceived family economy" question had four options – "poor ", "moderate", "good", or "very good" – based on a question asking the participant to compare his or her family economy with other families in Norway. "Parents' marital status" was categorized as having parents who were married/cohabitant or "other" (i.e. divorced/ separated, one or both deceased). "Socio-economic region of residence" in Oslo (neighbourhood socio-economic level) was a social index that took into account the distribution of unemployment, education, non-Western immigrants and single parents [35]. In our analyses, East and West regions were used.

Invitation group

Because the follow-up part of the study was conducted partly in school and partly by mail, a variable called "*Invitation group*", was created to dichotomize mail and school participation.

Ethics

Both protocols were evaluated by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics and were approved by the Norwegian Data Inspectorate. The baseline study and the part of the follow-up study carried out in the schools received approval from the school authorities in Oslo.

Lost to follow-up

Seventy percent of the ethnic Norwegian students and 54% of the ethnic minority students participated in the follow-up study. In ethnic Norwegian participants, baseline physical activity did not differ between those who participated in the follow-up and those who were lost to follow-up. In the ethnic minority participants, physical activity level at baseline was higher in those who completed the follow-up than in those lost to follow-up. To test whether the physical activity level among the immigrants could be biased by the length of stay in Norway, we compared the physical activity level of those lost to follow-up and in those participating at both times in first- and second-generation immigrants. Weekly hours of physical activity by both boys and girls did not differ between first- and second-generation immigrants. To predict how attrition might bias the results, others have shown that subjects who participate after reminders are fairly similar to the non-responders [36]. In our analysis, the change in physical activity did not differ significantly between adolescents from ethnic minorities who participated after the first invitation and those who participated after reminders [mean difference in change in weekly hours of physical activity (SE), -0.28 (0.59), p = 0.59].

Statistical analysis

The data were stratified by sex and partly by ethnicity (ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities). To compare physical activity levels at baseline (T1) and follow-up (T2), the change in physical activity from baseline to follow-up (T2-T1), and the associations between physical activity and socio-demographic factors at the two times, we classified hours per week as a continuous variable and analysed the data using analysis of variance (ANOVA). The patterns of association were compared between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities by testing the interaction terms.

Cohen's kappa and percentage of agreement were used to study the stability in physical activity (0–2 hours versus 3 hours or more) from baseline to follow-up in the four subgroups.

Finally, we studied the association between socio-demographic factors and change in physical activity level (T2-T1) using a linear regression model. The estimated regression coefficients (β) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI) are presented in the text. The socio-demographic factors that showed associations with physical activity at T1 or T2 were entered collectively in the adjusted model. Only participants who provided information on all variables in the adjusted analysis were included in the crude comparisons. Weekly physical activity level did not differ significantly between participants excluded and those included in this analysis. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05. The data were analysed using SPSS version 14.

Results

Physical activity at 15 and 18 years

Boys were more physically active than girls at both 15 and 18 years, and this was independent of ethnic background

(Table 1). We found ethnic differences in physical activity levels in girls but not boys. At both ages 15 and 18 years, ethnic Norwegian girls were more physically active than ethnic minority girls (Table 1).

Physical activity and socio-demographic factors at 15 and 18 years

Ethnic minority adolescents had parents with lower income and lower education level than ethnic Norwegians (p < 0.001). Compared with their Norwegian counterparts, more ethnic minority boys and girls lived in eastern regions of Oslo and had parents that were married/cohabiting (both sexes p < 0.001). Ethnic minority girls perceived poorer family economy than did ethnic Norwegian girls (p = 0.01). No difference was observed in boys (p = 0.38).

Boys

At age 15 years, ethnic Norwegian boys who perceived a poor family economy reported low physical activity level (Table 2a). At age 18 years, ethnic minority boys living in the eastern part of Oslo were more physically active than those living in the western part. The association between physical activity level and socio-demographic factors did not differ between ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys at ages 15 or 18 years (i.e. no interaction).

Girls

In ethnic Norwegian girls, higher levels of physical activity at both ages 15 and 18 years were positively associated with father's income and perceived family economy. Physical activity at age 18 years was positively associated with mother's education and parents' marital status (Table 2b). Ethnic minority girls living in the western regions of Oslo were more physically active at age 18 years than were ethnic minority girls living in the eastern part (Table 2b). The associations between physical activity level and socio-demographic factors in the two ethnic groups were significantly different for only one factor:

Table I: Physical activity level at age 15 and 18 years in ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority adolescents.

				Physical a	ctivity				
		Ethnic Nor	wegian			Ethnic m	inority		
	n	Mean	-	95%CI*	n	Mean	-	95%CI*	p ethnicity
Boys									
15 years (baseline)	892	5.35	5.13	5.58	211	5.00	4.55	5.46	0.18
18 years (follow-up)	897	4.61	4.38	4.84	209	4.37	3.92	4.83	0.38
Δ^{**} (follow-up-baseline)	889	-0.73	-0.96	-0.58	209	-0.61	-1.17	-0.06	0.67
Girls									
15 years (baseline)	1058	4.00	3.82	4.18	283	2.43	2.16	2.70	< 0.001
18 years (follow-up)	1066	3.58	3.41	3.77	287	2.01	1.74	2.27	< 0.001
⊿ ** (follow-up-baseline)	1044	-0.38	-0.56	-0.20	274	-0.47	-0.77	-0.16	0.66

*95% confidence interval (CI).

*** Δ Change from baseline to follow-up.

Table 2:

2a: Physical activity level and socio-demographic factors in ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys.

Boys (1112*)		Physica	l activity a	it age 15	years			Physic	al activity	at age 1	8 years	
	Ethnic	Norwegia	in (900)	Ethnic	minorit	y (211)	Ethnic	Norwegi	an (900)	Ethni	c minori	ty (211)
Socio-demographic factors	M°	SD°	р	M°	SD°	Р	M°	SD°	Р	M°	SD°	Р
Income father #			0.12			0.69			0.91			0.17
Low	3.98	3.30		4.80	3.54		4.03	3.34		5.37	3.34	
Medium	4.50	3.31		5.14	3.23		4.75	3.57		5.43	3.52	
High	6.04	3.88		4.46	3.33		4.65	3.38		5.32	3.36	
Education mother #			0.13			0.29			0.31			0.16
Compulsory	4.43	3.64		5.34	3.51		3.92	3.69		4.50	3.31	
Intermediate	5.36	3.63		4.43	3.37		4.59	3.62		4.04	3.50	
Tertiary	5.44	3.25		5.28	3.21		4.69	3.37		5.47	3.26	
Perceived family economy			0.01			0.54			0.22			0.74
Poor	3.56	3.34		6.86	3.34		3.83	3.61		3.71	4.37	
Moderate	5.03	3.61		4.91	3.75		4.38	3.50		4.11	3.20	
Good	5.41	3.30		4.94	3.18		4.62	3.38		4.62	3.42	
Very good	5.96	3.54		5.05	3.42		5.10	3.83		4.21	3.44	
Parents marital status			0.08			0.70			0.20			0.29
Married or cohabiting	5.49	3.39		5.06	3.35		4.71	3.52		4.25	3.35	
Other §	5.05	3.48		4.80	3.46		4.38	3.42		4.95	3.40	
Residence in Oslo			0.15			0.79			0.01			0.93
East	5.54	3.65		4.94	3.43		4.99	3.78		4.27	3.31	
West	5.20	3.24		5.13	2.77		4.38	3.24		4.34	3.73	

^o Values are expressed as Mean (M) and Standard Deviation (SD).
* Some participants have missing information on some of the background characteristics.
Information collected by Statistics Norway (2002),
§ Parents divorced or separated, or one or both parents dead.

2b: Physical activity level and socio-demographic factors in ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority girls

Girls (1377*)		Physica	l activity a	t age 15	years			Physic	al activity a	t age 1	3 years	
	Ethnic	Norwegia	n (1081)	Ethnic	minorit	y (296)	Ethnic	Norwegi	an (1081)	Ethni	c minori	ty (296)
Socio-demographic factors	M°	SD°	Р	M°	SD°	Р	M°	SD°	Þ	M°	SD°	Р
Income father #			0.02			0.45			0.05			0.05
Low	3.36	2.92		2.25	2.08		3.10	3.09		1.71	2.19	
Medium	4.00	3.04		2.40	2.52		3.55	3.02		2.00	2.24	
High	4.18	2.90		3.00	2.20		3.83	2.92		3.08	2.11	
Education mother #			0.74			0.32			0.04			0.12
Compulsory	3.80	3.04		2.48	2.46		2.74	2.62		1.69	1.86	
Intermediate	4.07	2.96		2.29	2.20		3.55	3.05		2.35	2.66	
Tertiary	3.97	3.01		2.93	2.48		3.73	2.99		2.16	2.09	
Perceived family economy			0.01			0.10			0.001			0.54
Poor	3.30	2.80		2.21	3.25		2.25	2.58		1.07	0.73	
Moderate	3.56	2.99		2.07	1.91		3.13	2.90		1.94	2.33	
Good	4.11	2.92		2.48	2.34		3.73	2.99		2.17	2.23	
Very good	4.53	3.20		3.16	2.70		4.19	3.21		1.82	2.35	
Parents marital status			0.11			0.12			0.01**			0.14**
Married/cohabiting	4.10	2.97		2.33	2.24		3.77	3.00		1.88	2.31	
Other §	3.79	3.00		2.85	2.51		3.24	2.98		2.36	1.93	
Residence in Oslo			0.12			0.87			0.53			0.03
East	4.15	3.09		2.42	2.36		3.65	3.13		1.89	2.17	
West	3.86	2.89		2.49	1.92		3.54	2.91		2.76	2.63	

Values are expressed as Mean (M) and Standard Deviation (SD).
 * Some participants have missing information on some of the background characteristics.
 ** Interaction term = 0.02 (marital status, ethnicity, and physical activity).
 # Information collected by Statistics Norway (2002).
 § Parents divorced or separated, or one or both parents dead.

having married/cohabitating parents was positively associated with physical activity in Norwegian girls at age 18 years, but the opposite was the case in ethnic minority girls (Table 2b) (interaction term, p = 0.02).

The mother's income and father's education level was not significantly related to physical activity level in boys or girls.

Change in and stability of physical activity from age 15 to 18 years

Physical activity level measured as weekly hours declined in all groups (Δ , change) from age 15 to 18 years (Table 1). The change in physical activity level from age 15 to 18 years did not differ between ethnic Norwegian and ethnic minority boys or girls (Table 1).

More ethnic Norwegian girls and boys were physically active for three hours or more at both times (stability) than were ethnic minority girls and boys (Figure 2). Eighty-two percent of the ethnic minority girls had a persistently low physical activity level (0–2 hours per week) at both times. Fifty-four percent of ethnic minority girls who were physically active for more than three hours per week at age 15 years reduced their activity level at age 18 years (Figure 2). The kappa (κ) values for stability of physical activity level are presented in Figure 2 according to sex and ethnicity. The κ values varied between 0.15 and 0.31 for both sexes and ethnic groups. The lowest κ value was seen in ethnic minority boys.

Socio-demographic factors and change in physical activity level over three years

We found similar associations in the crude and adjusted analyses for the association between socio-demographic variables and change in physical activity analysed by sex. The only significant associations found in the adjusted analyses were that physical activity level declined more in girls with mothers with compulsory education than in girls with mothers with tertiary education [β , -0.75; 95% CI, -1.38, -0.12)], and declined more in boys with fathers with low income than in boys with fathers with high income [β , -0.90; 95% CI, -1.66, -0.14).

The association between socio-demographic factors and change in physical activity level did not differ between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities (i.e. no interaction).

Discussion

Physical activity and ethnicity

In our study, boys were more physically active than girls, as has been reported earlier [6,7,37]. We found ethnic differences in activity level, an observation that is consistent with previous findings from the UK [20] and USA [13,18], although other studies in the USA reported no differences [21] or higher physical activity level in some ethnic minority groups [16]. The difference between the USA and Europe may reflect differences in the immigrants' ethnicity, history, and time since immigration. Discrimination and racism are other factors that might cause differences in sport participation between ethnic minority and host adolescents [38,39]. Fear of being exposed to racism could be keeping ethnic minorities away from organized sport [40]. However, our results do not allow us to conclude whether racism influences the choice of physical activity type.

As observed in other studies [13,18], we found that ethnic differences in physical activity were more apparent in girls than in boys. Differences in physical activity may reflect the influence of factors such as the religion and culture in the country of origin. In our study, 96% of the ethnic minorities came from non-Western countries, the largest group being from the Indian subcontinent. The difference between boys and girls could relate to gender segregation in some religions (Islam), girls having more household responsibility, or stricter rules set by parents [41-43]. The



Figure 2

Change in physical activity level from T1 to T2. Percentage of participants who were physically active 0–2 hours per week or 3 or more hours per week at baseline (T1) and follow-up (T2), and percentage who maintained or changed activity level from T1 to T2 in ethic Norwegian (a and c) and ethnic minority (b and d) boys and girls.

 $\overset{*}{}$ indicates the number of participants who answered the question about physical activity at both times. ethnic minority girls' low activity level might also relate to the structure of organized sports in Norway, which includes fewer differences according to gender than in many of the ethnic minorities' countries of origin [44]. Another contributing factor could be the low physical activity level among ethnic minority women in Oslo [45]. Parents' physical activity patterns probably influence their children's physical activity through modelling, social influence, and social support [1].

Physical activity and socio-demographic factors at age 15 and 18 years

Consistent with other studies, [24-26] we found few significant associations between socio-demographic factors and physical activity level. Such associations seem to be dependent on the SES measure used and the characteristic of the subgroup being studied.

One relatively consistent finding in our study was the lower physical activity level among ethnic Norwegians who perceived family economy as poorer than other Norwegian families. Those who perceived themselves as having low family income might be restricted in their physical activity choices and opportunities because of the cost involved.

The lack of association between physical activity and SES in ethnic minorities may indicate a different relationship between SES and health and disease, and a different influence on health behaviour in ethnic minorities than in ethnic Norwegians. A Norwegian study focusing on determinates of diabetes in different ethnic adult groups reported a negative association between the prevalence of diabetes and SES among ethnic Norwegians and Westerners but almost no association in ethnic minorities [45].

Change in and stability of physical activity from age 15 to 18 years

We found a decline in mean hours per week of physical activity from age 15 to 18 years, which was similar in ethnic Norwegians and ethnic minorities. In the UK, Asian adolescents and black girls are less active than white girls at age 11–12 years, and this difference does not change over the next five years [20]. McMurray et al. [16] observed a similar decline in physical activity from age 8 to 16 years in African-American and Caucasian girls but a greater decline in Caucasian boys than in African-American boys. Another longitudinal study from the USA [13] found a substantial decline in physical activity level that was higher in black girls than in white girls.

The relatively low κ scores in our study suggest low stability of physical activity levels within groups. Anderssen et al. [12] used a similar physical activity questionnaire with youths in the western part of Norway and reported κ values, based on tertiles, of 0.26 for boys and 0.21 for girls over a three-year period (age 16–19 years). The only study that assessed physical activity stability in different ethnic groups (Caucasians and African-Americans) reported low κ values (0.03–0.22) [16]. The discrepancy in results might be because κ appears to be higher for shorter time periods, whereas our study and the study by Anderssen et al. [12] studied stability over a three-year period, and McMurray et al. [16] studied stability over seven years. We also dichotomized physical activity level at two times, whereas the other studies divided the physical activity variable into three groups.

McMurray et al. [16] also reported that more Caucasian than African-American youth remained in the low physical activity group during the follow-up. In our study, the highest percentage of persistently low physical activity was found among the ethnic minority girls. As suggested previously, the different findings might be explained by the different immigrant histories and cultures of origin of the ethnic minorities in the USA and in Norway. The discrepancy in results may also be caused by different sample sizes, age, and the definition of "low physical activity".

Socio-demographic factors and change in physical activity

The only socio-demographic factors that were associated with change in physical activity level were mother's education in girls, and father's income in boys. The few associations observed might reflect the influence of more important circumstances experienced by this group of youth. These adolescents had experienced changes in schools, increasing homework level, and the biological, social, and psychological changes that accompany puberty. These factors, alone or in combination, may affect physical activity significantly and might "overrule" the importance of socio-demographic factors.

Methodological issues

Measuring physical activity level by questionnaire is associated with difficulties [46]. The measure used to capture physical activity level in this study is general: "activities outside of school that make you feel sweaty and out of breath". Such a crude overall measure does not capture all the physical activities that promote health. However, simple, self-reported questions on overall physical activity have been used in several studies and correlated significantly with other activity measures [47,48], and with other indicators of physical activity such as maximal oxygen uptake [49] and physical fitness [50]. It seems reasonable to assume that the question captures the level of physical activity, although we do not know how accurate the adolescents were in reporting hours per week. However, we compared associations, change in, and stability of physical activity between groups and believe that the measure is reasonably reliable and valid for this purpose. Generally, the more unreliable the measure, the greater the chance of not finding differences or associations that exist. Therefore, we probably underestimated rather than overestimated any associations and difference between the groups.

Performing a large number of tests, as we did when studying the relationship between physical activity level and socio-demographic factors (aims 2 and 4), increases the risk of type 1 error. Hence, we emphasize the pattern of our findings and interpret the single significant associations with caution.

We also note the variety of ethnic minorities represented by our sample. Even though about 96% of the ethnic minorities in our study population were from non-Western countries, they were not a homogenous group. Studying all ethnic minorities together might conceal differences in physical activity levels between different ethnic groups.

The attrition is also a concern. Of those participating in the baseline study, 70% of the ethnic Norwegians and 54% of the ethnic minorities participated in the followup. Ethnic minorities participating at follow-up reported more physical activity at baseline than did the ethnic minorities lost to follow-up; there was no corresponding difference at baseline in the ethnic Norwegians. However, in the ethnic minorities, the physical activity level did not differ between those who completed the questionnaire after reminders compared with those who participated after the primary invitation, indicating that the selection probably did not influence the results substantially [36].

Conclusion

This study confirms that boys are more physically active than girls, and the ethnic differences in physical activity are more pronounced in girls than boys. Further, the physical activity level declines during the late teenage years in all groups. Socio-demographic factors are only weakly related to physical activity level at age 15 and 18 years, and the change in physical activity between these ages. Ethnic minority girls were the least physically active group, and a considerable proportion reported a stable low activity level. Religious, cultural, social, and environmental factors may contribute to the differences and the decline in physical activity level. Society-wide approaches promoting physical activity that focus on families and local society, and that consider the special needs of subgroups such as immigrant girls, are required to reverse these patterns.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

ÅS was active in the planning of the follow-up and coordinated the practical part of the study, conceptualized and designed the study, analysed and interpreted the data, and drafted the manuscript. EK conceptualized and designed the study, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data, and drafted the manuscript. SAA was involved in the conceptualization and design of the article, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the manuscript critically. MT was involved in the conceptualization and design of the article, contributed to the statistical analyses and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the article critically. AJS was project manager of the baseline study, participated in panning of the follow-up study, was involved in the conceptualization and design of the article, discussed the analysis and interpretation of the data, and reviewed the manuscript critically.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded with aid of EXTRA funds from the Norwegian Foundation for Health and Rehabilitation. The data collection was carried out and funded by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health, the University of Oslo, and the City of Oslo (baseline). The Centre for Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Eastern and Southern Norway, Oslo, contributed to the funding of the follow-up study.

References

- Boreham C, Riddoch C: The physical activity, fitness and health of children. J Sports Sci 2001, 19:915-929.
- Juliusson PB, Roelants M, Eide GE, Hauspie R, Waaler PE, Bjerknes R: Overweight and obesity in Norwegian children: secular trends in weight-for-height and skinfolds. Acta Paediatr 2007, 96:1333-1337.
- Hallal PC, Victora CG, Azevedo MR, Wells JC: Adolescent physical activity and health: a systematic review. Sports Med 2006, 36:1019-1030.
- 4. Malina RM: Physical activity and fitness: pathways from childhood to adulthood. *Am J Hum Biol* 2001, 13:162-172.
- Allison KR, Adlaf EM, Dwyer JJ, Lysy DC, Irving HM: The decline in physical activity among adolescent students: a cross-national comparison. Can J Public Health 2007, 98:97-100.
- Riddoch CJ, Bo AL, Wedderkopp N, Harro M, Klasson-Heggebo L, Sardinha LB, Cooper AR, Ekelund U: Physical activity levels and patterns of 9- and 15-yr-old European children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004, 36:86-92.
- Trost SG, Pate RR, Sallis JF, Freedson PS, Taylor WC, Dowda M, Sirard J: Age and gender differences in objectively measured physical activity in youth. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2002, 34:350-355.
- Telama R, Yang X, Laakso L, Viikari J: Physical activity in childhood and adolescence as predictor of physical activity in young adulthood. Am J Prev Med 1997, 13:317-323.
- Aarnio M, Winter T, Peltonen J, Kujala UM, Kaprio J: Stability of leisure-time physical activity during adolescence a longitudinal study among 16-, 17- and 18-year-old Finnish youth. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2002, 12:179-185.
 Nelson MC, Neumark-Stzainer D, Hannan PJ, Sirard JR, Story M:
- Nelson MC, Neumark-Stzainer D, Hannan PJ, Sirard JR, Story M: Longitudinal and secular trends in physical activity and sedentary behavior during adolescence. *Pediatrics* 2006, 118:1627-1634.
- Telama R, Yang X: Decline of physical activity from youth to young adulthood in Finland. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000, 32:1617-1622.
- Anderssen N, Wold B, Torsheim T: Tracking of physical activity in adolescence. Res Q Exerc Sport 2005, 76:119-129.
 Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, Barton BA, Kronsberg SS, Daniels
- Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, Barton BA, Kronsberg SS, Daniels SR, Crawford PB, Sabry ZI, Liu K: Decline in physical activity in

black girls and white girls during adolescence. N Engl J Med 2002, 347:709-715.

- van Mechelen W, Twisk JW, Post GB, Snel J, Kemper HC: Physical activity of young people: the Amsterdam Longitudinal Growth and Health Study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000, 32:1610-1616.
- Kimm SY, Glynn NW, Kriska AM, Fitzgerald SL, Aaron DJ, Similo SL, McMahon RP, Barton BA: Longitudinal changes in physical activity in a biracial cohort during adolescence. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000, 32:1445-1454.
- McMurray RG, Harrell JS, Bangdiwala SI, Hu J: Tracking of physical activity and aerobic power from childhood through adolescence. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003, 35:1914-1922.
- Kristensen PL, Möller NC, Korsholm L, Wedderkopp N, Andersen LB, Froberg K: Tracking of objectively measured physical activity from childhood to adolescence: The European Youth Heart Study. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2008, 18:171-178.
- Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM: Adolescent physical activity and inactivity vary by ethnicity: The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. J Pediatr 1999, 135:301-306.
- Gordon-Larsen P, McMurray RG, Popkin BM: Determinants of adolescent physical activity and inactivity patterns. *Pediatrics* 2000, 105:E83.
- Brodersen NH, Steptoe A, Boniface DR, Wardle J: Trends in physical activity and sedentary behaviour in adolescence: ethnic and socioeconomic differences. Br J Sports Med 2007, 41:140-144.
- Sallis JF, Zakarian JM, Hovell MF, Hofstetter CR: Ethnic, socioeconomic, and sex differences in physical activity among adolescents. J Clin Epidemiol 1996, 49:125-134.
- Giles-Corti B, Donovan RJ: Socioeconomic status differences in recreational physical activity levels and real and perceived access to a supportive physical environment. *Prev Med* 2002, 35:601-611.
- Batty GD, Leon DA: Socio-economic position and coronary heart disease risk factors in children and young people. Evidence from UK epidemiological studies. Eur J Public Health 2002, 12:263-272.
- Hanson MD, Chen E: Socioeconomic status and health behaviors in adolescence: a review of the literature. J Behav Med 2007, 30:263-285.
- Ferreira I, Van Der HK, Wendel-Vos W, Kremers S, van Lenthe FJ, Brug J: Environmental correlates of physical activity in youth – a review and update. Obes Rev 2007, 8:129-154.
- Horst K Van Der, Paw MJ, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W: A brief review on correlates of physical activity and sedentariness in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007, 39:1241-1250.
 La Torre G, Masala D, De VE, Langiano E, Capelli G, Ricciardi W:
- La Torre G, Masala D, De VE, Langiano E, Capelli G, Ricciardi W: Extra-curricular physical activity and socioeconomic status in Italian adolescents. BMC Public Health 2006, 6:22.
- Kelly LA, Reilly JJ, Fisher A, Montgomery C, Williamson A, McColl JH, Paton JY, Grant S: Effect of socioeconomic status on objectively measured physical activity. Arch Dis Child 2006, 91:35-38.
 Sogaard AJ, Eie T: The Oslo Health Study (HUBRO) – The Youth part
- Sogaard AJ, Eie T: The Oslo Health Study (HUBRO) The Youth part (UNGHUBRO): Methods [<u>http://www.fhi.no/dav/831c96A203.doc]</u>. Norwegian Institute of Public Health
- Sagatun A, Sogaard AJ, Bjertness E, Selmer R, Heyerdahl S: The association between weekly hours of physical activity and mental health: a three-year follow-up study of 15–16-year-old students in the city of OSIo, Norway. BMC Public Health 2007, 7:155.
 Sagatun Å, Søgaard AJ, Bjertness E: Youth 2004: Methods [http://
- Sagatun Å, Søgaard AJ, Bjertness É: Youth 2004: Methods [<u>http://www.fhi.no/dav/A34847D246.pdf</u>]. Norwegian Institute of Public Health
- Lie B: Immigration and immigrants 2002 Oslo: Statistisk sentralbyrå; 2002.
- Official Statistics of Norway: Norwegian Standard Classification of Education (NOS C 751) [http://www.ssb.no/english/subjects/04/90/ nos c751 en/nos c751 en.pdf].
- Official Statistics of Norway: Income and Property Statistics for Households 2002 (NOS D 310) [http://www.ssb.no/emner/05/01/ nos_inntektformue/nos_d310/nos_d310.pdf].
- Rognerud M, Stensvold I: Oslohelsa. Utredning om helse, miljø og sosial ulikhet i bydelene (The Oslo Health Report. Report about health, environment and social inequality in the local districts) Centre of Preventive Medicine, Ullevål University Hospital, Oslo, Norway; 1998.

- Selmer R, Søgaard AJ, Bjertness E, Telle D: The Oslo Health Study: reminding the non-responders – effects on prevalence estimates. Norsk Epidemiologi 2003, 13:89-94.
 Riddoch CJ, Mattocks C, Deere K, Saunders J, Kirkby J, Tilling K,
- Riddoch CJ, Mattocks C, Deere K, Saunders J, Kirkby J, Tilling K, Leary SD, Blair SN, Ness AR: Objective measurement of levels and patterns of physical activity. Arch Dis Child 2007, 92:963–969.
- Walseth K: Sport and integration: the experience of young Muslim women Norwegian School of Sport Sciences, 2006.
- 39. Jarvie G: Sport, Racism, and Ethnicity London: Falmer; 1991.
- De Knop P, Theeboom M, van Engeland E, van Puymbroeck L, de Martelaer K, Wittock H: Sport and ethnic minority youth. Journal of Comparative Physical Education and Sport 1995, 17:12-23.
- Strandbu Å, Bakken A: Aktiv Oslo-ungdom: en studie av idrett, minoritetsbakgrunn og kjønn. [Active Oslo-Youth: a study of sport, ethnic minority and gender] 2/07. Oslo, Norsk institutt for forskning om oppvekst, velferd og aldring [Norwegian Social Research]; 2007. Ref Type: Report
- Walseth K, Fasting K: Sport as a means of integrating minority women. Sport in Society 2004, 7:109-129.
 De Knop P, Theeboom M, Wittock H, de Martelaer K: Implications
- De Knop P, Theeboom M, Wittock H, de Martelaer K: Implications of Islam on Muslim girls' sport participation in Western Europe. Literature review and policy recommendations of sport promotion. Sport, Education and Society 1996, 1:147-164.
- Fasting K: Women and sport in Norway. In Sport and Women. Social Issues in International Perspective Edited by: Hartmann-Tews I, Pfister G. London: Routledge; 2003:15-34.
- Jenum AK, Holme I, Graff-Iversen S, Birkeland KI: Ethnicity and sex are strong determinants of diabetes in an urban Western society: implications for prevention. Diabetologia 2005, 48:435-439.
- Shephard RJ: Limits to the measurement of habitual physical activity by questionnaires. Br J Sports Med 2003, 37:197-206.
- Sallis JF, Strikmiller PK, Harsha DW, Feldman HA, Ehlinger S, Stone EJ, Willistone J. Woods S: Validation of interviewer- and selfadministered physical activity checklists for fifth grade students. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996, 28:840-851.
- Janz KF, Witt J, Mahoney LT: The stability of children's physical activity as measured by accelerometry and self-report. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1995, 27:1326-1332.
- Siconolfi SF, Lasater TM, Snow RC, Carleton RA: Self-reported physical activity compared with maximal oxygen uptake. Am J Epidemiol 1985, 122:101-105.
- Booth ML, Okely AD, Chey T, Bauman A: The reliability and validity of the physical activity questions in the WHO health behaviour in schoolchildren (HBSC) survey: a population study. Br J Sports Med 2001, 35:263-267.

Pre-publication history

The pre-publication history for this paper can be accessed here:

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/8/419/pre pub


IV

This article is removed.

Appendix I

Information brochures:

- The youth part of The Oslo (and Hedmark) Health Study
 - Parents (1)
 - Youth (2)
- Youth 2004
 - Mail Oslo (and Hedmark) (3)

Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo er et samarbeid mellom:

Oslo kommune

Byrådsavdeling for eldre og bydelene Rådhuset, 0037 OSLO. Tlf. 22 86 16 00



Universitetet i Oslo Institutt for allmennmedisin og samfunnsmedisin Postboks 1130 Blindern, 0317 OSLO. TIf. 22 85 05 50.



Statens helseundersøkelser Postboks 8155 Dep., 0033 OSLO Tlf. 22 24 21 00 (9-15) e-post: post@shus.no Du finner også informasjon om helseundersøkelsen på hjemmesidene våre www.shus.no

Kontaktperson for ungdomsundersøkelsen: Tove Eie Tlf. 22 24 21 22 tove.eie@shus.no

Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo

UNGDOM

Informasjon til foreldre/foresatte til ungdom som fyller 15/16 år i 2000

Til foreldre/foresatte til ungdom som fyller 15/16 år i 2000

Nå skal Oslohelsa under lupen. Hvordan står det egentlig til i hovedstaden? Hvordan har ungdommen i Oslo det i dag? Hvordan vurderer ungdommen sine egne problemer, vaner og situasjon? Dette er noe av det vi håper å få svar på gjennom denne helseundersøkelsen. Data som samles inn skal bl.a. brukes til å finne ut hva som er viktig for ungdommens helse og trivsel, både i den enkelte bydel og i hele Oslo. Resultatene skal brukes til å planlegger en bedre helsetjeneste, og til å finne ut mer om årsaker til sykdom. I tillegg til ungdomsprosjektet inviterer vi utvalgte voksne aldersgrupper til Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo, til sammen ca. 50.000 personer.

Dette er første gang vi inviterer ungdom til en slik undersøkelse!

Hvorfor bør ungdommene være med i denne helseundersøkelsen? Hva vil vi med ungdomsundersøkelsen?

- finne ut hvordan helsa til ungdommene er
 - finne ut hvordan de trives
- finne ut hva som bidrar til god helse og trivsel
 bedre helsetjenesten og det forebyggende helsearbeidet for
- veue neiselenesien og uet for enjägende neised veuet for ungdom
 - arbeide for å finne ut mer om forskjeller mellom bydelene
 - finne ut hva som kjennetegner et godt oppvekstmiljø

Hvordan foregår undersøkelsen?

Helseundersøkelsen (utfylling av to spørreskjemaer, ingen helsesjekk) foregår på skolen i skoletiden, og finner sted i løpet av våren og høsten 2000.

Hva spør vi om?

Vi spør bl.a. om sykdom og helse, kosthold, idrett, nærmiljøet og hvordan ungdommen selv synes de har det.

Må alle være med?

Undersøkelsen er frivillig. Vi håper at alle deltar. De som ikke deltar i undersøkelsen, bruker tiden til vanlig skolearbeid .

Hvordan skal resultatene brukes?

Elever som er 15 år og eldre skriver selv under på samtykke om bruk av data til planlegging og forskning. Vi ber også om muligheten til å ta ny kontakt for å gi tilbud om eventuelle nye undersøkelser senere. Spørreskjemaene inneholder ikke navn eller personnummer, men skal merkes med en kode som bare kan leses av en datamaskin. De utfylte skjemaene blir samlet inn av en person fra Statens helseundersøkelser. Dataene blir behandlet strengt fortrolig.

Etter godkjenning fra Datatilsynet kan svarene kobles mot andre helsetrygde- og sykdomsregistre og mot registre fra for eksempel folketellinger. Dataene kan lagres uten noen spesiell tidsbegrensning. Det er likevel fullt mulig når som helst å trekke seg fra undersøkelsen, og be om å bli slettet fra registeret. Dette må i så fall gjøres skriftlig.

Hvem godkjenner undersøkelsen?

Undersøkelsen er forelagt Den regionale komite for medisinsk forskningsetikk, og den er godkjent av Datatilsynet.

De som står bak undersøkelsen.

Statens helseundersøkelser har i over 50 år drevet store befolkningsundersøkelser i hele landet. Denne undersøkelsen gjennomføres i samarbeid med Oslo kommune og Universitetet i Oslo. Skolesjefen i Oslo har anbefalt undersøkelsen.

Undersøkelsen er tilknyttet Oslos 1000-års jubileum.

Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo er et samarbeid mellom:

Oslo kommune

Byrådsavdeling for eldre og bydelene Rådhuset, 0037 OSLO. Tlf. 22 86 16 00



Universitet i Oslo Institutt for allmennmedisin og samfunnsmedisin Postboks 1130 Blindern, 0317 OSLO. Tlf. 22 85 05 50.



Statens helseundersøkelser Postboks 8155 Dep., 0033 OSLO Tlf. 22 24 21 00.(9-15) e-post: post@shus.no Du finner også informasjon om helseundersøkelsen på hjemmesidene våre **www.shus.no**

Kontaktperson for ungdomsundersøkelsen: tove Eie Tlf. 22 24 21 22 E-mail: <u>tove.eie@shus.no</u> Ønsker du å snakke med noen etter at du har svart på spørsmålene, kan du kontakte **skolehelsetjenesten** på skolen din, eller du kan ringe til: Barn og unges Kontakttelefon: TJf. 80 03 33 21 Kontakttelefonen er åpen mellom kl. 14.00 og 20.00 alle ukedager, fra mandag til fredag.

Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo

UNGDOM Informasjon til dere som tyller 15/16 år i 2000

~ .
•
0
1

Hvordan synes **du** det er å være ungdom i Oslo? Hvordan er helsa di for tida? Hvordan har du det?

helseundersøkelsen. Opplysningene som samles inn skal bl.a. brukes til å finne ut hva som er viktig for ungdommens helse og trivsel - både i din bydel og i hele Oslo. Resultatene skal brukes til å planlegge en bedre helsetjeneste, og til å finne ut mer om årsaker til sykdom. Dette er noe av det vi håper å få svar på gjennom denne

Dere som er 15 og 16 år er de eneste ungdommene som blir spurt om å Nå har du sjansen til å være med å planlegge framtida! være med.

Det er første gang vi inviterer ungdom i Oslo til en helseundersøkelse!

Flere voksne aldersgrupper vil også bli invitert til Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo, til sammen ca. 50.000 personer.

Hvordan foregår undersøkelsen?

spørreskjemaer. Vi spør om sykdom og helse, kosthold, idrett, nærmiljø, Undersøkelsen blir gjort i skoletiden, og vi ber deg svare på to og hvordan du har det. Du skal ikke gjennom en helsesjekk.

Hvordan skal resultatene brukes?

spørreskjemaene til planlegging og forskning. Vi ber også om muligheten (samtykkeerklæring). Der sier du deg enig i at vi kan bruke svarene fra Før du fyller ut skjemaene, ber vi deg skrive under en godkjenning

til å kontakte deg senere for å gi deg tilbud om å være med i eventuelle nye undersøkelser.

idsbegrensning for hvor lenge opplysningene kan lagres. Du kan når som navn og personnummer på spørreskjemaene, men en kode som bare kan Opplysningene kan kobles opp mot andre registre hvis Datatilsynet gir sykdomsregistre, eller data fra for eksempel folketellinger. Det er ikke tillatelse til det. Dette kan for eksempel være andre helse-, trygde- og nelst trekke deg fra undersøkelsen. Dette må i såfall gjøres skriftlig. Dataene blir behandlet strengt fortrolig. Det er ikke noen spesiell leses av en datamaskin.

Undersøkelsen er frivillig.

Undersøkelsen er frivillig. Vi håper at du vil delta. Det er veldig viktig at flest mulig er med. De som ikke ønsker å delta, vil få vanlig skolearbeid mens undersøkelsen pågår.

Hvem står bak undersøkelsen?

Vi i Statens helseundersøkelser (SHUS) samarbeider med Oslo kommune og Universitetet i Oslo. Datatilsynet har godkjent undersøkelsen. Skolesjefen i Oslo har anbefalt undersøkelsen

Du skal vite at:

- alle som jobber med helseundersøkelsen har taushetsplikt
 - resultatene skal brukes i planlegging og forskning og blir behandlet helt fortrolig
 - dine foreldre/foresatte er informert om undersøkelsen
 - det er viktig at nettopp <u>du</u> deltar

KOPI AV SAMTYKKEERKLÆRING

for å delta i Helseundersøkelsen av ungdom i Oslo "UNGDOM 2004"

Jeg har mottatt informasjon om Helseundersøkelsen "UNGDOM 2004", som er en del av Landsomfattende helseundersøkelse i Norge. Jeg er informert om **formålet** med undersøkelsen og at:

- opplysninger om meg blir behandlet strengt fortrolig
- undersøkelsen er godkjent av Datatilsynet og forelagt Den regionale komité for medisinsk forskningsetikk
 - ingen forskere vil få tilgang til opplysninger som direkte kan tilbakeføres til meg
 - børsteprøver og spørreskjema lagres nedlåst ved Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt
- det ikke er satt noen spesiell tidsbegrensning for hvor lenge opplysningene om meg kan lagres
- jeg på et senere tidspunkt kan be om å bli slettet fra registeret og/eller at børsteprøven destrueres uten å oppgi noen grunn, ved å sende skriftlig henvendelse til: Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt, Postboks 4404, Nydalen, 0403 Oslo.

Erklæringen nedenfor er avgitt innenfor rammene av informasjon jeg har mottatt om helseundersøkelsen.

ERKLÆRING

- Jeg vil delta i spørreskjemaundersøkelsen og samtykker til at data kan benyttes til planlegging og forskning nå og i fremtiden.
- Jeg vil avgi børsteprøve og samtykker til at data kan benyttes til forskning, herunder analyser av arvemateriale og sammenheng med sykdom og helseplager nå og i fremtiden.
- Jeg samtykker til at jeg på et senere tidspunkt kan bli kontaktet og få tilbud om å være med i nye undersøkelser.
- Jeg samtykker til at dataene etter godkjenning fra Datatilsynet, kan kobles med opplysninger om meg i andre helseundersøkelser og registre. Dette kan for eksempel være tidligere helseundersøkelser, helse-, trygde- eller sykdomsregistre, eller data fra folketellinger.

Jeg samtykker i punktene ovenfor.

Jeg samtykker <u>ikke</u> til følgende punkter.....

Dette eksemplaret <u>beholder du selv</u>. Samtykkeerklæringen på baksiden av invitasjonsbrevet underskrives og returneres sammen med spørreskjema/ børsteprøver. Den returnerte samtykkeerklæringen vil bli oppbevart på et nedlåst sted atskilt fra spørreskjema/børsteprøver slik at forskere ikke vil ha adgang til opplysninger som kan identifisere deg som person.

Invitasjon til å delta i Helseundersøkelsen UNGDOM 2004











Universitet i Oslo Institutt for allmenn- og samfunnsmedisin Postboks 1130 Blindern, 0317 OSLO. Prosjektteder professor Erosen Bjertness



Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt Postboks 4404 Nydalen 0403 Oslo Avd.direktør Wenche Nystad

Kontaktperson for undersøkelsen: Åse Sagatun tif 22 85 06 77 E-post ase.sagatun@samfunnsmed.uio.no

Hva er viktig for ungdoms helse og velvære? Hvordan kan vi unngå at ungdom blir syke?

Dette er noe av det vi håper å få svar på gjennom helseundersøkelsen UNGDOM 2004.

DU er invitert til å delta sammen med alle de andre som deltok i Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo i 10. klasse i 2001. Målet er å få en bedre helsetjeneste for ungdom, og å finne ut mer om årsaker til sykdom. Derfor er nettopp DINE svar viktige. Undersøkelsen er unik i Norge, bl.a. fordi vi vil få helsedata fra de samme ungdommene på to ulike tidspunkter. Ved å sammenligne resultatene med forrige undersøkelse, kan vi lære mye om hvordan ungdoms helse endrer seg over tid. Nå kan DU være med å bidra til arbeidet med å forhindre sykdom hos nye generasjoner av ungdom i fremtiden. Undersøkelsen dreier seg om hvordan du har det, om sykdom og helse, om sosial støtte og mestring, om nærmiljøet, om idrett, lese-/skrivevansker og kosthold. Vi vil også undersøke om forhold knyttet til arvematerialet kan forklare hvorfor noen har helseproblemer mens andre ikke har det.

Som takk for at du deltar med spørreskjema og børsteprøve, blir du med i trekningen av tre pengepremier <u>à kr. 15.000</u> Hvordan foregår undersøkelsen? Da du gikk i 10. klasse takket du JA til å kunne bli kontaktet igjen, noe vi er veldig glade for. Vi ber deg nå om å svare på vedlagte spørreskjema, og ta en børsteprøve av munnslimhinnen. Bruksanvisningen finner du i vedlagte "boblepose". Børsteprøven fungerer omtrent som å gni en tannbørste over tannkjøttet. Disse prøvene skal brukes til å studere arvestoffet for å se om spesielle typer arvestoff kan beskytte mot eller gi økt risiko for lese-/skrivevansker eller helseproblemer som f. eks. angst, depresjon, astma, allergi og kreft.

Hvordan skal resultatene brukes? Før du tar børsteprøven og fyller ut spørreskjemaet, ber vi deg skrive under en godkjenning (samtykkeerklæring) – som du finner på baksiden av invitasjonsbrevet.



Der sier du deg enig i at vi kan bruke opplysningene til planlegging og forskning. Vi ber også om muligheten til å kontakte deg senere for å gi deg tilbud om å være med i en eventuell ny undersøkelse. Det kan dreie seg om en undersøkelse i løpet av de neste 5-10 årene, og du kan når den tid kommer selvfølgelig velge om du vil være med eller

Opplysningene dine blir behandlet strengt fortrolig, og de blir oppbevart og sikret i henhold til regelverk vedtatt av Stortinget. Det er ikke noen spesiell tidsbegrensning for hvor lenge børsteprøve og spørreskjema kan lagres. Du kan når som helst senere be om å bli slettet fra registeret uten å oppgi noen grunn. Dette må i så fall skje skriftlig til Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt (se baksiden av arket). Opplysningene kan kobles opp mot andre helseundersøkelser (f.eks. fra 10. klasse) og fra andre registre f.eks. Medisinsk fødselsregister freftregisteret of Utdanningsregisteret dersom Datatilsynet gir tillatelse til det. Det er ikke navn eller fødselsnummer på spørreskjemaet og børsteprøvene, men en kode som bare kan leses av en datamaskin, slik at forskere ikke kan gjenkjenne deltakerne. Undersøkelsen er frivillig. Vi håper imidlertid du vil delta, slik at vi kan få et mest mulig riktig og nyansert bilde av ungdoms helse. Det er veldig viktig at flest mulig er med for å gi undersøkelsen høy kvalitet.

Hvem står bak undersøkelsen? Undersøkelsen er et samarbeid mellom Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt og Universitetet i Oslo. Undersøkelsen er godkjent av Datatilsynet og forelagt Regional etisk komité for medisinsk forskning.

Du skal vite at:

- alle som jobber med helseundersøkelsen har taushetsplikt
- resultatene skal bare brukes i planlegging og forskning og blir behandlet helt fortrolig
 - det er viktig at nettopp <u>du</u> deltar

Appendix II

Informed Consent:

- The youth part of the Oslo and Hedmark Health Study (1)
- Youth 2004 (2)

Lim inn etikett med navn og personnummer

SAMTYKKEERKLÆRING for deltakelse i Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo

UNGDOM

Jeg har mottatt informasjon om ungdomsdelen av Helseundersøkelsen i Oslo. Jeg er informert om formålet med undersøkelsen. Jeg er også kjent med at opplysninger om meg blir behandlet strengt fortrolig og at undersøkelsen er godkjent av Datatilsynet. Undersøkelsen er forelagt Den regionale komité for medisinsk forskningsetikk. Jeg er videre kjent med at det ikke er satt noen spesiell tidsbegrensning for hvor lenge opplysningene om meg kan lagres. Jeg kan på et senere tidspunkt be om å bli slettet fra registeret uten å oppgi noen grunn. Dette må i så fall sendes skriftlig til Statens helseundersøkelser.

- 1. Jeg samtykker i at svarene mine kan brukes til planlegging og forskning.
- 2. Jeg samtykker i at jeg på et senere tidspunkt kan bli kontaktet og få tilbud om å være med i nye undersøkelser.
- 3. Jeg samtykker i at dataene, etter godkjenning fra Datatilsynet, kan kobles med opplysninger om meg i andre registre. Dette kan for eksempel være andre helse-, trygde- eller sykdomsregistre, eller data fra for eksempel folketellinger.

Du kan stryke det eller de punkter som du vil reservere deg mot.

Elevens underskrift

Dato

SAMTYKKEERKLÆRING

for å delta i Helseundersøkelsen av ungdom i Oslo UNGDOM 2004

Jeg har mottatt informasjon om Helseundersøkelsen av ungdom - UNGDOM 2004, som er en del av Landsomfattende helseundersøkelse i Norge.

Jeg er informert om formålet med undersøkelsen og at:

- opplysninger om meg blir behandlet strengt fortrolig
- undersøkelsen er godkjent av Datatilsynet og forelagt Den regionale komité for medisinsk forskningsetikk
- ingen forskere vil få tilgang til opplysninger som direkte kan tilbakeføres til meg
- børsteprøver og spørreskjema lagres nedlåst ved Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt
- det ikke er satt noen spesiell tidsbegrensning for hvor lenge opplysningene om meg kan lagres
- jeg på et senere tidspunkt kan be om å bli slettet fra registeret og/eller at børsteprøven destrueres uten å oppgi noen grunn, ved å sende skriftlig henvendelse til: Nasjonalt folkehelseinstitutt, Postboks 4404, Nydalen, 0403 Oslo.

Erklæringen nedenfor er avgitt innenfor rammene av informasjon jeg har mottatt om helseundersøkelsen.

ERKLÆRING

\bot

- 1. Jeg vil delta i spørreskjemaundersøkelsen og samtykker til at data kan benyttes til planlegging og forskning nå og i fremtiden.
- 2. Jeg vil avgi børsteprøve og samtykker til at data kan benyttes til forskning, herunder analyser av arvemateriale og sammenheng med sykdom og helseplager nå og i fremtiden.
- 3. Jeg samtykker til at jeg på et senere tidspunkt kan bli kontaktet og få tilbud om å være med i nye undersøkelser.
- 4. Jeg samtykker til at dataene etter godkjenning fra Datatilsynet, kan kobles med opplysninger om meg i andre helseundersøkelser og registre. Dette kan for eksempel være tidligere helseundersøkelser, helse-, trygde- eller sykdomsregistre, eller data fra folketellinger.

Jeg samtykker i punktene ovenfor.

Jeg samtykker <u>ikke</u> til følgende punkter:....

Dette eksemplaret <u>underskrives og returneres</u> sammen med spørreskjema/ børsteprøver. Kopi av samtykkeerklæringen har du fått i informasjonsbrosjyren. Du kan også få en ekstra kopi etter undersøkelsen. Den returnerte samtykkeerklæringen vil bli oppbevart på et nedlåst sted atskilt fra spørreskjema/børsteprøver slik at forskere ikke vil ha adgang til opplysninger som kan identifisere deg som person.

T

Underskrift

Appendix III

Questionnaires:

- The youth part of the Oslo Health Study (1 and 2)
- The youth part of the Hedmark Health Study (1 and 3)

9.7 (mor - yrke)

U1. EGEN HELSE

.1	Hvordan er	helsen din nå? (Se	ett bare ett kryss)	
	Dårlig	Ikke helt god	God	Svært god
.2	Har du. elle	r har du hatt? (Sett	ett kryss for hve	
	Astma			
	Høysnue (p	ollenallergi, allergisk	reaksjon,	
		ese, svie i bynene)		
	Eksem			
	Diabetes (si	ukkersyke)		
.3	Har du de s	siste 12 mnd hatt? (Sett ett kryss for	hver linje)
	Ørebetenne	lse		
	Halsbetenne	else (minst 3 ganger,)	
	Bronkitt elle	r lungebetennelse		
	Psykisk plag	ge som det er søkt hj	elp for	🗆 🗆
	Alvorlig ska	de eller sykdom		
	Hvis du sva eller sykdon	rte «JA»; hva slags a n var dette:	Ivorlig skade	
	an to the state of the			
1.4	Har du følg (Sett ett krys	jende funksjonshe r ss for hver linje)	mming? Nei	Ja, Ja, litt mye
	Bevegelses	hemming		
	Nedsatt syn	l		
	Nedsatt hør	sel		
1.5	Har du i løp plaget med	oet av de <u>siste 12 m</u> I smerter i? <i>(Sett ett</i>	nd flere ganger kryss for hver linj	vært e) JA NE
	Hode (hode	pine, migrene e.l.)		
	Nakke/skulo	dre		🗆 🗆
	Armer/ben/l	knær		
	Mage			🗆 🗆
	Rygg			
	Hvis du sva	rte «NEI» på alle spo	orsmålene under	1.5: Hopp til U2
1.6	Har disse s	mertene ført til at d	lu har vært	
	Oppgi også (Sett bare e	ca. antall skoledage tt kryss)	r de siste 12 mno	J:
	Nei	Ja, 1-2 Ja, 3-5 Ja dager dager d 2 3	, 6-10 Ja, mer e ager 10 dage	er i
1.7	Har smerte	ene ført til redusert	aktivitet i fritida	
ILLO	skriv her: 1	3 (skada)	8 1 (utdanning	0.0

9.7 (far - yrke)

	U Helse- undersøkelsen
Dato 1 Dag	T for utfylling: Måned År
U2	TANNHELSE
2.1	Mener du at du har bedre eller dårligere tenner enn andre ungdommer på din alder? (Sett bare ett kryss) Bedre Som de fleste Dårligere Vet ikke 1 2 3 4
2.2	Bryr du deg om at du har fine tenner? (Sett bare ett kryss) Ja, mye1 Ja, litt2 Nei3
2.3	Hvor ofte pusser du tennene dine? (Sett bare ett kryss) Flere ganger En gang om dagen om dagen dag Annenhver dag Sjeldnere enn annenhver dag 1 2 3 4
2.4	Har du hatt tannverk på grunn av hull? (Sett eventuelt flere kryss) Ja, men før jeg Ja, etter at jeg Nei, Vet begynte på skolen begynte på skolen aldri ikke
U3	MOSJON OG FYSISK AKTIVITET
3.1	Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange ganger i uka driver du idrett/mosjon slik at du blir andpusten eller svett? ganger pr. uke
3.2	Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1-2 3-4 5-7 8-10 11 timer timer timer timer timer timer 1 2 3 4 5 6
3.3	Driver du med konkurranseldrett?
3.4	Bruker du naturen (skog og mark) til turer? Aldri Ja, mindre enn Ja, 1 gang i 1 gang i måneden måneden seller mer
	Sommer: 1 2 3
	Vinter: 1 2 3
3.5	Utenom skoletid: Hvor mange timer pr. skoledag (mandag til fredag) sitter du i gjennomsnitt foran TV, video og/eller PC (spill og internett)? Inntil 1 time 1-2 timer 3-5 timer Mer enn 5 timer 1 2 3 4
	Hvordan kommer du deg normalt <u>til skolen</u>
3.6	i sommerhalvåret? (Sett bare ett kryss)
3.6	i sommerhalvåret? (Sett bare ett kryss) Med buss/tog e.l. (offentlig transport) 1
3.6	i sommerhalvåret? (Sett bare ett kryss) Med buss/tog e.l. (offentlig transport) Med bil/moped
3.6	i sommerhalvåret? (Sett bare ett kryss) Med buss/tog e.l. (offentlig transport) 1 Med bil/moped 2 På sykkel 3
3.6	i sommerhalvåret? (Sett bare ett kryss) Med buss/tog e.l. (offentlig transport) I Med bil/moped På sykkel I Til fots I

12.5 (prevensjon)

12.6 (p-pille merke)

U4	RØYKING, RUSMID	LER OG	DOF)	1.22/10	U5	5. Mat, drikke og spisevaner (fortsettelse)
4.1	Røyker du, eller har du røykt? (Nei, aldri Ja, men jeg har sluttet 1 2	/Sett bare e Ja, a	tt kryss, av og til) Ja	, hver dag	5.2	Hvor mye drikker du vanligvis av følgende? (Sett ett kryss pr. linje) Sjelden 1-6 1 glass 2-3 4 glass (1/2 liter = 3 glass) laddri glass pr.dag pr.dag pr.dag
	Hvis du har svart «NEI, ALDRI»;	hopp til pkt.	4.3			Г	Helmelk, kefir, yoghurt
4.2	Hvor gammel var du da du beg	ynte å røyk	te?		år		Lettmelk, cultura, lettyoghurt
4.3	Bruker du eller har du brukt sni lignende? (Sett bare ett kryss)	us, skrå ell	er				Cola/brus med sukker
	Nei, aldri Ja, men jeg har sluttet	Ja, av og til	Ja,	hver d	ag		
	1 2	3		4			Saft
4.4	Røyker noen av de du bor same (Sett ett eller flere kryss)	men med?					Vann
	Ja, mor Ja, far Ja, søsken	Ja, andre	N	ei		5.3	Hva slags fett bruker du oftest på brødet? (Sett bare ett kryss) Smør/hard Myk/lett Oljer Bruker marrarin marrarin ikke
				JA	NEI		
4.5	Har du noen gang drukket alko (f.eks. alkoholholdig øl, rusbrus, v eller hjemmebrent)	hol? in, brennev	in			5.4	Hvor ofte spiser du disse måltidene en vanlig uke? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Sjelden 1-2 3-4 5-6 Hver /aldri ganger ganger ganger dag pr.uke pr.uke
	Hvis du svarte «NEI»; hopp til pkt	. 4.8					Frokost
4.6	Har du noen gang drukket så m	ye alkohol	knucel				Formiddagsmat/matpakke
	Nei, Ja, Ja,	Ja,	KIYSS)	Ja, mer			Middag
	aldri en gang 2-3 gange	r 4-10 gang	jer enn	10 gan	ger	5.5	Hvor mye penger bruker du <u>i uka</u> på snop, snacks, cola/brus og gatekjøkkenmat? (Sett bare ett kryss)
4.7	Omtrent hvor ofte har du i løpel året drukket alkohol? (Sett bare	t av det sis ett krvss)	te				0-25 kr 26-50 kr 51-100 kr 101-150 kr 151-200 kr over 200 k 1 2 3 4 5 6
	(Lettøl og alkoholfritt øl regnes ikk	e med)				5.6	Bruker du følgende kosttilskudd: Ja, daglig Iblant Nei
	4-7 ganger 2-3 ganger i uka i uka	i uka	2-3 pr. 1	ganger måned			
	1 2	3		4		5.7	Har du noen gang prøvd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett krvss)
	Omtrent 1 gang Noen få ganger H	lar ikke druk	ket	Har al	dri		Nei, aldri Ja, tidligere Ja, ná Ja, hele tiden
		7	ai un		8		1 2 3 4
Conserved and	Section Section 1			_	Т	-	Hvis du svarte «NEI, ALDRI»; hopp til pkt. 5.9:
4.8	Har du noen gang prøvd doping Nei, Ja, en Ja, flere Ja aldri gang ganger det	gmidler? (S , jeg bruker regelmessig	Sett bare	ett krj	yss)	5.8	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Aldri Sjelden Ofte Alltid
	1 2 3	4					Jeg faster
							Jeg trener mer
U5	MAT, DRIKKE OG S	PISEVA	NER				Jeg kaster opp
5.1	Hvor ofte spiser du vanligvis d (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	isse matva	irene?				Jeg bruker avføringspiller eller vandrivende midler
	Sjelden 1-	-3 g. 1-3 g.	4-6 g.	1-2 g.	3 g. el. mer		Jeg tar mettende eller
	Frukt, bær		pr.uke	pr.dag	pr.dag		sult-dempende piller
	Ost (alle typer)					5.9	Hva veide du sist du veide deg? hele kg
	Poteter					5.10	0 Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? hele cm
						5.11	1 Hva synes du om vekta di? (Sett bare ett kryss)
							Vekta er Veier litt Veier att Veier litt Veier att OK for mye for mye for lite for lite
	Rå grønnsaker/salat						1 2 3 4 5
	Feit fisk <i>(f.eks. laks, orret, makrell, sild)</i>					5.12	2 Jeg bryr meg mye om vekta mi. (Sett bare ett kryss) Enig Litt enig Ikke enig
	Sjokolade/smågodt					5.13	3 Hvilken vekt ville du vært tilfreds med nå (din «trivselsvekt»)?
						5.14	4 Har du noen gang vært til behandling for spiseforstyrrelser?
	1	2 3	4	5	6		Nei Nei, men jeg burde vært Ja

U6. PÅKJENNINGER OG MESTRING

	5.1	Under finner du en liste over ulike pla noe av dette den siste uken (til og me	ager. Ha ed i dag	r du op	plevd		7.1
		(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	lkke plaget	Litt plaget	Ganske mye	Veldig mye	
		Plutselig frykt uten grunn					
		Føler deg redd eller engstelig					
		Matthet eller svimmelhet					
		Føler deg anspent eller oppjaget					
		Lett for å klandre deg selv	🗆				
		Søvnproblemer					
		Nedtrykt, tungsindig (trist)					
		Følelse av å være unvttig, lite verd					
		Følelse av at alt er et slit					
		Følelse av håpløshet mht, framtida					
			1	2	3	4	
6	5.2	Under finner du noen påstander. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	Helt	Nokså	Nokså	Helt	-
		Jeg klarer alltid å løse vanskelige problemer hvis jeg prøver hardt nok	galt	galt	riktig	riktig	U8 8.1
		Hvis noen motarbeider meg, så kan jeg finne måter og veier for å få det som jeg v	vil 🗌				
		Hvis jeg har et problem og står helt fast så finner jeg vanligvis en vei ut					
		Jeg føler meg trygg på at jeg ville kunne takle uventede hendelser på en effektiv måte	e 				
		Jeg beholder roen når jeg møter vanskeligheter, fordi jeg stoler på mine evner til å mestre/få til ting		2	3		
6	5.3	Har du i løpet av de <u>siste 12 mnd</u> selv opplevd noe av følgende? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	v	2	,	4	
		Foreldre (foresatte) har blitt arbeidsløse		JA	NEI		
		Alverlig sykdom aller skade bee dee sel		🗆			8.2
		Alvorlig sykdom eller skade hos deg sei	IV	🖂			8.3
		som står deg nær		🗌			
		Dødsfall hos noen som sto deg nær		🗌			
		Seksuelle overgrep (f.eks. blotting, befør ufrivillig samleie m.m.)	ling,				
6	.4	Har du opplevd noe av følgende?					8.4
		(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)		Nei	Ja, av og til	Ja, ofte	
		Stort arbeidspress på skolen					
		Stort press fra andre for å lykkes/					110
		gjøre det bra på skolen					09
		Store vansker med a konsentrere deg i	timen				9.1
		Store vansker med a forsta læreren når hun/han underviser					
							9.2
6	.5	Har fagpersonell sagt at du har eller ha hatt lese- og skrivevansker. (Sett bare e	ar ett kryss)		т		5.5
		Ja, store Ja, middels Ja, lette	Nei				9.4
			4				
6	.6	Har du i løpet av de <u>siste 12 mnd.</u> oppl problemer med mobbing på skolen/ske (Sett bare ett kryss)	evd oleveien	?			9.5
		Aldri Av og til Omtrent en gang i uka	Flere ga	nger			
				4			

U7. BRUK AV HELSETJENESTER

7.1	Har du de siste 12 mnd. selv brukt?: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	Ingen ganger	1-3 ganger	4 ganger eller mer	
	Skolehelsetjenesten				
	Helsestasjon for ungdom				
	Vanlig lege (Allmennpraktiserende lege)				
	PP-tjenesten	Π			
	Psykolog eller psykiater				
	(privat eller på poliklinikk)	_	_	_	
	Familierådgivning				
	Annen spesialist (privat eller på poliklinikk)				
	Legevakt (privat eller offentlig)				
	Sykehusinnleggelse				
	Sosialtjenesten i kommunen				
	Fysioterapeut				
	Tannlege/skoletannlege				
	Alternativ behandler				
U8	. UTDANNING OG UTDANN	INGS	SPLA	NER	
8.1	Hva er den høyeste utdanning du har ter	nkt å ta	?		
	(Sett bare ett kryss) Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning av høye	ere grad		🗌 1	
	psykolog, siviløkonom)	le, lege,			
	Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning <u>på mell</u> (F.eks. cand.mag., lærer, sosionom, sykeple ingeniør, journalist)	omnivå eier, po	liti,	[] 2	Т
	Videregående allmennfaglig/økonomisk adr	ninistra	tive fag	3	
	Yrkesfaglig utdanning på videregående sko (kokk, frisør, byggfag, elektrofag, helse- og	le sosialfa	ng o.l.)	4	
	Ett år på videregående skole			5	
	Annet:	1.5		6	
	Har ikke bestemt meg			7	
8.2	Hvor mye egne penger brukte du siste uke (Småinnkjøp pluss større gjenstander som f.eks. musikkanlegn o.).	?kr	JA	NEI]
8.3	Har du lønnet arbeid i løpet av skoleåret?		. 🗆		
	Hvis du svarte «JA»:	-	1		
	Hvor mange timer i uka arbeider du? ca.	_	nele tin	ner	
	Hvor mye tjener du i gjennomsnitt pr. måned på dette arbeidet? kr		Π		
8.4	Hvilken karakter fikk du siste gangen	ktoror)			
	Matte Norsk skriftlig Engelsk Sar	mfunns	fag		
			-9		
		Ц			
U9	. OPPVEKST OG TILHØRIG	HET	2.10		
9.1	Hvor lenge har du bodd i Norge?	rele	år		
9.2	Hvor lenge har du bodd der du bor nå?		hele	år	
9.3	Har du flyttet i løpet av de siste 5 årene?	(Sett)	bare ett	krvss)	
	Nei Ja, en gang Ja, 2-4 ganger	Ja, 5 ga	inger elle	er flere	
9.4	Mine foreldre er: (Sett bare ett kryss)				
	Gift/samboere Ugift Skilt/separert En ell	ler begg	e er død 4	e Annet	
9.5	Hvor er dine foreldre født?				
	Norge Annet land Hvilket land:				
	Far: Far:				
	Mor: Mor:				

9.6	Oppvekst og tilhørighet (fortsettelse)	011.	SEKSUELL AD	-ERD C	Is med	ENSJC	
	Jeg tror vår familie, sett i forhold til andre i Norge, har:			(en partner fler	e partnere	Nei
	Dårlig råd Middels råd God råd Svært god råd	11.1 Ha	r du noen gang hatt sa	mleie?			
		Hv	is du svarte «NEI»; hopp	til U12		T	1
9.7	Er far og/eller mor i arbeid nå?	11.2 Al	der første gang?		Jeg va	ar	år
	Ja, Ja, Arbeidsløs/ Hjemme- Går på skole/ Død heltid deltid trygdet værende studerer	11.3 Br	ukte du/dere prevensjo	n ved sist	e samleie?		
	Far: 1 2 3 4 5 6		Nei Ja, kondom Ja, p-	pille/p-sprø	yte Ja, annet	Vet ikke	
			1 2	3	4		I Vot
	Hvis far og/eller mor er i arbeid, hvilket vrke har de?	11.4 H	ar du noen gang blitt gra	vid/aiort e	i iente gravid	2	
				ina gjorro	. joine grand		
	Far:	H	vis du svarte «JA»;				1
		H	vor gammel var du da d	ette skjed	de? Jeg va	ar	år
	Mor					JA NE	I Vet
	Skriv kort hva hun gjør på jobben:	В	e det utført abort?			. 🗆 🗆	
	and the second sec	U12.	BRUK AV MEDI	SINER	M.M	the main in	
111		12.1 H	vor ofte har du i løpet a	v de 4 sis	te ukene bru	ıkt	
10.1	Hvem bor du sammen med nå? (Sett bare ett kruss)	fø	Igende medisiner? (Se	tt ett kryss	for hver linje)	
	(Ta ikke med søsken og halvsøsken.)	M	ed medisiner mener vi he osttilskudd og vitaminer r	er medisin eanes ikke	er kjøpt på ap e med her.	ootek.	
	Mor og far Bare mor Bare far Omtrent like mye hos mor og far		on and og maniner i	egnee i <u>nn</u>	Hver uk	e, Sjeldne	re Ikke
				Aldri D	Daglig daglig	uke	4 uke
	Mor el. tar og ny samboer el. ektefelle Fosterioreidre Andre	S	mertestillende uten resep	ot 🗌			. L
		S	mertestillende på resept.	🗆			
10.2	Hvor mange søsken eller halvsøsken bor du sammen med? Antall søsken	A	lerai-medisin		ПП		Г
10.5		r î					
10.3	eller eldre enn deg? Antall søsken	A	stma-medisin				L
10.4	Når du tenker nå familien din vil du si at:	S	ovemedisin	🗆			L
	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Helt Delvis Delvis Helt	B	eroligende medisin	🗆			
		M	edisin mot depresion				Г
		IVI	edisin mot depresjon				
	Jeg blir tatt på alvor i familien min	A	nnen medisin på resept	[]	2 3	4	
	Familien legger vekt på mine meninger	12.2 S	kriv navnet på medisine	ene som d	lu har kryss	et av for	
	Jeg betyr mye for familien min	01	venfor, og hva grunnen	var til at o	du tok media	sinene	
	Jeg kan regne med familien min når	()	ryss av for hvor lenge du	har brukt	medisinen)	Hvor ler	ge har
		D.	na ná modiolnon	Grun	n til bruk	Inntil	Ett
10.5	Hvilket forhold har du til	(0	tt navn pr. linje):	av m	edisinen:	1 år	eller r
	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) meget ganske ikke særlig ikke i det	1.5	the suger states of the				
	Foreldrene mine vet hvor jeg godt godt godt nele tatt						
	er og hva jeg gjør i helgene						
	Foreldrene mine vet hvor jeg er						
	og hva jeg gjør på hverdagene	De	rsom det ikke er nok plass her.	kan du forts	sette på eget ark	som du les	ger ved
	Foreldrene mine vet hvem jeg						
		S	PØRSMAL HL JE	NIEN		and the second	i de la
	Foreldrene mine liker vennene					JA	NEI
	jeg er sammen med på fritida	12.3 Ha	ar du fått menstruasjon	(«mensei	n»)?	🛛	
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, Heit Delvis Delvis Heit	12.3 Ha	ar du fått menstruasjon /is du svarte «NEI»; hopp	(«mensei til 12.5	n»)?	🗆	_
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) leg føler men angt kruttet til vengene mine	12.3 Ha	ar du fått menstruasjon <i>r</i> is du svarte «NEI»; hopp	(«menser til 12.5	n»)?		•
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 i Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine.	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d	(«mensei) til 12.5 u fikk din	n»)? første mens	📋	?
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 i Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Helt Delvis Delvis Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. Image: Setter ett kryss for hver linje) Image: Setter etter kryss for hver linje) Image: Setter etter kryss for hver linje) Vennene mine legger vekt på mine meninger. Image: Setter etter	12.3 Ha	ar du fått menstruasjon ris du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d	(«menser o til 12.5 u fikk din	n»)? første mens	🗋	?
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Helt Delvis Delvis Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. Image: Setter strukter	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv Je	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var år	(«mensei) til 12.5 u fikk din	n»)? første mens 上	🗌	?
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. Vennene mine legger vekt på mine meninger. Jeg kan bidra/være til støtte for vennene mine.	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv Je 12.5 Bi	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar ar år ruker du, eller har du br	(«mensel o til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:	n»)? første mens 上		?
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 i Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hu 12.4 Hu Je 12.5 Ba (S	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar år ruker du, eller har du br vett ett kryss for hver linje	(«mensen) til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:)	n»)? første mens ⊥ Nå For, me	struasjon	?
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (<i>Sett ett kryss for hver linje</i>) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv Je 12.5 Bi (S P-	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar	(«mensen) til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:)	n»)? første mens ⊥ Nå For, me	en ikke nå	? Al(
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (<i>Sett ett kryss for hver linje</i>) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv Je 12.5 Bi (S P-	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar år ruker du, eller har du br tett ett kryss for hver linje pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte .	(«mensei o til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:)	første mens	struasjon	? Ali
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (<i>Sett ett kryss for hver linje</i>) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hv 12.4 Hv Je 12.5 Bi (S P- Ar Hv	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar år ruker du, eller har du br tett ett kryss for hver linje pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte . anen prevensjon	(«mensel) til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:)	n»)? første mens L Nå For, me	 struasjon en ikke nå	? All
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hi 12.4 Hi Je 12.5 Br (S P- Ar Hi	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var ar år ruker du, eller har du br tett ett kryss for hver linje pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte . men prevensjon	(«mensel) til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:)	n»)? første mens L Nå For, me	 struasjon en ikke nå	? Ak
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (<i>Sett ett kryss for hver linje</i>) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hi 12.4 Hi 12.5 Bi (S P. Ar Hi 12.5 Ti	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var a år ruker du, eller har du br rett ett kryss for hver linje pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte . nnen prevensjon vilken type prevensjon?	(«mensei) til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:) 2:	n»)? første mens 	 struasjon en ikke nå	? Al(
10.6	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 2 3 4 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (<i>Sett ett kryss for hver linje</i>) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	12.3 Ha Hi 12.4 Hi 12.5 Bi (S P. Ar Hi 12.6 Ti Hi	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var a år ruker du, eller har du br rett ett kryss for hver linje pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte . nnen prevensjon vilken type prevensjon? I deg som bruker p-pille vilket merke bruker du br	(«mensei o til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:) ?: s/minipille nå?:	n»)? første mens L Nå For, me [] [] [struasjon en ikke nå	? Alı
10.¢	jeg er sammen med på fritida 1 1 2 3 4 5 Når du tenker på vennene dine, vil du si at: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine. Vennene mine legger vekt på mine meninger. Jeg kan bidra/være til støtte for vennene mine. Jeg kan bidra/være til støtte for vennene mine. Jeg kan regne med vennene mine når jeg trenger hjelp. 1 2 3 4 Hvor mange personer <u>utenfor</u> din nære familie står deg så nær at du kan regne med å få hjelp hvis du: Har personlige problemer <i>(I.eks. m/ skolearbeidet)</i> Antall personer Har du selv vært utsatt for vold (blitt slått, sparket e.l.) de siste 12 mnd.? <i>(Sett bare ett kryss)</i> Ja, av både	12.3 Ha Hi 12.4 Hi 12.5 Bi (S P. Ar Hi 12.6 Ti Hi	ar du fått menstruasjon vis du svarte «NEI»; hopp vor gammel var du da d g var a ar ruker du, eller har du br rett ett kryss for hver linje; pille/minipille/ p-sprøyte . anen prevensjon	(«mensei o til 12.5 u fikk din ukt:) ?: s/minipille nå?:	n»)? første mens 	en ikke nå	A I [

Etikett		U	/T	He	lse-	2
	Т	Dato for ut Dag	fylling: Måned	Ar	søkelse i Oslo	ən

HER KOMMER FLERE SPØRSMÅL!!!

Du synes kanskje vi allerede har spurt deg om det meste - men enda er det mer vi gjerne vil vite. Dette skjemaet har blant annet spørsmål om de sterke og svake sidene dine, om skolesituasjonen, om kultur og kontakt og om idrett og aktivitet.

Vi håper du tar deg tid til å tenke gjennom det vi spør om og at du svarer det **du** mener er riktig for **deg.**

Τ

Lykke til!

U/T1. DINE STERKE OG SVAKE SIDER

1.1 Svar på grunnlag av slik du har hatt det de siste 6 månedene. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)

	Stemmei ikke	Stemmer delvis	Stemmer helt		Stemmer ikke	Stemmer delvis	Stemmer helt
Jeg prøver å være hyggelig mot andre. Jeg bryr meg om hva de føler	🗋			Jeg er ofte lei meg, nedfor eller på gråten			
Jeg er rastløs. Jeg kan ikke være lenge i r	•			Jeg blir som regel likt av andre på min alder.			
Jeg får ofte hodepine, vondt i magen eller kvalme	🗌			Jeg blir tett forstyrret. Jeg synes det er vanskelig å konsentrere meg	🗆		
Jeg deler gjerne med andre (mat. spill, blvanter osv.)	🗖			Jeg blir nervøs i nye situasjoner. Jeg blir lett usikker			
			_	Jeg er snill mot de som er yngre enn meg	-		
et hissig temperament	🗍			Jeg blir ofte beskyldt for å lyve eller jukse	🗋		
Jeg er vanligvis for meg selv. Jeg gjør som regel ting alene	🗌			Andre barn eller unge erter eller plager meg.	🗆		
Jeg gjør vanligvis det jeg får beskjed om	🗌			Jeg tilbyr meg ofte å hjelpe andre (foreldre, lærere, andre barn/unge)	🗌		
Jeg bekymrer meg mye	🗌			Jeg tenker meg om før jeg handler (gjør noe			
Jeg er hjelpsom hvis noen er såret, oppskaket eller føler seg dårlig	🗌			Jeg tar ting som ikke er mine, hjemme, på skolen eller andre steder	🗌		
Jeg er stadig urolig, det kribler i kroppen	. 🗌			Jeg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder	🗌		
Jeg har en eller flere gode venner	. 🗌			Jeg er redd for mye. Jeg blir lett skremt	🗌		
Jeg slåss mye. Jeg kan presse andre til å gjøre det jeg vil	🗌	2	3	Jeg fullfører oppgaver. Jeg er god til å holde på oppmerksomheten	🔲	2	3

U/T2. BEKYMRINGER OG PROBLEMER

2.1 Har du i løpet av de siste 12 månedene hatt noen av disse problemene?(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)

Krangler, eller konflikter med foreldrene dine	Nei, aldri	Ja, av og til	Flere ganger	Svært ofte
Bekymringer i forhold til seksualitet				
Psykiske problemer hos foreldre/foresatte				
Problemer i forhold til venner				
Økonomiske problemer hos foreldre/foresatte				
Rusproblemer hos foreldre/foresatte				
Andre problemer	1	2	3	4

U/T3. SKOLESITUASJONEN DIN

3.1	Hvordan har du det på skolen? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)										
		Helt enig	Delvis enig	Delvis uenig	Helt uenig						
	Jeg trives i klassen										
	Jeg har mye til felles med andre i klassen										
	Jeg føler meg knyttet til klassen				2						
	Klasson legger vekt på mine meninger										

	Klassen legger vekt på mine	mening	jer					
	Lærerne legger vekt på meni	ingene	mine.					
	Lærerne mine setter pris på i	meg						
	Lærerne hjelper meg med far når jeg trenger det	gene						
	Lærerne hjelper meg med pe problemer hvis jeg trenger de	ersonlig et	e		2	3		
3.2	Hvor lett er det for deg å få (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	nye ve Alltid	enner Som i	på sko regel	len? Som	recel	Alltid	
	Blant ungdom med norsk bakgrunn	lett	6	11]	vans	kelig	vanskel	ig
	Blant ungdom	_		-	_	-	_	

2

3

4

U/T4. FORHOLDET TIL FAMILIEN DIN

4.1 Hvor viktig er det for deg: (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)

med innvandrerbakgrunn

À tilfredsstille behovene til	Meget viktig	Ganske viktig	Litt viktig	Ikke viktig i det hele tatt
familien din, selv om dine egn behov er forskjellige fra deres.				
Å unngå krangling med andre medlemmer av familien				
À sette familiens behov foran dine egne				
Å dele tingene (eiendelene) dine med andre i familien				
Å dele pengene dine med familien din				
À leve opp til forventningene fra familien din	1	2	3	4

U/T5. KULTUR OG KONTAKT

5.1 Hvordan er det å ha kontakt med folk fra forskjellige kulturer?

(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	Helt	Delvis	Delvis	Helt
Jeg liker meg like godt blant nordmenn som blant folk fra andre land og kulturer		enig	uenig	
Jeg foretrekker å være sammen med folk fra det landet jeg kommer fra				
Jeg synes at folk fra andre land og kulturer burde tilpasse seg norske kultur- tradisjoner og ikke holde på sine egne				
Jeg har like godt forhold til nordmenn som til folk fra andre land og kulturer				
Siden jeg bor i Norge, er det best jeg lever helt som nordmenn				
Jeg synes at folk fra andre land og kulturer skal leve som de gjør i hjernlandet sitt, selv om de bor i Norge				
Jeg synes det er vanskelig å velge om jeg skal leve som nordmenn, eller som folk fra andre land og kulturer				
Det er ofte vanskelig for ungdom med norsk og innvandrer bakgrunn å være sammen på fritida, fordi vi har ulike regler vi må følge				
Foreldrene mine har godt kjennskap til hva ungdommene her i Norge gjør på frilida				
Jeg synes det er vanskelig å bestemme om jeg skal leve som nordmenn, eller som folk fra andre land og kulturer.		2	3	4

5.2 Du kan føle deg som medlem av ulike etniske eller kulturelle grupper, som pakistanere, vietnamesere, eller andre, og du kan fole at du er en del av et større samfunn som for eksempel Norge.

Hvordan ser du på deg selv?

Т

	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	Helt enig	Delvis enig	Delvis uenig	Helt uenig
	Jeg ser på meg selv som norsk				
	Jeg ser på meg selv som pakistaner/ vietnameser/ chilener/ iraner/ annet				
	Jeg føler jeg er en del av kulturen til pakistanere/ vietnamesere/ chilenere/ iranere/ annet				
	Jeg er glad for å være norsk				
	Jeg er stolt av å være pakistaner/ vietnameser/ chilener/ iraner/ annet				
	Jeg føler at jeg er en del av den norske kulturen				
	Jeg er glad for å være pakistaner/ vietnameser/ chilener/ iraner/ annet				
	Jeg er stolt av å være norsk				
		4	2	3	4
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen fole seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett et kryss for hver innia)	t nmen, Helt	2 Delvis	3⊥ ⊥ Delvis	4 Helt
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen fole seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	1 n men, Helt enig	2 Delvis enig	3 ⊥ Delvis uenig	4 Helt uenig
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen fole seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg synes at andre har oppført seg urettferdig eller negativt overfor folk fra min kultur	1 1 men, Helt enig	2 Delvis enig	3 Delvis uenig	4 Helt uenig
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen føle seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg synes at andre har oppført seg urettferdig eller negativt overfor folk fra min kultur. Jeg føler meg ikke akseptert av folk fra andre kulturer.	1 Helt enig	2 Delvis enig	3 L Delvis uenig	4 Helt uenig
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen fole seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg synes at andre har oppført seg urettferdig eller negativt overfor folk fra min kultur. Jeg føler meg ikke akseptert av folk fra andre kulturer. Jeg føler at folk fra andre kulturer har i mot meg	Helt enig	2 Delvis enig	3 Delvis uenig	4 Helt uenig
5.3	Når folk med forskjellig bakgrunn er sam kan noen fole seg urettferdig behandlet. Følgende utsagn handler om dette. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg synes at andre har oppført seg urettferdig eller negativt överfor folk fra min kultur	Helt enig	2 Delvis enig	3 L Delvis uenig	4 Helt uenig

U/	6. KRIGSOPPLEVELSER		
6.1	Har noen av foreldrene dine opplevd	NEI V	√et ikke
~ ~		L	
6.2	Har du noen gang oppievd krig og følgene av krig på nært hold?		
U/T	7. SORG		
7.1	Har du opplevd sorg, som har eller har hatt betydning for din helse? (Sett bare ett kryss)		
	Ja, Ja, Ja, har en gang for ílere ganger før nå	Nei	
	1 2 3	4	
7.2	Hvilke helseplager fikk du i så fall av hendelse: (den <u>siste</u> , hvis du har opplevd flere)	17	
	Mest Mest Begge omtrent		
		Т	
7.3	Omtrent hvor lenge varte/ har helseplagene var (den siste, hvis du har opplevd flere)	t?	
			1
	uker eller måneder eller	_	âr
7.4	Hvis du har opplevd slik sorg, var den en følge (den <u>siste</u> , hvis du har opplevd flere) (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	av?	
	Dødsfall av:	JA	NEI
	Foreidre		
	Besteforeldre		
	Søsken		
	Annen nær slektning		
	Venn		
	Andre		
		JA	NEI
	Alvorlig sykdom:		
	Kjærlighetssorg:		
	Annet:		
	Hvis «JA» på annet, spesifiser:		
		.IA	NEI
7.5	Har du fått profesjonell hjelp etter hendelsen? (den siste, hvis du har opplevd flere)		
	Hvis «JA»; Kryss av for hvem som har gitt denne hjelpen: (Sett ett kryss for hver linie)		
	Allmennpraktiker		
	Psykiater		
	Psykolog		
	Lærer		
	Annen rådgiver		
	Prest		
	Sorggruppe		
	Annet		
	Hvis «JA» på annet, spesifiser:		
76	Elle du modicione på appent com og del su beb		IA NEI

U/T8. TANNHELSE

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.1 Dersom du skulle til tannlegen i morgen, hva ville du da føle? (Med tannlege menes også skoletannlege) (Sett kryss ved det allernativet som passer best)	
Jeg ville se frem til det som en ganske hyggelig opplevelse	1
Ville ikke føle noe, det ville være det samme for meg	2
Det ville gjøre meg litt urolig] з
Jeg ville bli redd for at det skulle bli ubehagelig og vondt	4
Jeg ville bli svært redd med tanke på hva tannlegen skulle gjøre	5
Når du venter på tannlegens venteværelse, eller venter på å bli hentet til tannlegen, hvordan føler du deg da? (Sett kryss ved det alternativet som passer best)	
Avslappet	1
Litt urolig	2
Anspent, nervøs	3
Redd, engstelig	4
Så redd at jeg av og til begynner å svette eller nesten føler meg syk	5
Når du sitter i tannlegestolen og venter på at tannlegen skal begynne behandlingen, hvordan føler du deg da? (Sett kryss ved det atternativet som passer best)	
Avslappet	1
Litt urolig	2
Anspent, nervøs	3
Redd, engstelig	4
Så redd at jeg av og til begynner å svette eller nesten føler meg syk	5
Tenk deg at du sitter i tanniegestolen og skal få tennene renset og pusset. Mens du sitter og venter på at tanniegen skal finne instrumentene som brukes til å pusse og skrape med, hvordan føler du deg da? (Sett kryss ved det alternativet som passer best)	
Avslappet	\square_1
Litt urolig	2
Anspent, nervøs	3
Redd, engstelig	4
Så redd at jeg av og til begynner å svette eller nesten føler meg syk	5
Hvor redd er du for å få utført tannbehandlingen, alle forhold tatt i betraktning? (Sett kryss ved det alternativet som passer best)	
Ikke i det hele tatt	1
Litt	2
Noe	3
Mye	4
Veldig mye	5

				Wester	-		
9.1	Når du ei	r passasjer	i bil, bru	ker du bilb	eite		
	når du si	tter? (Sett e	itt kryss f	or hver linje	<i>»)</i>		
		Aldri	Sjelden	Ofte	Alt	id 1	
	Foran:	· .		1]	
	Bak:		2	3	4]	
9.2	Hvis du f har du da (Sett bare	har stått sla a fått kontro e ett kryss)	låm / utfo illert bind	or iløpeta dingene if	v de sis orhold ti	te 12 må Il din vek	neder, t?
	Ja 1			a ski 3		Т	
9.3	Brukte d i løpet av	u legg-/knet de siste 12	eskytter 2 månede	r ved dine er? (Sett et	aktivitet t kryss fo	e r or hver linj	je)
			Aldri	Sjelden	Ofte	Alltid	lkke aktuelt
	Rulleskøy	ter/ rullebre	u 🗌				
	Håndball		🗋				
	Fotball						
	Annen ba	illsport	🗌				
	Slalám/ u	tfor	🗌				
	Snøbrett		🗌				
	Ishockey		🗌				
	Annen ak	tivitet	🗌	2	3	4	5

Hvis "Annen aktivitet" - hvilken:

9.4 Brukte du håndledd-/ albuebeskytter ved dine aktiviteter i løpet av de siste 12 måneder? (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)

	Aldri	Sjelden	Ofte	Alltid	lkke aktuel
Sykkel					
Rulleskøyter/ rullebrett					
Håndball					
Annen ballsport					
Snøbrett					
Ishockey					
Annen aktivitet				<u>.</u>	
	1	2	3	4	5
Hvis "Annen aktivitet" -	hvilker				

9.5 Brukte du hjelm ved dine aktiviteter

i ioper av u	e sisie	12 maneuer	r (Seu e	u kryss ioi	nver mije,	/
						Ikko
		** * *	-	~		

.

11-1-1

	Aldri	Sjelden	one	Allud	actuelt
Syk <mark>k</mark> el	2.5				
Rulleskøyter/ rullebrett					
Slalåm-/ utfor					
Snøbrett					
Ishockey					
Ridning					
Annen aktivitet					
	1	2	3	4	5
Hvis "Annen aktivitet" -	hvilken	:			

U/T10. FYSISK AKTIVITET

10.1 Hvor ofte har du drevet med følgende aktiviteter i løpet av de siste 12 måneder?

Vinter er fra oktober til mars. Sommer er fra april til september. (Sett ett kryss for hver linje)

Т		Aldri	1-5 ganger i sesongen	1-3 ganger i mnd.	1 gang i uka	Flere ganger i uka
Sykling	vinter					
	sommer	·				
Rulleskøyter/ rullebret	t vinter					
	sommer					
Håndball	vinter					
	sommer					
Fotball	vinter					
	sommer					
Annen ballsport	vinter					
	sommer					
Ishockey	vinter					
	sommer					
Ridning	vinter					
	sommer					
Tum	vinter					
	sommer					
Kampsport	vinter					
	sommer					
Friidrett	vinter					
	sommer					
Svømming i basseng	vinter					
	sommer					
Slalåm/ utfor	vinter					
Snøbrett	vinter					
Telemark	vinter					
Langrenn	vinter					
Annen aktivitet	vinter					
	sommer	1	2	3	4	5

Hvis "Annen aktivitet" - hvilken:



IE 03000-1005-1 - 10.000 - Beyer Hecos 12.99

U/T11. FYSISK A 11.1 Hvor ofte har du c de siste 12 måned	<pre><tivitet ar?<="" følgende="" med="" pre="" revet=""></tivitet></pre>	aktivite	iter i løp	pet av		U/T11. FYSISK AKTIVITET (fortsettelse) 114 Har du tidligere detatt en organisert tysisk Ja NEI aktivitet (idrett, dans eler mesjon/leik) som		U/T Helse- undersøkelsen
Vinter er fra oktobe (Sett ett kryss for h	r til mars. Sommer e. rer linje)	fra apr.	i til sept	ember.		T du har sluttet med?		
	Aldri 1 Seso	-5 gerig: ngen 1:	1-3 anger g	1 F ang g	Flere Janger i uka	aktivitet Li <u>opet ar de 5 siste àrene,</u> kan du angi hvor viktig ulike årsaker til å slutte var for deg: S _{vært} Ganske li <u>k</u> ke		Dato for utfylling:
Sykling	vinter	' ,				Vidig Vidig Vidig Vidig Vidig Vidig Compared to the Vidig Vi		Dag Mared Ar
Rulleskøvter/rullebre	sommer 📙 📙					Jet tok tor mye tid	11/T1 DINE STERKE OG SVAKE SIDER	ULT1 DINE STERKE OG SVAKE SIDER (forts.)
	sommer					Lyst til å gjøre andre ting	1.1 Svar på grunnlag av slik du har hatt det de siste 6 månedene.	1.2 Samlet, synes du at du har problemer på ett eller flere av
Hândball	vinter					Krevde for mye spesialisert trening	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Stemmer Stemmer Stemme ikke delvis hett	folgende områder: med følelser, konsentrasjon, oppførsel eller med å komme overens med andre mennesker?
	sommer					Lang releevel	Jeg prøver å være hyggelig mot andre.	Nei Ja, smá Ja, tydelige Ja, akorlige problemer problemer problemer
Fotball	vinter					Det ble for dyrt	Jeg er rastøs. Jeg kan ikke være lenge i ro	⊔ 1 ⊔ 2 ⊔ 3 Hvis du har svart JA, vennligst svar på følgende spørsmål:
Annen ballsport	sommer					11.5 Deltar du i noen organisert fysisk aktivitet nå UA NEI	Jag får ofte hodepine, vendet i menene aller tvralma	Hvor lenge har disse problemene vært tilstede? Mindre enn 1-5. 6-12. Mer enn en månader månader ett år
	sommer					(idrett, dans eller mosjon/leik)? Hvis du svarie NEL på sporsmalet over. Vis hvor enviruentid du er i folgende utsagn:	voluci industri ener real realition	
Ishockey	vinter					NB: Det er viktig at du besvarer alle Heit Delvis Delvis Heit utsagnenel(Sett kryss) enig enig enig uenig	(mat. spill, biyanter osv.)	Not with the set of th
Ridning	vinter					Jeg har ingen å gjøre det sammen med. U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U	et hissig temperament	U i U 2 U 3 U 4 Virker problemene inn på livet ditt på noen av disse områdene?
	sommer	,				Jeg tror ikke det er så viktig for helsa	Jeg er vanigus for meg selv. Jeg gjør som regel ting alene	Ikke i det Bare litt En god Mye hele tatt I 1 1
Turn	vinter					Jug har ikke tid/overskudd til det	Jeg gjør vanligvis det jeg får beskjed om	Hjemme/familien
And and another Al	sommer					Jeg synes det er sitsomt	Jeg bekymrer meg mye	Forhold til venner
varipsport		,				Jeg ser ikke på meg selv som en fysisk aktiv person	Jeg er hjelpsom hvis noen er såret, oppskaket eller føler seg dårlig	Fritidsaktiviteter
Fridrett	vinter					1 2 3 4 11.6 Hvis du driver med fvsisk aktivitet (idrett. dans eller mosion/	Jeg er stadig urolig, det kribler i kroppen	Er problemene en belastning for de rundt deg
	sommer					leik), eller onsker å gjore det, fore du deg da mest velykket når: (Hvis du driver med flere aktiviteter, tenk utfra den aktiviteten	Jeg har en eller flere gode venner	(familie, venner, lærere osv.)? Nekei det Bare litt En god del Mye
Svørming i basser	g vinter					du synes er vikitigst) (Sett at tytys für hver finje) uenig uenig horzetens hono	Jeg slåss mye. Jeg kan presse andre til å gjøre det jeg vil	
Slalåm/utfor	vinter					beg given god innsats	Jeg er ofte lei meg, nedfor eller på gråten	U/T2. MATPAKKE/MATTILBUDET I SKOLEN
Snøbrett	vinter					Jeg er helt overlegen	Jeg blir som regel likt av andre på min alder 📃 🛛	2.1 Hvor ofte spiser du matpakke i skoletiden? Sjelden/ 1-3 ganger ca,1 gang 2-3 ganger 4-5 ganger
Telemark	vinter					Jeg overvinner vanskeligheter	Jeg blir lett forstyrret. Jeg synes det er vanskelig å konsentrere meg	
Annen aktivitet	vinter					1.7.1 fysisk aktivitet (idrett, dans eller mosjon/leik) synes mine	Jeg blir nerves i nye situasjoner. Jeg blir lett usikker	JA NEI 2.2 Har din skole kantinetilbud?
	sommer		•	□ -		Torelore at jeg er mest veliykket nar: (Hvis dine forelore mener forskjellig, jank utfra den du legger moor voeturent in ter at in ter	Jeg er snill mot de som er yngre enn meg	Hor formovic er du med kantinetilbudet ved din skole? Ikke formovic 11tt formovic Ganake formovic Vahlin formovic
Hvis "Annen aktivi.	et" - hvilken:		°	r	0	intest vent per international and and and high mention and and and and and and and and and an	Jeg blir ofte beskyldt for å lyve eller jukse 📃 🛛	
11.2 Deltar du i <u>organis</u>	ert idrettsaktivitet (fotballk	lubb,		I		Andre barn eller unge erter eller plager meg	Hvis «NEl»; Ønsker du å få et kantinetilbud ved din skole?
friidrettsklubb o.l.	Rei, ingen a	Ja, én ktivitet	Ja, én	aktivit.	et et	Jeg trener på det jeg tikke er så filmk til	Jeg tilbyr meg orte å hjøbe andre (breldre, lærere, andre barn/unge)	2.3 Hopetav skoledagen kan du få kjøpt: Stokolada Colaiðinna China Malk allar Frukton
11.3 Hvor fysisk aktiv e	r du sammenlignet	med de	fleste	,]		Jeg prøver ut nye ferdigheter	Jeg tenker meg om for jeg handler (gjør noe)	operation operation yoghurt grannsaker
andre på din alde.	² Like aktiv N	ler aktiv	Mir	Idre ak	ćtiv	and in and in the source of th	Jeg tar ting som ikke er mine, hjemme, på skolen eller andre steder	Juice, Brødskiverr Boller Baguetter, Kaffe, Kakao Tutstatt runstykker kaker piza e.i. te Distriction distriction distriction distriction
Ikke skriv i 10.3	1. 1	0.4				11.8 Hvor mye foler du prestasjonspress fra: 1 itien grad En del I storgrad	Jeg kommer bedre overens med voksne enn de på min egen alder	2.4 Hvor ofte Seden 7.39, carry 2.39, 4.59, Oftere
						Skolen og lærerne	Jeg er redd for mye. Jeg blir lett skremt	
10.5		E	Н			Tener/instruktør i fritidsaktiviteter	Jeg fullforer oppgaver. Jeg er god til å holde på oppmerksomheten	Rush/Battery eller

3

'n	T6. FRITIDEN DIN (fortsettelse)	U/T9. HVEM KAN DU SNAKKE MED
9 0 9 0	Har du disse tibudene i kommunen din: JA NE <u>Organiseri</u> diett som du ønsker å delta r/?	9.1 Hvis du har personige problemer, hven foler du at du kan stakke med om dette? (Sett et Kryss for Inverging) NEI WEE Torenter (Inversion to the Setter Kryss for Inversion to the Setter Kryss for Inversion to the Setter Sett
6.4	Detar to a <u>mono stranististi tritta in a constantisti tritta</u> enn idrett f.akts. kor, orkester, annen forening? Nei, ingen Ja, en aktivitet Ja, fiere enn en aktivitet	UT10. FOREBYGGING AV SKADE
6.5	2 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	Concrete August Au August August Augu
	aktivitet (tra ikke med kranti i lopet zvzda 5 siste årane, kan du angi hvor viktig uitke årseker til å alutte var for deg. Svant Garske ikke Voronse mine aluttet	10.2. Hvis du har stått slakahrutfor i lopet av de siste 12 måneder, har du da fått kontrollert kindingenen i londar gell din vekt? (Sett bare eft Kryss) □ Nei Har kee statt på sis □ 1 □ 2
	Det take in time source	10.3 de siste 32 maiorer 7 (ceñt en frager in marchine) de siste 12 manoder 7 (ceñt en frager in marchine) in kie Ruiskayren/rulebett 1 marchine) kie Handball 1 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine Perball 1 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine Aren balsport 1 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine Statismutor 1 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine Statismutor 1 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 marchine 2 ma
б	Matte pobe mer med skoten	Binocky
2	Det er lett br. ungdom å få tak i sigaretter "	10.4 Bruke du hindledd-fabuebeskytter ved dine aktiviteter i lopet av de siste 12 måneder / Ceart artvyss br./hver/ihjø i kos Sykkei Sykter die aktiviteter i berei aktiviteter i lopet Hanchaeli
	Det er OK for ungdom på min alder å.	T Annen aktivitet
U/ 1.8	ITS. HVA VIL DU GJØRE Hva vil du gjøre hva du oppdager eller har mistanke om at eventværning her at volvige præsolige problemer, spiseforstyrrelær eller misbuker aktorio eller narkotika?	10.5 Brukte du hjelm ved dime aktiviteter i løpet av de siste 12 måneder? (Satt aft kryss for hver løje) Sykkel
	(Sett att kryss for hver linje) JA NEI WE Ta det opp direkte med venner/vernimen	Rulieskoyter/rulebrett
	Ta dei opp med vernensiverninnens foreidre	Hotmg

/T3. MESTRING 1 Hvilke tema er viktig for at du skal mestre livet ditt i framtiden?	U/T5. SKOLESITUASJONEN DIN (fortsettelse) Ná kommer noen sporsnál om motbing.
Kumskap om personlig økonomi og Nege Kumskap om personlig økonomi og witig vilg å kunne planlegge pengebruken	Sporsmålene gjelder hvordan du har hatt det d <u>e siste 3-4</u> <u>matteredtere</u> og ver bren hvordan du har det ukrutar nå. I tillegg spor v ern du hat britti mobbet eller vært med å mobbe andre i <u>fielligere skoladi</u> t.
ag as stooline	For du begymer ski les her hva vi merer med mobing: Vi ser ette nei kon EUR MOBET. Ar en annen ette eiter ein gruppe zu ellever genärtet ganger sier die giv ronde eiler behöglige mit one nei ev son har anskreidigen med ä bossene seg. Om en ellev zier er gast mobing gate mei ei mis er dete ogsta mobing per er ogsta mobing par är en ellev med hensit bit stergut uf fra von neloken, eller andre ellever med hensit bit stergut uf fra von neloken, eller andre ellever
Vertice segrevision environmentation of source of source of source of source of source of the source of the source of source of source variance variance of source of	brieller lopper etter sper el stas virker om han bei hehmen. Men det er IKKE MOBING ant no omtern like sterke (protryndige) deters stass eller krangter. Det er heller IKke mobbing når noen blir ertet på en snil og vernskapelig måte.
aske niformasjon on pris og kvallet hå akter hjornasjon on pris og kvallet hå urne planlegge og gjernomføre trivelige akter hjorne og sjernomføre trivelige (som e forsækk, og være briffig og	5.3 Where offer end fully mobility of selection and adjustment and adjustment of the selection of adjustment adjustment of a selection adjustment of
interstratului	5.4 Hvis du selv har opplevd mobbing, på hvilken nåte har det skjedd? (sørt et kryss for hver finje) Jøg e blitt stratiggjørt, kalt stygge trig eller ertet på en ubehagelig og sterende måte
BEKVMRINGER OG PROBLEMER Har du i lopet av de siste 12 mmd. hat noen av disse problemene? Nei av av frære Svær konnine røler konfikker konnine røler konfikker	Jeg er bitt staft, sparket, totopet, Skubbet eller stengt, inne Ande eller far spædt light inne om meg og poved i til antelke meg
med forektrene dire	 5.5 Hour ofte er du blitt mobbet på skolen på en eller flere av disse måtene (er punkt 5.4). Itidligere skoleår? bigr addri Bare i elligere av disse på solen blitt mobbet skoleår skoleår j 2 3 1 5.6 Huor ofte har du <u>sel</u> vært med på å mobbe en annen
SKOLESTTUASJONEN DIN SKOLESTTUASJONEN DIN Horodan har du det på skolen? Hut Delvs Delvs Hut Set af Kryss Kornver (hje) eng eng undig undig undig	Antime de siste mánedrer y la contraction de la
Jug trives a kickin	5.7 Hoor ofte har du seju vert med på å mobbe en annen elevi iteliterer skolen på en eller flere av disse måtene i tidligere skolen. deg pra eldi mobbe Det har no Det har objekt en en annen elevin de annen elevinerer elever på skolen Det har objekt en elever på skolen
arevice hepetodement and algence and algence and legitimeter demonstration and algorithmeter and algor	U/T6. FRITIDEN DIN Stermer Stermer Stermer Stermer Stermer Stermer 6.1 Jeg har nok à ta meg til fritiden
(concentrational memory) entry and an entry an entry and an entry an	Call and a christ member and a christ medical part of the med
Jeg Tøler meg trygg på skoren	

Appendix IV

Questionnaire:

• Youth 2004

KOSTHOLD OG SLANKING	10.4 Har du noen gang blitt gravid/gjort ei jente gravid? Ja noei Nei noei	Ungdomshelse i Oslo,	2.3 Hvor slitsom er denne idretts-/mosjonsaktiviteten? (Sett bare ett kryss)
Hvor mye drikker du vanligvis av følgende? (1/2 liter = 3 glass) (Sette ett kryss Seeker 1.45 gl. 1.91. 2.3 gl. 4.9, i. mer for hver finje) aktri pr.uke pr.dag pr.dag	Hvis «NEI» hopp til pkt. 11.1 10.6. Hvor resman i verding dette (sist) straddad	Oppland, Hedmark og	Driver ikke Litt Ganske Meget Svært idett/mosjon anstrengende anstrengende anstrengende 1 2 3 3 4 5
Colabrus med sukker	Juga trivitation and the series of the serie	Tromsø by	2.4 Hvor ofte har du drevet med følgende treningsaktiviteter i lopet av de siste 12 mud. i snitt? (Sett ett hys kr hver fanktivitetgruppe)
Vor ofte spiser du vanligvis disse matvarene?	10.6 Bie det utfort abort? Ja Nei Nei Vet ikke		Utholdenhetsidrett <i>(f.eks. jøp.</i> Adri 1 gang pruke pruke pruke svikting, langrenn, svomming).
Settert kryss syndem 1-3g. 1-3g. 1-2g. 3g.et.mer Vor <i>Inver linje</i>) aldri primer pride pridag pridag 	11 BRIK AV MEDISINER		Lag-Aallkiretter († eks. squash hándball, fotball, ishockey)
Fukt, baer	1.1.1 Hvor ofte har du i lopet av de <u>siste 4 ukene</u> brukt 1.6.1 hvor ofte har du i lopet av de <u>siste 3 ukene</u> brukt		Estetisk idrett (f.eks. dams. turn, aerobics)
a yonnearen saar	Med medisiner mener vi her medisiner Napt på apotek. Kostiliskudd og Hveruke. Sjødnere kve brukt Vitaminer reannes ikke med her. men ikke enn hver såle		olyneorden (Leks. Dryting, vektrening)
5)pkolade/smågodt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Smertestillende unter resept		kartie, taekwordo)
Bruker du følgende kosttilikudd? (Seit etit kryss for hver linje) vom vorinsende diskantionske	Allerg-medisin	Date for utfylling: Dag Måned År	Doard, goff, rutherretskoyfer)
rran, trankapsier, riskeoljekapsier	Sovemedish		Annet: Kryss av
Har du noon gang provd å slanke deg? (Sett bare ett kyss) Nei, aktri ⊟1 Ja, tidligere ⊟2 Ja, nå ⊟3 Ja, hele tiden ⊟4	Annen medisin på resept 1 2 3 4 5	1. EGEN HELSE 1.1 Hvordan er helsen din nå? / Sett bare ett kryss) –	Hvis du <u>Itkte</u> driver med idrett/mosjon slik at du blir andpusten eller svett (utenom skoletid), gå direkte til pkt. 2.6
Har du noen gang vært til behandling for spiseforstyrrelser? Nei 🗌 Ja 🗌	11.2 Skriv navnet på medisinene som du har krysset av for ovenfor, og hva grunnen var til at du tok medisinene	Dårlig □1 Ikke helt god □2 God □3 Svært god □4 Ja. Ja.	2.5 Hvor viktig er ulike årsaker til at du trener? (Sett ett kryss for hvert utsagn) Svært Ganske Ikke
Er det viktig for hva slags syn du har på deg selv at du er slank? Ja, svært viktig 🗌 Ja, nokså viktig 🗍 Nei, likke særlig viktig 🗍	(kryss ar for hvor lenge th an trutk medisinen) (kryss ar for hvor lenge th an trutk medisinen) Nam medisionar 16 mm ill hour	1.2 Har du, eller har du hatt? nă lor Nei Astronometricari a la control de la control	Vikig vikig vikig Synes det er gøy
Har det i løpet av de siste 6 mud. hendt at: Du selv syntes at du var for tykk?	(ett nävn pr. linje) av medisinen 1 år elter mer	remande ness, svi i onnens, and svi i onnens) i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	reinen natere
a, en goureaa, m	Dersom det ikke er nok pass her, kan du forbette på aget ark som du lagger ved.	Dysleksi	Det er sunt
Andre sa du var for tymn, mens du selv syntes at du var for tykk? la, ote Neen tá ganger Nei	12.1 Har du i lopet av de <u>siste 12 mnd</u> , selv brukt? (Sett et kryss for hver linje) ingen 13.4 ganger	Hatsbetennelse (minst 3 ganger)	Slanker mega-age and a state synes jeg bør
u foite at du mistet kontrollen mens du spiste og klarte ikke å stoppe for du hadde spist for mye? οι mission	Skolehelsetjenesten	respixes page som ouer askringe jon	2.6 Har du sluttet med noen organisert ^{Ja} Nei idrettsaktivitet etter 10. klasse?
la, minstro panger i uka i i máneden eller aldri dar du gjort noe av folgende for å kontrollere vekten de <u>siste 12 mnd.</u>	Vanitg lege (Altmennpraktiserende lege)	Hode (hodepire, migrene e.l.)	Hvis «JA»: hvor viktig er disse årsaker til at du har sluttet:
(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Minst2 1-4 ganger ganger Sjelden Aldri 	Psykolog eller psykiatar private aller pa balkainkk)	Armer/ben/knær	Venne Anna Venna Ve
deg spaser mindre	Annen spesialist (privat eller på poliklinikk) Legevakt (privat eller offentlig)	Hvis du har svart «NEI» på alle sporsmålene under 1.4: Hopp til pkt. 1.6	Jeg synes ikke jeg var flink nok
Jeg kaster opp	Sytehusinnleggelse	 Har disse smertene fort til at du har vært hjemme ra skolenstudienerjobben i løpet av de siste 12 mnd? (Sett bare ett kryss) 	Likte ikke miljøevtreneren
Vamonvenue multer	Pysioterapeut	Nei □1 12 □2 Ja, 3-5 □3 dager □4 mer em □5	Det by for the revealed advisor adviso
smai 9.9 gjeloter <u>pare jønrene.</u> Gutter, nopp ui pkr. 10.1 Har du i løpet av de to siste årene slanket deg ^{Ja Nei} likke fått til en trent så my est mensen har forsvunnet	13. HUD 13.2 Hvis «JA», når 13.1 Har du den siste uken hatt? 13.2 Hvis «JA», når	1.6 Hva veide du sist du veide deg? Hele kilo	2.7 Driver du eller har du drevet med konkurranseldrett? (Sett bare ett kryss)
	startet hucplagen? Ja, Ja, Ja, Siste Merenn ≾ Nei Ja,litt endel mve 12 mnd. 12 mnd. 3den ≾	1.7 Hvor høy var du sist du målte deg? Hele cm	Ja, nà □ Ja, for □ Nei, aktri □
Har du noen gang hatt samlete Ja, med en partner Ja, med flere partnere Nei	Kviser	2. MOSJON OG FYSISK AKTIVITET	2.8 Har du noen gang prøvd dopingmidler? (Sett bare ett kryss) Nei, □, 2a, en □, Janen □, Janiere □, Janieres □, Anieres bruker, □,
«Nel» papkt. 10.1, hopp til pkt. 11.1 Alder første gang? <i>Jeg var</i> af		2.1 Utenom skoletid (studie, arbeidstid): Hvor ange <u>anger i uka</u> driver du idrettimosjon silk at du blir andpusten eller svett?	auti i gang i kanangan a gangan i a wanangan masag i t
Brukte du/dere prevensjon ved <u>sists</u> samleie? Nei Kondom P-pille/ Nodprevensjon/ Annet Vet ikke	Andre nucpager 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 1 2 3 4 1 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	2.2 Omtrent hvor mange timer pr. uke bruker du på dette? 0 1.2 3.4 5.7 8.10 11	Twindow and the second states of a second state
sprøyte/ring angrepilen	Ansikt Hender/håndledd Andre steder	timer timer timer timer timer eller mer	Innui Tume

Fungering på skole, i jobb	60 0eng Swart Fritidsakt/wheter	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 OPPVEKST OG TILHØRIGHET 1 1	2 1 1 1.1 Jeg trov vår famille, sett i forhold till andre i Norge, har: 2 3 4 7.1 Jeg trov vår famille, sett i forhold till andre i Norge, har: 36mit bare ent kryss) Semmer Dårig dad ⊡ Middels råd ⊡ God råd ⊡ Svært god råd ⊡ Semmer Dårig råd ⊡ Middels råd ⊡ God råd ⊡ Svært god råd ⊡	oevos int 7.2 Er far og/eller mor i arbeid nå? □ 2. 2. A. 2. Arbeidsas Hjerme- Gár på skole/ Dod heitid drygdet værende studerer Dod		2.3 Mine foreletice or: (Set it are at Kross) sambore Upt separate for detegge Annet sambore Upt separate or detegge Annet	14 Horn bor du sammen med na (2eit bare et kryss) 17.4 Horn bor du sammen med na (2eit bare et kryss) 17. (78. Ake med sasken og halvsasken) Mor og Bare Bare Ontinet kon porten avende garp	Foreign and the second	S. ADFERD S. Har du circit eller vært med bå nos av dette de siste 12 mnd.?	Image: Split penger eller More Traje Add Samper Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger eller More Traje Add Samper Split penger 10 programmer Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger 10 programmer Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger 10 programmer Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger eller More Traje Image: Split penger 10 programmer	Image: Control of the second state of kind. Image: Control of the second state of	Sullist i skolej (Job	Bitt investigation of role also dential and also dential interfactor rome pait du la	Barte in regist mon Orises are near eagly forfactre: Alter in register more rear eagly forfactre: Variant in that uses at an user foreiderere visite hvor du var, eiler du at du var et annet sted enn du var iv/deripheten	B2 Royker du, eller har du roykt? (Sett bare ett kryss) Noi, Ja, men pig aldri 1 aldri 1 aldri 1	are 8.3 Bruker du eller har du brukt snus, skrå e.i.? (Sett bare ett Kryss) , oppforsel 8.1 Bruker du eller har du brukt snus, skrå e.i.? (Sett bare ett Kryss) , oppforsel 8.3 Bruker du eller har du brukt snus, skrå e.i.? (Sett bare ett Kryss)	aborlige de Hvis du har svart evBi, ALDRN⊳ på pkt. 8.2 og 8.3: hopp til pkt. 8.5 vansker	8.4 Hvor gammet var du da du begynte å: Rayke? A år Snuse? a år	eff diff - 8.5 Omtrent hour ofte har du i lepet av det siste året drukket alkohol? ************************************	Mye 4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
6. STERKE OG SVAKE SIDER 6.1 Hva slags oppfatning har du av	deg seiv 7 (Soit et kryss for hver inje). Svert En Jeg har en positiv holdning til meg selv □ Lugel bler meg virkelig unt defer □ Deg tøler attige kken har mek å	være stolt av Under av stolt av	Jeg er formøyd med kroppen min	Jeg prøver å være hyggelig mot andre. Jeg bryr meg om hva de føler	Jeg er rastløs. Jeg kan ikke være lenge i ro ∟ Jeg har ofte hodepine, vondt i magen eller kvalme	Jeg deler gjerne med andre (<i>mat, spilt, andre ting</i>)	Jeg er ofte for meg seN. Jeg gjør som regel ting allene	Jeg stiller opp hvis noen er såret, lei seg eller foler seg dårlig	Jeg slass mye. Jeg van få andre til å gjøre det jeg vil	Jeg blir som regel likt av andre på min alder	valskeng a konserinere meg	Jeg bir ofte beskyldt for å hyre eller jukse Andre unge plager eller mobber meg	Jeg tibyr meg ofte å hjelpe andre (foreidre, lærere, barn, andre unge) Jeg tenker meg om før jeg handler (nier noe)	Jeg ar ing som ikke er mine hjernme, Jeg kolen eller andre stader	Jeg ar redd for mye, jeg bir lett skremt	6.3 Samlet, synes du at du har vansker på en eller fle av følgende områder: med følelser, konsentrasjon eller med å komme overens med andre mennesk	Nei 🗌 1 Ja, små 🔲 2 Ja, betydelige 🗍 3 Ja	Hvis du har svart «NEI», gå direkte til pkt. 7.1 6.4 Hvor lenge har disse vanskene vært tilstede?	en more and ⊔i mander ∐2 mäneder ∐3 6.5 Forstyrrer eller plager vanskene deg?	Ikkel / det 1 Bare 2 En god 3 hele tatt 1 litt 2 del 4 6.6 Virker vanskene inn på livet ditt på ikke i det Bar	Hill Het alad Considence and the second
Nei, aktri Ja, ná Ja, for sreste?	III pkt. 4.1 en? Heit Dewis Dewis Heit enig enig uenig 	fre i klassen	Pene	1 2 3 4 ANNINGSPLANER	ler jobber du? (Sett bare ett kryss) -, økonadm.fag/ldrettsfag/	med allmenn påbyggingskurs	1869)	ng du har tenkt å ta?	nning av høyere grad t, sivilingeniør, løge)	Ner, mg en user and the second s	4 0 0	ت	har eller har ett bare ett knyss) ⊃ _ia_torte [] a _ Noi [] a _ ⊥	Contract of the contract	Sett bare etf. Kryss) Mindre godt 🗌 3 Dårlig 🗌 4	i lese underteksten på utenlandske	2 Sjelden 🔲 3 Aldri 🔲 4	ssjoner fordi du tt nok? (Sett bare ett kryss) 1 2 Sjelden 🔤 3 Aldri 📃 4	rtte om på bokstaver eller ord rt kryss)	2 Sjelden ∐ 3 Aldri ∐ 4 1 nskeligere Ja Nei	

ભં	PÅKJENNINGER, MESTRING O	G SC	SIAL	, STØ	TTE	90		a, for
3.1	Under finner du en liste over ulike plag	er. Har	do np	plevd		3.0	Har du, eiler har du haut Kjæreste?	
	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje)	Ikke	. Ħ	anske	Veldig	Hvis	du <u>ikke</u> går på skole, hopp til pkt. 4.1 Uvorden bar du det på ekolon3	
	Distortion for det retions consistent			ŝ.□	ŝ⊏		(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) enig enig enig	uenig
	Edor don modd allor onnefallo						Jeg trives i klassen	
	Matthet eller svimmelhet						Jeg har mye til felles med andre i klassen	
	Føler deg anspent eller oppjaget							
	Lett for å klandre deg selv						Lærerne hielber med med fagene	
	Søvn problemer						når jeg trenger det 🛴 🗌 📙	
	Nedtrykt, tungsindig (trist)						Lærerne hjelper meg med personlige	
	Følelse av å være unyttig, lite verd						- [4
	Følelse av at alt er et slit					4	UTDANNING OG UTDANNINGSPLANER	
	Folder av hapioshet mint hermuden					ţ	Chr dii nà cloichtean allar iabhail dia 100 ann an 100 ann	
	Tanker om å gjøre slutt på livet ditt.					ł	Vide regáende skole: allmenne-, økonadm. fag/idrettsfag/	[
	3	-	0	6	4		musikk, dans og drama	Ē
3.2	Under tinner du noen pastander. (Sett ett krvss for hver linie)	Helt	Nokså	Nokså	Helt		Videregaende skole: yrkesiag med allmenn papyggingskuls Vidererående skole: vrbesfer	
	Jea klarer alltid å løse vanskelige	galt	galt	riktig	riktig		Havskola/universitet	ĴĊ
	problemer hvis jeg prøver hardt nok						Folkehøvskole	
	Hvis noen motarbeider meg, så kan ien finne måter og veier for å						Jobber (som hovedbeskjeftigelse)	۳
	få det som jeg vil						Arbeidsledig	
	Hvis jeg har et problem og står helt fast,						Annet: skriv her:	ũ
	sa nnner jeg vanigvis en vei ut							
	deg ister med urygy parat per vine kunne takte uventede hendelser på en					4.2	Hva er den <u>høyeste utdanning</u> du har tenkt å ta?	
	eftektiv måte						(Sett bare ett kryss)	
	Jeg beholder roen när jeg møter vanskelinheter fordi ien stoler nå mine						Universitet eller rikyskoleuluarining av <u>rikyere grad</u> (F.eks. master, lektor, advokat, sivilingeniør, lege)	
	evner til å mestre/få til ting						Universitet eller høyskoleutdanning av lavere grad (F.eks.	
		-	01	3	4		bachelor, lærer, politi, sykepleier, ingeniør, journalist)	
3.3	Har du <u>etter 10. klasse</u> opplevd noe av følgende?			Hvis	, "AL"		Videregående skole: allmenne-, økonadm. fag/idrettsfag/ misikk dans og drama	
	Eoraldra (forecatt) har hlitt a thaidelace	Nei	Ja	siste 12	5 mnd?		Videre ráende skole: vrkestad) [
	Foreidre (Toresau) har bill arbeidsløse eller uføretrygdet				_		Amoti of the part of the state	
	Alvorlig sykdom eller skade hos deg selv				_		Har ikke bestemt med	
	Alvorlig sykdom eller skade hos noen				_]
	Dødsfall hos noen som sto deg nær					ŝ	ESING OG SKRIVING	
	Vært utsatt for seksuelle overgrep				_			
	Selv blitt mobbet					5.1	Har tagpersonell sagt at du har eller har hatt lese-/skrivevansker? (Sett bare ett kryss)	
	Opplevd vold i hjemmet						Ja, store 🔲 1 Ja, middels 🗌 2 Ja, lette 🗍 3 Nei 🗍 4	-
	Selv vært utsatt for vold fra voksne Selv vært utsatt for vold fra voksne					50	Hvor nod er du til å lese nå? <i>(Sett hare ett krys</i> s)	
	Mêv dir tember nê familie en reman	l	l	I	1	5	Veldia aod 1 God 2 Mindre aod 3 Dárlia .	
t.	var du terriver pa ramme og venner, vil du si at:	Helt	Delvis	Delvis	Helt			
	(Sett ett kryss for hver linje) Jeg føler meg knyttet til familien min	Ê 🗆	őig 🗆	Biung □	nin 🗆	5.3	Hvor godt liker du å lese? (<i>Sett bare ett kryss</i>)	
	Familien legger vekt på mine meninger						Veiolg goot 📑 Goot 🗁 Mindre goot 📑 Uarriig 🗆 4	
	Jeg betyr mye for familien min					5.4	Synes du det er vanskelig å lese underteksten på utenland	ske
	jeg trenger hjelp						mumer≮(Sekt bare ent kryss) Ja.ofte []1 Ja.av oo til [2 Skelden []3 Aldri []4	
	Jeg føler meg nært knyttet til vennene mine.							
	Vennene mine legger vekt					5.5	Har du opplevd pinlige situasjoner fordi du ikke har lest riktig eller raskt nok? (<i>Sett bare ett k</i> ryss)	
	pa mine meninger						Ja, offe 🔲 1 Ja, av og til 🔲 2 Sjelden 🗍 3 Aldri 🗍 4	
	vennene mine Jea kan reane med vennene mine] [9	ttar di nationa da far à butta an nà habatana allar ard	
	når jeg trenger hjelp	-	0	- m	4	0.0	Har du vaningvis leu for a pytre om pa bokstaver eller ord når du skriver? (Sett bare ett kryss)	
3.5	Har du <u>etter 10. klasse</u> opplevd noe av	Nei	, al o	≅≣	Ja, ofte		Ja, ofte 🔲 1 Ja, av og til 🔲 2 Sjelden 🗍 3 Aldri 🗍 4	
	Stort arbeidspress på skolen					5.7	Synes du rettskrivning er vanskeligere Ja Nei enn andre ting på skolen?	
	Stort press fra andre for å lykkes/ gjøre det bra på skolen							
	Store vansker med å forstå læreren når hun/han underviser					5.8	Hvilken karakter fikk du sist i norsk skriftlig? (termin-/standpunktkarakter)	